

THE WORLD WAR

BY MEMBERS OF

THE AMERICAN ACADEMY
OF ARTS AND LETTERS



Class 11509

Book _____

PRESENTED BY CUT





THE WORLD WAR

UTTERANCES CONCERNING ITS ISSUES AND CONDUCT
BY MEMBERS OF

THE AMERICAN ACADEMY OF ARTS AND LETTERS

PRINTED FOR ITS ARCHIVES AND FOR FREE CIRCULATION

Published by the Academy
347 Madison Avenue, New York
1919

Copyright, 1919, by The American Academy of Arts and Letters

Gift Institution

CONTENTS

	IAGL
HENRY MILLS ALDEN	5
The Background of the Catastrophe Paul W. Bartlett	
Greetings to France	9
JOHN BURROUGHS	10
Can Peace Make Us Forget? A Plea for the Ostracism of All Things German	
Nicholas Murray Butler	12
GEORGE W. CABLE	15
The Tocsin	-)
George Whitefield Chadwick	15
The War of the Musician	
WILLIAM GILLETTE	16
America's Great Opportunity ROBERT GRANT	
A Hymn	. 17
Arthur T. Hadley	. 18
A Conflict of Ideals	
Thomas Hastings	. 19
The Glory that was Rheims	
WILLIAM DEAN HOWELLS	20
The Incredible Cruelty of the Teutons	
ROBERT UNDERWOOD JOHNSON	. 22
Edith Cavell	
The Sword of Lafayette	
HENRY CABOT LODGE	. 25
Speech in the United States Senate on the Declaration of War	
A. Lawrence Lowell	28
What Are We Fighting For?	
HAMILTON WRIGHT MABIE	31
Frederick MacMonnies	2.0
The World Crisis	32
Brander Matthews	33
Benefits of the War	
Horatio Parker	40
A Note on German Music and German Ideas	
James Ford Rhodes	41
Germany's Shame Theodore Roosevelt	42
Extracts from the Speech at Portland, Maine	42
His Last Public Message	
ELIHU ROOT	45
I. Issues of the War	
II. Our Interest in the Violation of Belgium	
WILLIAM M. SLOANE	. 52
I. Extracts from a History of Peace II. Extracts from a History of Democracy	
WILLIAM ROSCOE THAYER	57
The Shipwreck of Kultur	71

CONTENTS

	PAG
Abbott H. Thayer	
Henry van Dyke	. 6
The Crime of the "Lusitania"	
Mare Liberum	
The Name of France	
Barrett Wendell	. 6
A Conflict of Ideals	
Brand Whitlock	. 7
Lafayette, Apostle of Liberty	
Woodrow Wilson	. 7
On the Threshold of War	
Our Purpose in the War	
The Program of the World's Peace	
After a Year of War	
Speech at Mount Vernon	
Owen Wister	. 80
From "The Pentecost of Calamity"	
George Edward Woodberry	. 8
Edith Cavell	
A Song of Sunrise	
On the Italian Front	
 John Hay	. 8
When the Boys Come Home	
JULIA WARD HOWE	. 00
Battle Hymn of the Republic	. 90

THE WORLD WAR

UTTERANCES CONCERNING ITS ISSUES
AND CONDUCT BY MEMBERS OF

THE AMERICAN ACADEMY OF ARTS AND LETTERS

HENRY MILLS ALDEN

THE BACKGROUND OF THE CATASTROPHE

In the Editor's Study, Harper's Magazine, February, 1918

It may seem to some readers of the Study that we entertain too exalted expectations of the war and what is to come from it. The terms we have used in our expression of these have, perhaps, suggested to many a premature anticipation of the millennium as the inevitable epilogue of what is so conspicuously an Armageddon.

Frankly, we indulge in no such exaggerated optimism. When we use the phrase, "the salvation of all men, including our enemies," we have not meant to ignore its spiritual significance, believing, as we firmly do, that there is no real advance of humanity which does not include the whole man. But also we have not meant to identify salvation with sanctity, but rather with sanity both of vision and action. Nor do we look for the complete renovation of our human nature or even for the complete political emancipation of all the peoples of the earth as the immediate result of the present world conflict.

The great hope we entertain for humanity, fortunately, does not rest upon any brilliant and overwhelmingly decisive particular event, anticipated or unexpected, in the near future. Man, as mentally constituted and developed, is by necessity a planner; but the success of his most deeply laid plans is very far from being the realization of an evolutional purpose, while, on the other hand a fortuitous happening that seems most auspicious may prove his ruin—or, one

of foreboding aspect may veil a happy issue. Visible actualities—events or careers—await their interpretation through what comes after them. So dramatic a career as Napoleon's does not, within the compass of the spectacle, explain itself—its significance for the world is shown by the Europe he left behind him, become what it was by reaction to his ambitious adventure.

Only hidden spiritual characteristics have the power to show forth for what they really are, baleful or glorious, immediately and forever transparent and, so, indelibly fixed in human remembrance. As acts unworthy of humanity are never forgotten, so sublime sacrifice and heroic endurance for the right against the might that slays the body, but cannot slay the soul, are immortal. It is these things, not accidental or relative, but of our eternity, that count in the grand cycle of history and are glorified by the creative imagination. No terms can be too exalted for the expression of these or of the hope that rests upon them.

If the children of the world are wiser in their kind than the children of light, it is because they seize upon every visible means and let no opportunity escape them for the accomplishment of their worldly ends. They need no inspiration from a higher motive; the greed for material success is ever present, prompting to the most efficient methods which human progress in science and education

has made possible. The humanist, with all his larger vision and finer sensibility, and even the most eager reformer or humanitarian, is not often, or generally, thus zestful in practical activity. Thus those whose aims are mainly external gain headway and set their seal upon public enterprise and opinion.

L. P. Hobhouse, in "Democracy and Reaction"—published a decade before the opening of this war—shows how during the last third of the nineteenth century England and those other nations of Europe, which, in the earlier part of the century, had cherished the love of liberty and great projects of political and humanitarian reform, were swept by a wave of reaction that, indeed, "spread over the civilized world and invaded one department after another of thought and action." The externalization of life, based on material aims, on the new theory of evolution, as initiated by Darwin and interpreted by Herbert Spencer, and on a perverted idealism, nationally took the form of extended dominion. The plea in defense of British imperial expansion and covering the appearance of self-aggrandizement was that this acquisition of territory—amounting, since 1870, to "onethird of the present territory of the empire and one-quarter of its population" —was for the sake of civilization.

This plea was plausible on the consideration that "it was the older liberalism which made the colonial empire what it was, and it was to that empire as liberalism had made it that imperialist sentiment in the first instance appealed." Mr. Hobhouse, however, justly deprecates this recrudescence of imperial aspiration, involving, as it did, all the great powers of Europe in a reckless competition for the exploitation of the weaker as well as of backward peoples, constant warfare, and vast expenditures for the increase of armies and navies. Secret diplomacy and secret treaties throve upon intense envies and rivalries.

The United States of America was saved from this species of international madness by the fact that she had land enough

—an empire in extent, which, true to her traditions, she was proud of as a free republic and as still the asylum for the oppressed of all nations. The war with Spain was fresh in her memory, fought not for aggression but for the emancipation of a neighboring island, which, tempting as it would have been for exploitation by any European power, she left inviolate in the full possession of independence. The successful issue of the war for the Union had, by the extinction of slavery, suppressed the chief motive for the acquisition by war of new territory. Peacefully, or incidentally to a just war, the Hawaiian and Philippine Islands became territories of the United States late in the century and were held, as her share in Samoa was, for naval reasons chiefly-bulwarks against foreign aggression, and, at the same time, points of vulnerability.

The extraordinary momentum of material progress in the nineteenth century had its effect upon all classes of citizens in the American republic as in the rest of the civilized world. It was shown in the excess of plutocratic greed, the aspects of which were far more demoralizing than those of the aristocratic pride of power and hereditary privilege that wealth had displaced. This invited the revolt of the laboring class through the labor unions, which, unhappily though legitimately, had only material advantage in view. Self-seeking politicians sought allegiance with whichever class was the more dominant, and especially with labor, as yielding more votes. Partisanship, demagogy, and the more sordid forms of socialism advanced hand in hand.

We think that, in dealing with democratic countries, like England, Mr. Hobhouse lays undue stress upon a materialistic philosophy as responsible for materialistic greed as well as for the growth of imperialistic sentiment. Human nature is capable of enough perversion to be a quite sufficient basis and needs no support from philosophy. Certainly this is true of the materialistic reaction in

America, where it was not associated with any imperialist tendency, not even at the close of the century, when, as events proved, the general progress of world economies, political and social as well as mechanical, had put an end to the boasted isolation and immunity of the western hemisphere.

We also believe that, in the natural course of peaceful and unrestricted development, among the liberty-loving peoples of Europe as well as of America a spiritual culture would have inevitably supervened upon material and scientific progress, making use of this for the full realization of democracy, the establishment of social justice, and the universal expansion of human sympathy. Self-hood in its eager possession and assimilation of the material justifies itself as normal only as it becomes altruism.

The twentieth century dawned upon a Christendom the peoples of which, in the vital currents of their lives, in so far as life was permitted spontaneous development, were not hardened by materialism, but were more open than ever before to the tides of human sympathy. The humanist movement was gaining fresh momentum, and the most zealous devotees of science had disinterested aims. It was in the more mechanical and superficial movements of industrial and political, and so-called society life. that reactionary perversity chiefly persisted—that is, in the channels most detached from the vital sources of the popular life. Even here the atmosphere of freedom and peace would have kept alive reformatory forces, of which already there were visible signs, as in the relations between classes, the growth of coöperation in industrial activities, and the increase of publicity in all political affairs—until one reached the border of a nation, when the brightness of the outlook vanished.

Especially in Europe the international prospect was full of sinister foreboding. Everywhere national patriotism was a self-centered sentiment, as naturally it had always been, but not always facing

so peculiar a complication of conflicting interests. Instead of the hopeful opportunity offered to a league of European powers for fruitful coöperation in the interests of civilization, we behold, early in the century, two powerful but most incongruous alliances, bound to come into collision for each other's political and economic destruction, whatever the consequences to the world, including their own peoples. Only some miraculous spiritual or social world revolution could, by anticipation, avert the impending storm.

Some future philosophical historian will trace, in the course of civilization itself, the actions and reactions which for centuries had been constituting the background for the catastrophe. His readers will doubtless see so clearly the inevitableness of issues arising from perverse human systems that they will not concern themselves with any attempt to distribute responsibility among actors so arbitrary and irresponsible as those to whom the government of states has usually been committed. Moreover, in that long view which history gives, the evolutionary course of human destiny so contradicts casual appearances that one is convinced of "the goodness in things evil."

The evolutionary interpreter of history is, by conviction, an optimist, though he indulges in no millennial forecasts nor expects in any generation, this or another, the complete regeneration of human society. He hopefully regards the recrudescence with every new generation of our so perverse human nature, knowing that it is never a repetition but always a renewal, and confident that, even if it happens here and there to exaggerate perversity, "things at their worst climb upward" or are helped to by the main currents of human movement. In his vision ruin, vast as it may be, is invisibly the beginning of a new order of architecture.

This most ruinous of all wars was precipitated by the exaggerated perversity of an absolutism that, schooled in practical efficiency and in that philosophy of the state which Hegel speculatively dreamed and Bismarck realized, after half a century of elaborate preparation, under cover of a peace it boasted to have maintained, saw what in its blind madness seemed its supreme opportunity for world conquest. Instead, as the war went on, it promised to be the world's opportunity for the establishment of human liberty on a firmer basis, in states devoted to the realization of true democracy—the reverse of Hegel's dream.

The magnitude of the menace to the world's liberties from an absolutism based upon armed might had so fully illustrated itself as not merely aggressive, but basely fraudulent and intriguant in all its procedure, before America entered the war, that

it brought into bright relief the contrasting possibilities of freedom and peace for all. The only war aim the western republic could have was the destruction of Prussian militarism—but that involved everything: a guaranteed permanent peace, the determination by every people of its own form of government, and such a reconciliation as would insure a cooperative reconstruction of Europe. The menace overcome, the result, as by an automatic imperative, would be, if not the immediate accomplishment of the world's desire, at least the opening of a highway to that realization. All incidental questions, like those as to territorial adjustment and national disarmament, will find their solution by the same automatic imperative.

PAUL W. BARTLETT

GREETINGS TO FRANCE

Early in September, 1914, Mr. Bartlett addressed to the Institut de France the following cablegram:

'Indignation contre les actes allemands augmente journellement. Opinion devient unanime pour la cause française. Vive la France!'

On the 28th of October he wrote the following letter to Monsieur José Belon, who had acknowledged receipt of the cablegram:

Washington, le 28 octobre 1914.

Je vous remercie, mon cher ami, de vos bonnes paroles concernant mon télégramme à l'Institut de France. Vos commentaires sont exacts. Non seulement, en effet, la sympathie de l'élite intellectuelle du pays est pour la France, mais vous pouvez être assuré que votre nation possède aussi celle du peuple américain; j'ajouterai même que cette sympathie, dans les milieux populaires, s'est encore développée depuis quelque temps, et cela malgré les tentatives de propagande en faveur des Allemands, lesquels disposent, vous le savez, aux Etats-Unis, de moyens d'action nombreux, puisque la quantité d'immigrés Teutons est considérable.

Toutefois leurs efforts restent vains et l'opinion générale se range de plus en plus du côté du droit et de la vérité. L'on commence à comprendre ici que les nationalités libérales vivent un des moments les plus grandioses de l'Histoire, luttent pour un idéal de liberté, et que si vos adversaires triomphaient, c'en serait fait de la justice et du droit des gens. La Révolution américaine, la Révolution française et la "Magna Charta" anglaise auraient été des efforts en pure perte.

Vous pouvez être certain aussi que cette sollicitude américaine n'est pas simplement passive. On travaille de tous côtés à vous aider. Nul n'ignore, en effet, que la philanthropie, même chez les neutres, a le droit de s'exercer. Tout le monde sait également que la guerre sera longue: aussi je vous envoie une circulaire qui vous donnera une idée de ce que les artistes américains veulent et pensent faire. Nous avons préparé un programme de travail productif pour une année d'avance.

Bien cordialement à vous.

On receipt of the news of the signing of the armistice, Mr. Bartlett sent the following cablegram:

Widor, Institut de France,
Paris.

Le cri de Vive la France est aujourd'hui un cri de Victoire. La France va revivre ainsi que le monde civilisé et civilisable. Vive la France!

JOHN BURROUGHS

CAN PEACE MAKE US FORGET? A PLEA FOR THE OSTRACISM OF ALL THINGS GERMAN

If this war was largely caused by commercial and economic pressure and rivalry as so many persons think it was, are the pressure and rivalry to continue after the war is over? Will it not be hard for us to resume our old economic and social and business relations with the arch enemy of mankind as if nothing had happened, swap goods and exchange professors, condone Germany's sins, and help refill her coffers? Shall we at once get busy in trying to reimburse her for the losses she has sustained in running amuck upon the civilization of the world, help build up her commerce for her desperate efforts to destroy our own? Can we forgive and forget and aid her in restoring her shipping, and enable her to get ready for the "next war," about which she has talked so much, and reward her for having paved the bottom of the seas with thousands of the ships and cargoes and thousands of the bodies of innocent non-combatants of the neutral and Allied nations, for her sending women and children and unarmed sailors to the bottom, or abandoning them in open boats in the midst of the stormy seas at all seasons?

When one has run over in his mind the things Germany has been guilty of—the long list of her unspeakable atrocities and robberies, the deportation of non-combatants, the wanton destruction of property in Belgium and Northern France, the demolition of centuries-old architecture and art treasures, the judicial murder of Captain Fryatt, the shooting of Edith Cavell, the bombarding of defenceless towns, the bombing of hospitals and the torpedoing of hospital ships, the fiendish drowning of the crew of the Belgian *Prince*, her sinkings, her ravishings, her burnings, her stealings, her lying, her studied cruelties, her campaign of frightfulness—when one remembers all these things and more, does he feel like saying,

"Never mind; let it all pass; business is business, and it will all be the same in a hundred years"?

For my own part I will never again use an article made in modern Germany if I know it. I will never look into a modern German book. I will favor the exclusion of the German language and literature from our schools and colleges. I would drive every unnaturalized German from this country.

We do not want their ideas or their methods. Their ideas are subversive of our democratic ideals, and their methods enslave the mind and lead to efficiency chiefly in the field of organized robbery. They are efficient as Krupp guns and asphyxiating gas and liquid fire are efficient. They invent nothing, but they add a Satanic touch to the inventions of others and turn them to infernal uses. They are without sentiment or imagination. They have broken completely with the old Germany of Goethe, of Kant and Lessing, to whom we all owe a debt. They are learned in the roots of things, but their learning is dusty and musty underground conditions. know the "Tree of Knowledge" at the bottom, but not at the top in the air and sun, where are its leaves and flowers and They run to erudition, but not to inspiration. They are a heavy, mate-, rialistic, grasping race, forceful but not creative, military but not humanistic, aggressive but not heroic, religious but not spiritual; brave it may be, but not chivalrous, utterly selfish, thoroughly scientific and efficient on a low plane, as organized force is always efficient. Kant was a great philosopher, but he had a Scottish mother. None of the great musicians were Prussians. Luther threw his ink bottle at the devil, but the devil got even with him and made the Christian outlook blacker than it was before.

From current reports which, knowing

the Germans, one readily credits, they are at this moment taking means to increase their birth rate by methods identical with those of stock men and dog breeders. That the German women do not defend themselves with liquid fire and asphyxiating gas shows that their morals are as low as those of the men, and that they are the victims of the same civic slavery.

The Germans have not fought this war like brave, chivalrous men; they have fought it like sneaks and cutthroats; they have respected nothing human or divine. So far as they could make it so it has been an orgy of lust and destructiveness. When their armies are forced to retreat, so far as they can do it, they destroy the very earth behind them. They have done their utmost to make the reconquered territory of Northern France uninhabitable for generations. If they could poison all the water, all the air, all the food of their enemies, is there any doubt that they would quickly do so? If they could have scuttled or torpedoed the British Isles and sunk them like a ship, would they not have done it long ago? Of course they would have wanted to plunder the treasures and violate the women before doing so, and then the Kaiser, piously lifting his eyes before his people, would have again thanked God for His "faithful coöperation," and again would have prated how he would continue to carry on the war with "humility and chivalry"!

A few evenings ago I sat down before my open fire in hopes for an hour or two to throw off the nightmare of the war and forget the Germans. I took up Dorothy Wordsworth's Journal. And this is what I struck in the account of the days she spent at Hamburg, in September, 1708:

"Called at a baker's shop. Put two shillings into the baker's hands, for which I was to have had four small rolls. He gave me two. I let him understand that I was to have four, and with this view I took one shilling from him, pointing to it and to two loaves, and at the same time offering it to him. Again I took up two

others. In a savage manner he half knocked the rolls out of my hand, and when I asked him for the other shilling he refused to return it, and would neither suffer me to take bread nor give me back my money, and on these terms I quitted the shop. I am informed that it is the boast and glory of these people to cheat strangers, that when a feat of this kind is successfully performed the man goes from the shop into his house, and triumphantly relates it to his wife and family. The Hamburger shopkeepers have three sorts of weights, and a great part of their skill as shopkeepers consists in calculating upon the knowledge of the buyer, and suiting him with scales accordingly.'

Here, more than a hundred years ago, we see the same grasping, insolent, unscrupulous bully that we know today.

The indictment of the wretches could be made much stronger and longer. But enough. Individually they are below the Turks; collectively they are on a par with their ancestral Huns. "Blood will tell." It is time they were barred out of the family of decent, self-respecting nations; at least that the doors were closed against them for two generations. We have got along three years and more without their goods or their markets, why can we not continue to go on without them? We are an inventive people; they are not. We shall soon find ways to supply ourselves with all needful things that have heretofore come from that country. Under pressure we shall improve on them all. One of our greatest practical chemists says he has found a way to extract potash from the feldspar of granite rocks on a scale and at a cost easily to compete with German konite. Let the government see to it that it is done. If we cannot yet make chemicals and dyestuffs to compete with the Germans, let us go in sackcloth and ashes until we can.

At any rate, let us not fraternize with nations who, in character and conduct, are on a par with those desperadoes of whom in civic life we rid ourselves by the aid of the sheriff and the hangman.

NICHOLAS MURRAY BUTLER

THE ROAD TO DURABLE PEACE

An Address Delivered before the Chamber of Commerce, St. Louis, Missouri, February 1, 1918

The war which now involves the whole world is on the part of the Allies avowedly a war not for conquest, for revenge, or for economic advantage, but a war to restore the rule of law and to establish durable peace. No other war has ever been fought for a like motive. This explains the fact that it has been entered upon by the several allied peoples not with shouting, with excitement, or with wild demonstration, but with restraint, with firm conviction, and with stern resolve. The aim of the war is to stop war so far as this is humanly possible.

If in the past, war has seemed to be a biological necessity, an essential part of the struggle for existence, it is only because the world had not risen to the plane of substituting moral coöperation for physical competition. A materialistic world, bent only on profits and on accumulation, is likely always to be a world that plans and invites war. On the other hand, a world that is built on a foundation of moral and spiritual insight and conviction, will be a world from which war is excluded by every means that man can devise.

In order to tread the road to a durable peace, we must grasp not only the exact facts as they relate to the origin and prosecution of the war on the part of the Central Empires, but also the underlying causes which conspired to bring the war about.

To say that the war sprang from the desire of Austria-Hungary to oppress Serbia, or from the conflicting ambitions of Russia and Germany in Southeastern Europe, or from commercial rivalry between Germany and Great Britain, is simply to delude oneself with superficial appearances. It is a case of camouflage.

The cause of the war and the reason that the war was inevitable (as we can now see) is a conflict of ideals in the life of the world. It is clear now that the old notion of a world-dominating power was not dead. This was the notion which sent Alexander the Great and his army into Asia. This was the notion which built up the legions and inspired the policy of ancient Rome. This was the notion which took possession of the mind of Charlemagne. This was the notion which harnessed to its service the dynamic energy and the military genius of Napoleon Bonaparte. This notion was not. as men generally thought in 1914, dead and gone and a matter for the historian alone. It was first slumbering and then taking active form in the minds of the ruling caste of the German Empire. With them it was based upon a philosophy of history and of life which made the German people, like the Hebrews of old, the chosen partners of God himself in the subjection and civilization of the world.

When this notion took possession of so powerful, so active-minded, and so highly disciplined a people as the Germans, it became only a question of time when it must find itself in a life-and-death struggle with the opposing principle. This is the dominating fact which stands out above and beyond all particular explanations of the origin of the war. The war is at bottom a final struggle between the principle of world-domination and the principle of a group of friendly, coöperating nations, all equal in sovereignty and in dignity in the eye of the world's law, however varied they may be in resources and in power.

That with which we are at war, there-

fore, is not a people or a race, but an idea. We should have had to be at war with that idea no matter what people or what race had acted as its agents. If this idea of world-domination had been adopted by Italy, and if Italy had attacked the world in its interest, we should be at war with Italy. If this idea of world-domination had been adopted by Japan, and if Japan had attacked the world in its interest, we should be at war with Japan. If this idea of world-domination had been adopted by Russia, and if Russia had attacked the world in its interest, we should be at war with Russia. But as a matter of fact this idea was adopted by Germany, and it was Germany which attacked the world in its interest: therefore we are at war with Germany.

The road to durable peace begins at the point where this false notion of world-domination is given up once for all. Commercial interpenetration, financial control, and military dominance are the three forms in which the lust for world-power manifests itself. A free world made up of independent, liberty-loving nations must combine to prevent any one of these. The liberty-loving nations have almost with unanimity now combined in this war for that very purpose.

A false idea is not really conquered until it is overthrown in the minds of those who have entertained it. What we must reach, therefore, is the mind, the conscience, and the heart of the German people. We must by military defeat compel them to leave off looking for new worlds to conquer, and turn their thought inward to prepare the way for those same ideas of cooperation between nations, of the sacredness of treaty obligations, of the rights of small nations, and of the duties of great powers toward submerged nationalities, which are now part of the mental furniture of liberal-minded men and women throughout the world. If in 1848 the aspirations of so large a portion of the German people had not been disappointed and crushed, the history of the past fifty years might have been written

in letters of gold instead of in letters of so much blood.

It has been plain, since the battle of the Marne, that Germany and her allies could not win this war. The history of the conflict from September 6, 1914, has been one of varying fortunes, but, viewed in the largest possible way, it is a history of slow but sure German defeat. The amazing exhibition of military power made by France and by the citizensoldiers of Great Britain has been adequate to hold in check the enormous and highly trained armies of the Central Empires. Distress, unhappiness, grave doubt as to the outcome and issues of the war are now widespread in Germany and in Austria-Hungary. All these facts contribute to the breaking down of the zeal for world-domination and increase the chance of a durable peace to follow the war.

The terms of that peace have been stated at intervals for three and one-half years past by some of the leading responsible statesmen of the world. The early declarations of Mr. Asquith and of M. Briand could hardly be improved. The later ones of the Prime Minister of England and of the President of the United States have awakened resounding echoes throughout the world and have been listened to even by the peoples with whom we are at war. It is quite idle, however, to talk of a negotiated peace if by that we mean a peace that shall leave the vital issues of the war unsettled. The result would be not a peace but an armistice. This would last until our children. or our children's children, armed to the teeth and bearing meanwhile the crushing burden of huge military establishments, took up again the task that we laid down without having carried it to accomplishment. That would not be a fortunate or an honorable legacy for this generation to leave to its successors. We must persist with steadfastness and with all possible speed until the war is definitively won, and until our enemies admit that they have lost in the combat which they forced upon the world.

When that end has been accomplished, the world will have traveled a long way on the road toward a durable peace. While it is true that the coming international organization and the coming international economic relationships will powerfully aid in establishing and in maintaining peace, yet after all, the main thing is to remove from the world a notion and a purpose that compel armaments and that eventually force war. That notion and that purpose are those of world-domination. The cry, Weltmacht oder Niedergang, comes from a shallow mind and from a hardened heart. The alternative to Weltmacht is not Niedergang. It is rather membership in a family of nations, each one of which is possessed of what I have described as the international mind. This is nothing else than that habit of thinking of foreign relations and business, and that habit of dealing with them, which regard the several nations of the civilized world as friendly and coöperating equals in aiding the progress of civilization, in developing commerce and industry, and in spreading enlightenment and culture throughout the world.

Given this, and it will be easy to establish and maintain an international organization to keep the peace of the world, as well as to establish and maintain international economic relationships that shall promote human happiness and human satisfaction. Without this condition, all schemes for international organization and international coöperation are futile and will not long ward off a disaster which takes its origin in wrong and false ideas planted in the hearts of men and nations.

GEORGE W. CABLE

THE TOCSIN

FROM "THE OUTLOOK"

From a night of calm security I rose, as did thousands about me, to the day's work.

But before I could leave my room the steam-whistles of all the great industries in the great city and of all the steam-craft in its great harbor began to blow, to bellow and scream, and roar and wail, in unnumbered voices that presently fused into one and rolled down through hundreds of miles of streets, into the open country and out to sea.

I wondered but a moment and then I knew! I knew the same uproar was sounding in every ear from the Atlantic to the Pacific and from Niagara to the Gulf, and that it proclaimed the first rounded twelvemonth of our nation's share in the war for civilization. I knew it was our notice to the round world that

all we have done in this thrice-busiest year of our nation's life is but a beginning of what we shall do. It was Paul Jones's cry from the deck of the blazing *Bonhomme Richard*, magnified by steam and a million trumpets of brass,—"I have just begun to fight!"

Wild, discordant, terrible, it was—it is, for it will ring in my ears henceforth—our Tocsin! the tocsin of a hundred million people speaking one wrath and one purpose. It was, it is, our answer to the great gun in the wood of St. Gobain shelling the churches of Paris on Good Friday. It stoops to no further mockery of argument or negotiation, yet says as definitely as human voice ever spoke, "In the name of God and humanity, and of a just and permanent peace to a free world, no treaties made this side the Rhine."

GEORGE WHITEFIELD CHADWICK

THE WAR OF THE MUSICIAN

Addressed to the Sinfonian (Musical) Fraternity of America

We are bound together by our mutual interest in and love for the art of music. And now we are united by a stronger and more important bond, namely, our love for our native country and the sacrifices of our members to protect her liberties and her Constitution. No gifts are too great and no genius is too precious to be devoted to such a cause. Some of the best composers as well as other artists and poets of France and England have laid down their lives for the cause of human liberty. It is greatly to the credit of the musical profession that our brothers are so willingly found in the ranks of those who are serving their country.

We should see to it that all of our brothers who have dedicated themselves to the service of the country are made to feel that we are behind them: that we are proud of them; and that if they are called upon to sacrifice themselves for the cause. their names will be forever held in reverence and honor by all Sinfonians. Theirs is a difficult and perilous task, and whatever of aid and comfort we can give to encourage and cheer them it should be our first duty to provide. Let us not forget that every effort we make in this direction is not for our brothers alone, but for the whole country, for liberty, and for eventual peace.

BASIL LANNEAU GILDERSLEEVE

In the early years of the great war there were many Americans who felt the drawing of kindred, of friendship, of fellowship with those who are now our enemies. But all that has been over for many months. There is henceforth for us nothing but war to the end, war for Right against Wrong, war for Freedom against Serfdom.

WILLIAM GILLETTE

AMERICA'S GREAT OPPORTUNITY

We Americans today should prostrate ourselves in gratitude before the inscrutable force or chance that places us here at this climacteric when humanity is in a life-and-death grapple with a hideous and bestial recrudescence of barbarism—a time when something vital and glorious is to be done, and when we have the privilege and honor of bearing our share in the doing of it.

That something is to throw our little weight, our little effort, our little might, each one of us, into the gigantic scales by which the human race is being weighed. This we can do, knowing that in this

vast emergency every atom of our weight, no matter what it is, counts,—that every particle of our effort is needed. In aiding to swing the scales the way they should go we help to rescue humanity from a wretched fate. Could anything more wonderful have been contrived for a people inhabiting this earth!

Fortunate, indeed, are those who can do the greater things. But not a whit less fortunate are those who can do the lesser things, if they are the best they can do. And that good fortune is for every one of us.

ROBERT GRANT

A HYMN

O Spirit of Creation
To whom our fathers prayed,
Look down upon this nation
Whose sons go unafraid
Across the mine-strewn water
To grapple with a foe
That makes relentless slaughter
And agonizes woe.

Protect them, oh, protect them, Our darlings blithe and brave, But should some fate elect them To fill a soldier's grave, Give us the grace to borrow The gladness they express To dignify our sorrow, Redeem our loneliness.

We thank Thee for the vision
Enabling us to see
That peace which brought derision
Was ruin to the free.
At last our bonds are broken,
At last the drum-beats roll;
Ay! by this myriad token
Our country finds her soul.

For now the heathen rages,
And vaunting in his pride
Would blot Thee from his pages
To rule by fratricide.
Oh, give them might to slay him,
Oh, give us faith to win,
And utterly repay him
With knowledge of his sin.

Our flag will wear new glory
Before our boys return,
Its crimson stripes be gory,
Its stars like planets burn,
And many will be sleeping
Upon a foreign shore;
Yet still within thy keeping,
Jehovah! God of War.

ARTHUR T. HADLEY

A CONFLICT OF IDEALS

From an Address on the Price of National Liberty, Providence, March 15, 1917

There are two types of university: the English and the German. The English type has aimed to promote culture—physical, mental, and moral. It has developed clean-living gentlemen, interested to a greater or less extent in books and studies, and with high ideals of public service. It has not attempted to train them directly for the struggles of life. Whatever they have learned in this respect they have learned elsewhere.

The German type of university has had other ends. It has aimed to promote efficiency. It has trained physicians and lawyers, engineers, and technologists, to the practice of their several professions; it has done little for the general culture of the students, except as thorough study of any one subject gives a man an idea of what scholarship means on every line. But it has fitted the graduate to apply his abilities to the problems of life, whether at home or abroad, and to do modern work by modern methods in the particular field to which he has devoted himself.

Our American universities were first founded on English lines. They were originally colleges resembling the colleges of Oxford and Cambridge in purpose and in course of study. During the last century, and particularly during its latter half, German ideas of university education were introduced and German aims were given increasing measure of weight. A group of graduate and professional schools, whose object was technical training rather than general training, grew up about the colleges, and sometimes threatened to overshadow them. It has been the hope of our educational leaders that we might somehow combine the two ideals of university life—that we might in some way develop side by side the general culture of the Englishman and the specific efficiency of the German.

The present war has brought out the fact that these differences of university organization reflected a difference of national ideals. The Englishman's ideal is character; the German's ideal is performance. The Englishman desires to be a man among men, governed as far as possible by public opinion. The German desires to be an efficient part of an effective organization, helping it to do its work better than any other organization ever did it before. The war is in fact a contest between these two types; and the underlying lesson of these awful vears is that somehow the virtues of the two types must be conjoined instead of separated. The English type, left to itself, tends to go ahead gallantly and lovally but unintelligently. The German type, left to itself, tends to gain its immediate objects, at the sacrifice of those habits of courtesy and morality which are the very basis of civilization.

It is sometimes said that wars are waged for commercial reasons. This may be true of little wars, but it is not true of great ones. Every great war establishes some principle. The wars of the French Revolution established the principles of civil liberty. The wars in the middle of the last century established the principle of nationality. I believe that this war will establish the principle that character and performance must go hand in hand; that morals and brains must be conjoined; and that a civilization which attempts to base itself on either to the exclusion of the other is fundamentally incomplete.

THOMAS HASTINGS

THE GLORY THAT WAS RHEIMS

From an Interview in the New York Evening Post, September 21, 1914

The ruin of a rare and beautiful monument that belonged to the world, that belonged to Germany as much as to France, that belonged to us, to all nations that revere and worship beauty, is vandalism gone insane. The Cathedral of Notre Dame at Rheims had stood for seven hundred years, through all the wars that raged about it, and had been respected and spared by the soldiers of the Middle Ages, so-called barbarians. It remained for German army officers, men supposed to be cultivated, to have high appreciation of the beauties of art and of all the fine things civilization has wrought, to do this ruthless deed. Men are killed in war, yes, but others are born: there is no lack of men to people the world; but the Cathedral at Rheims cannot be replaced. It stood in the afterglow of its hundreds of years, seeing generations pass away, bidding welcome to new generations. It stood a source of inspiration to the world. It breathed

a spirit, something hardly seen, something felt. It is to lovers of the beautiful as though some one had forever eliminated the colors of the sunset. I say it reverently, the killing of the Rheims Cathedral is like the killing of a god.

We pride ourselves upon our enlightenment and advancement; we have pointed with derision to the unenlightened Dark Ages; yet this destruction has been compassed by representatives of a race that vaunts its culture. This makes the deed all the more terrible. Had it been done by ignorant men, by soldiers of a backward, undeveloped nation, there would be some excuse. Had the barbarians of the thirteenth century committed this thing history would have stamped them with the seal of undying reproach. Yet Germany's culture, Germany's progress, Germany's civilization places this capstone on her accomplishments.

WILLIAM DEAN HOWELLS

THE INCREDIBLE CRUELTY OF THE TEUTONS

In the "Easy Chair" Harper's Magazine, August, 1918.

One cannot, without folly, ask one's self if peace will never come, because peace has always come in turn with war, or without treason to the cause which has consecrated this war as no war was ever consecrated before, and which must triumph. Yet the fact of war has become so habitual that we can as well imagine the lifting of the atmospheric pressure as the removal of that weight from the spirit. The fact of it wraps us like the casing air; it has become so effectively our being that we can scarcely recall the different events or aspects in which it has superseded peace. Can any one say just where and when he first saw a man in khaki? can as easily date the preparedness parades, now that it seems the exceptional man who is in civil dress. How distinguishable in time is the lunge of the Germans through Belgium from the assassination of our own people in the Lusitania? Did two years separate those events, and by what successive processes did the American mind evolve the purpose of doing justice upon the murderer-nation in our stupefaction from that horror? Was there once really a question with many of us whether there was not some right on the side of the enemy who was as much against us at the beginning as now? How long is it since the mother who now self-devotedly gives her son to the country was singing I did not raise my boy to be a soldier"? The change which we cannot dare is no more questionable than the fact that the last election turned in favor of the President who "kept us out of war," and whom we have now eagerly followed into it and whole-heartedly trust to guide us through it. Was there once actually a mood of their madness when the Germans imagined that we could be taught that their barbarity was the ultimate form of civilization? Just when did the doctrine of

the German apostolate turn to the insult of German diplomacy?

* * * * *

Perhaps it is the essential incredibility of its cruelty which disables the mind from separably accepting the events of any war and leaves this worst of wars a mass of wickedness which no chemistry is capable of reducing to its components. Can any one say what the worst wickedness of the Germans has been? If you choose one there are always other crimes which contest your choice. We used at first to fix the guilt of them upon the Kaiser, but event by event we have come to realize that no man or order of men can pervert a whole people without their complicity. There was a moment when we thought that this or that sort of German was incapable of the things which they have all shown themselves capable of, or so nearly all that the exceptions have not appeared. There have been rumors of dissent from the faith which is always seeking and finding precipitation in some atrocity, but these rumors never harden into fact. seems the doom of a whole people to go from bad to worse, and to mislead the peoples whom they have perverted by their friendship or spared by their cruel mercies. The Turk is a worse Turk with their favor than he would be without it, and it is doubtful if the followers of Mohammed would not be better Christians than the worshippers of the Old German God whom the Teutonic theologians have latterly discovered, if they were not partakers of the Germans' crimes. In their static nature these crimes seem to have occurred in mass-formation and not separately; there is still the apparent simultaneity in them which there was from the beginning, and the continual purpose of evil forbids a distinctive cognizance of them. The bewildered observance fails to time the first crimes in their due priority. Were the air raids of London with their slaughter of women and children in their homes earlier or later than the long-distance bombardment of Paris with its butchery of women and children in their churches?

What is to change the nature of the Kultur which binds its victims in the delusion of an inhuman patriotism so that they cannot change with the passing of the days and years? Are they hopelessly forbidden to learn from the experience of

all other mankind that the greatest good of life is charity, and with it modesty, so that they cannot learn from kindness to themselves that kindness to others is of like preciousness? What is the fell magic which holds them liege to their oppression in a dream of ruthless dominion, and makes them as eager to shed their own blood as the blood of their fellow-men? What has so possessed their souls with the love of their own slavery that they should wish to die in the endeavor to make it universal, and so holds them to it that they cannot wish to break from it?

ROBERT UNDERWOOD JOHNSON

THE NEW SLAVERY

(On the Expatriation by Germany of Civil Populations of Belgium)

Men of Freedom, for whose ease,
Man for man, some hero died:
Hear ye, over shuddering seas,
What the winds have sobbed and cried?
In the mirror of the moon
Have ye read the shame of noon?
Men of Freedom, hear!

Have ye heard the savage creed
Of the War Lord's iron hand:
Though the world's last drop shall bleed,
Over all, the Fatherland—
Over honor, over truth,
Over love and over ruth?
Men of Freedom, hear!

Not the Germany we knew—
Lessing's heart and Goethe's mind,
Schiller's vision, far and true,
And the peace that Kant divined;
But a land of lords and braves—
Half of masters, half of slaves.
Men of Freedom, see!

Of another world are these—
Lords of war with hearts of lead;
Boasting of new cruelties,—
Brine for water, stones for bread.
Ye with grief and pity wrung,
These have never learned your tongue.
Men of Freedom, see!

Now the latest horror cries
Unto heaven—and unto earth!
Trebly ravaged Belgium lies
Tortured for the Teuton mirth.
Was there of the Belgian heart
Left enough to tear apart?
Men of Freedom, see!

By the silent harps that hung
On the banks of Babylon,—
By the saints that Milton sung,—
By the crowns of martyrs won,—

By all human tragedies,— By the death that exile is, Men of Freedom, speak!

By the weakness of our great
Who bequeathed a nation's sin
To their sons to expiate,
With a soul, to lose or win;
By his strength who overthrew
That despair and held us true,
Men of Freedom, speak!

By the red of Serbia's sod;
Poland, paved with little bones;
Lone Armenia's wail to God;
Widowed Europe's haunting moans;
By the million ills that flow
From one king's choice of war and woe,
Men of Freedom, speak!

By the things ye hold most fair,
Love of home and love of breath;
By the child's faith in his prayer;
By things more great than Life and Death,
Lest your grave be shamed of ye,
Speak!—and . . . if the need shall be,
Men of Freedom, strike!

December, 1916.

EDITH CAVELL

Room 'mid the martyrs for a deathless name!

Till yesterday in her how few could know
Black War's white angel, succoring friend and foe—
Whose pure heart harbored neither hate nor blame
When Need or Pity made its sovereign claim.

To-day she is the world's! Its poignant woe,
We thought had been outwept, again doth flow
In tenderest tears that multiply her fame.

Oh, something there is in us yet, more bright
Than Rouen's hungry flames—that could consume
Jeanne's slender limbs but not her spirit's might.
Fate still has noble colors in her loom.
One lonely woman's courage in the night
Has sealed the savage Hohenzollerns' doom!

THE SWORD OF LAFAYETTE

(Inscribed to Raymond Poincaré, President of the French Republic)

It was the time of our despair,
When lion-hearted Washington—
That man of patience and of prayer—
Looked sadly at each rising sun.
In all the freedom-breeding air,
Of hope and rescue there was none.
When, lo! as down from Heaven let,
There came—the sword of Lafayette!

Our harbors—how they danced with light!
Our tireless bells—how they did ring!
Again we girded up to fight
Not England, but her German king.
For here was succor, and the might
Of one great soul's imagining.
What wonder if our eyes be wet
To see the sword of Lafayette!

Upon the walls where Justice keeps
The 'swords she doth most gladly save,
Not one of all so deeply sleeps
Within the scabbard's honored grave
But, listening for her call, it leaps,
To live again among the brave.
Thank Heaven our naked blade is set
Beside the sword of Lafayette!

Not his, not ours, the brutal strife,
The vulgar greed of soil or dross;
The feet that follow drum and fife
Shall tread to nobler gain or loss.
'T is for the holiness of life
The Spirit calls us to the Cross
Forget us, God, if we forget
The sacred sword of Lafayette.

1917.

HENRY CABOT LODGE

SPEECH IN THE UNITED STATES SENATE, APRIL 4, 1917, ON THE DECLARATION OF WAR

No one is more aware than I that this is a moment for action and not for debate. But, as a member of the Committee on Foreign Relations, and having taken part in framing this resolution, I wish briefly to state why I support it with the greatest earnestness of which I am

capable.

The most momentous power entrusted to Congress by the Constitution is the authority to declare war, and never has Congress been called to a more solemn exercise of this great function than at this moment. We have submitted to wrongs and outrages from the Central Powers of Europe—wrongs which involve not only injury to property, but the destruction of American lives—with a long patience. We have borne and forborne to the very limit of endurance. Now the inevitable end is here and we are about to declare war against Germany.

Speaking for myself and, I hope, for my associates generally on this side of the Chamber, I desire to say that in this crisis, and when the country is at war, party lines will disappear, and this disappearance of the party line will, I am confident, not be confined to the minority. Both Democrats and Republicans must forget party in the presence of the common danger. This is not, and cannot be, a party war. It is a war in which all Americans must be united, and no one must ask a loyal citizen, high or low, who seeks to serve his country in the field or in civil life to what party he belongs, any more than it would be possible to ask his religion or his race. As Americans we shall all, I am sure, be prepared to give to the Executive money, men, and all the necessary powers for waging war with energy and driving it forward to a successful conclusion. The President has made recommendations as to the action which

he hopes Congress will take, with which I for one am in most thorough accord.

We have only a very small army and we must proceed at once and as rapidly as possible to build up a large one fit to defend the country in any emergency. We must provide for the future and for the supply of men for the Army by a system of universal military training. 1 agree with the President that this new army should be chosen upon the "principle of universal liability to service." Our Navy is strong in certain branches and very weak in others. It must be our business to supply the deficiencies as rapidly as possible. Fortunately those deficiencies are, as a rule, of the kind which can be most quickly supplied. is our duty to see to it that all the money and all the legislation necessary for both the Army and the Navy are given at once.

The President has said that war

will involve the utmost practicable coöperation in counsel and action with the Governments now at war with Germany and, as incident to that, the extension to those Governments of the most liberal financial credits, in order that our resources may so far as possible be added to theirs.

I am not only in full agreement with this policy advised by the President, but it seems to me that nothing is more important than to follow it out. I am as thorough a believer as ever in the general policy laid down by Washington when he advised the people of the United States not to enter into permanent alliances; but the man who won the American Revolution through the alliance with France would have been the last to lay down a hard-and-fast rule that under no circumstances and for no purposes were we ever to ally ourselves with other nations. He

covers this point completely in the Farewell Address, where he says:—

Taking care always to keep ourselves by suitable establishments on a respectable defensive posture, we may safely trust to temporary alliances for extraordinary emergencies.

Far-seeing and wise, he knew very well that dangers might come which would make a temporary alliance or agreement with foreign nations imperative. That time has arrived. It would be madness for us to attempt to make war alone upon Germany, and find ourselves, perhaps, at the end left isolated, at war with that power, when all the other nations had made peace, because we had not associated ourselves with them. The Allies of the Entente, as they are called, are fighting a common foe, and their foe is now ours. We cannot send a great army across the ocean, for we have no army to send. Yet I should be glad for one if we could send ten thousand men of our regular troops, so that the flag of the United States might at least be unfurled in the fields of France. I believe that the mere sight of our flag in that region made so desolate by war would stimulate the courage and help the success of those who have the same aim that we have and who seek the same victory. We can also help the Allies, as the President recommends, with large credits and with those supplies which we can furnish and which they lack. We cannot do more in any direction to bring this war to a speedy end than to give those credits and furnish those supplies.

The President has told us that German spies

were here even before the war began, and it is, unhappily, not a matter of conjecture, but a fact proved in our courts of justice, that the intrigues which have more than once come perilously near to disturbing the peace and dislocating the industries of the country have been carried on at the instigation, with the support, and even under the personal direction, of official agents of the Imperial German Government accredited to the Government of the United States.

I believe myself that the overwhelming mass of our citizens of German descent are just as loyal to the United States as any citizens could possibly be. But there is this class of agents of the Imperial German Government who are ready to engage in plots and crimes to the injury of the people of this country. "Disloyalty," if I may again borrow the words of the President, "must be put down with a firm hand."

The purpose of the German submarine campaign is the absolute destruction of the world's mercantile tonnage, something wholly new in warfare. In the old days, in previous wars, the ships of warring nations were captured, frequently in large numbers, as was the case when our privateers ranged the English Channel in the War of 1812. But it must not be forgotten that, with few exceptions, these vessels, when captured, were sent into port, condemned as prizes, and again put afloat. The total tonnage of the world was not materially reduced. But the German submarine war, ruthlessly carried on, is directed toward the complete destruction of the tonnage of the whole world. Forced into war, as we now are. our first action should be to repair in some measure this loss to our own tonnage and to that of the world by seizing the ships of Germany now in our ports and putting that additional tonnage into the world's service.

Mr. President, we have never been a military nation; we are not prepared for war in the modern sense; but we have vast resources and unbounded energies, and the day when war is declared we should devote ourselves to calling out those resources and organizing those energies so that they can be used with the utmost effect in hastening the complete victory. The worst of all wars is a feeble war. War is too awful to be entered upon half-heartedly. If we fight at all, we must fight for all we are worth. It must be no weak, hesitating war. The most merciful war is that which is most vigorously waged and which comes most quickly to an end.

Mr. President, no one feels the horrors of war more than I. It is with no light heart, but with profound sadness, although with hope and courage, that I see my country compelled to enter the great field of conflict. But there are, in my opinion, some things worse for a nation than war. National degeneracy is worse; national cowardice is worse. The division of our people into race groups, striving to direct the course of the United States in the interest of some other country when we should have but one allegiance, one hope, and one tradition, is far worse. All these dangers have been gathering about us and darkening the horizon during the last three years. Whatever suffering and misery war may bring, it will at least sweep these foul things away. Instead of division into race groups, it will unify us into one nation, and national degeneracy and national cowardice will slink back into the darkness from which they should never have emerged.

I also believe that on our entrance into this war, under the conditions which it has assumed, our future peace, our independence as a proud and high-spirited nation, our very security, are at stake. There is no other way, as I see it, except by war, to save these things without which national existence is a mockery and a sham. But there is a still higher purpose here as I look upon it. The President has said with great justice that Germany is making war upon all nations. We do not enter upon this war to secure victory for one nation as against another. We enter this war to unite with those who are fighting the common foe in order to preserve human freedom, democracy, and modern civilization. They are all in grievous peril; they are all threatened. This war is a war, as I see it, against barbarism; not the anarchical barbarism of what are known as the Dark Ages, but organized barbarism panoplied in all the

devices for the destruction of human life which science, beneficent science, can bring forth. We are resisting an effort to thrust mankind back to forms of government, to political creeds and methods of conquest which we had hoped had disappeared forever from the world. We are fighting against a nation which, in the fashion of centuries ago, drags the inhabitants of conquered lands into slavery; which carries off women and girls for even worse purposes; which in its mad desire to conquer mankind and trample them under foot has stopped at no wrong, has regarded no treaty. work that we are called upon to do when we enter this war is to preserve the principles of human liberty, the principles of democracy, and the light of modern civilization; all that we most love, all that we hold dearer than life itself, is at stake. In such a battle we cannot fail to win. 1 am glad that my country is to share in this preservation of human freedom. wish to see my country gathered with the other nations who are fighting for the same end when the time for peace comes. We seek no conquests, we desire no territory and no new dominions. We wish simply to preserve our own peace and our own security, to uphold the great doctrine which guards the American hemisphere, and to see the disappearance of all wars or rumors of wars from the East, if any dangers there exist. What we want most of all by this victory which we shall help to win is to secure the world's peace, broad-based on freedom and democracy, a world not controlled by a Prussian military autocracy, by Hohenzollerns and Hapsburgs, but by the will of the free people of the earth. We shall achieve this result, and when we achieve it, we shall be able to say that we have helped to confer great blessings upon mankind, and that we have not fought in vain.

A. LAWRENCE LOWELL

WHAT ARE WE FIGHTING FOR?

ARTICLE IN The Independent, MARCH 11, 1918

The United States entered the war because one of the chief objects of every government must be to protect the lives and property of its citizens from destruction, in violation of the rules of international law and the principles of humane civilization. After the renewal of submarine warfare, conducted in disregard of law and humanity, a great nation that did not protect its citizens would have been an object of scorn whose rights could be disregarded in future. We should have been a certain mark for aggression by any power whose desires might conflict with ours; and especially by Germany as soon as she had recovered her strength, and found her ambitions blocked in Africa and Asia. Nor should we have had a claim to expect aid or sympathy from any nation in resisting an attack upon our shores, or upon Central or South America.

The aims of the United States in declaring war were strictly defensive. We did not take part with the Allies to obtain any benefit, territorial, economic or financial, for ourselves or for any other country. But if so, why does our President, together with Mr. Lloyd George, tell the world that the terms of peace must include changes of territory among the belligerents? There are two reasons for this, not unconnected, although resting on distinct principles.

The first is that having been drawn into the war in defense of our own citizens we do not propose to stop, if we can help it, until justice has been done to the peoples who have now become our allies. When a man takes part in a fight he inevitably makes, to some extent, common cause with the other men who are fighting on his side, and he cannot honorably leave them in the lurch. If a robber has picked my pocket of ten dol-

lars, and I find that another man from whom he has stolen one thousand dollars is pursuing him, if I join in the pursuit, and after the other man becomes exhausted, or gets a knock-out blow, the robber turns on me, can I say to him, "Give me back my ten dollars and you may keep the money of the other man?" We have now made common cause in arms with the Allies, and we cannot desert them by backing out and leaving them to suffer from injuries unredressed. If Germany had, either before or during the war, taken part of our territory, or ravaged it, we should have a mean opinion of our allies if they made peace with her without insisting on restoration and reparation for us: and we cannot do to others what we should blame and despise them for doing to us. This applies to our demand for restitution and indemnity in the cases of Belgium, Serbia and France. It covers also the case of Alsace-Lorraine, taken by force, or under the duress of force, in 1870.

Moreover, this war, in whatever way it ends, will certainly be followed by some reorganization of Europe, apart from the restitution of the territory of our allies. Being a party to the war, we cannot shirk the responsibility of seeing that the peace which concludes it is right and just. We cannot say that whether the changes made involve oppression and injustice or not is of no interest to us, and no affair of ours. As a civilized and free nation we must throw our weight into the scale for the liberation of oppressed peoples and the fair treatment of all peoples, and it is well that we should say so now.

The second reason for including territorial adjustments among the terms of peace comes from the fact that we are not fighting for terms at all. If Ger-

many were to offer to abandon her submarine warfare during the remainder of the conflict we could not now withdraw, because it would mean merely a desperate attempt to detach another belligerent, not a recognition of neutral rights or a renunciation of the menace of aggressive militarism. Even if she were to offer any terms the Allies pleased, purely in order to recover her strength and begin war again under more favorable conditions, they could not be accepted, because we are in fact fighting to prevent the recurrence to ourselves and to mankind of such a calamity as this war. We are not fighting for the sake of war, but to prevent war. We are fighting that such things as have happened within the last three years shall, if we can help it, never occur again. In any peace, therefore, we must seek to remove the causes of future wars.

Now among the chief causes of recent wars have been the aspirations of people of the same race, or rather who speak the same language, to unite as a nation and be free from the domination of another race. It is interesting to consider the influence of this motive in the great struggles that have occurred in Europe, let us say since the Crimean War. In the period immediately succeeding, a number of wars arose from the efforts to create a united Italy and a united Germany. The first of these conflicts was that between France and Austria in 1850. The ostensible cause of that war, and to a great extent the underlying motive that provoked it, was the desire to free the Italians in Lombardy and Venice from the Austrian yoke. Five years later came the war of Prussia and Austria against Denmark. It was only a prelude to the Austro-Prussian War of 1866 which had as its occasion a quarrel over the administration of the duchies wrung from Denmark, but which was really carefully planned to drive Austria out of the loose Germanic Confederation and unite Germany in a single federal body under the hegemony of Prussia. The last of this series of wars, was the Franco-Prussian

War of 1870, where the quarrel arose nominally over a candidate for the throne of Spain, but which was in fact provoked by Bismarck in order to complete the union of the German states in what is now the German Empire. Before a decade had passed, began the first of the wars caused by the efforts of the Christian Slavs in the Balkans to rid themselves of the rule of the Turk. In 1876 there began the attempt to free Bulgaria, which was followed by the war between Russia and Turkey. From that time there was no war between European nations on any large scale until the first of the late Balkan wars in 1912. This was, of course, an attempt to carry farther, and indeed to complete, the process of liberating the Balkans from the control of the Turk; and it was succeeded by the second Balkan war, a quarrel between the victors over the spoils, turning in part on the question whether the people of Macedonia were essentially Bulgarian or not. Finally the occasion and the pretext, though not the real underlying cause, of the present war was the condition of the Serbian peoples, part of whom lived in Serbia and part under the rule of Austria-Hungary.

If the question of race has been a source of war in Europe for two generations we cannot expect it to disappear in the future unless racial aspirations are reasonably satisfied; for it has grown up with democracy and the spread of popular education. So long as government was conducted exclusively by a throne and aristocracy, the ruling class was constrained to speak one language, that of the court and of polite society. All cultivated people in the land were educated in the same literary tongue, which was naturally used in official transactions. The uneducated classes talked their own dialects and cared little what their rulers spoke. They have not always objected even when these men affected a foreign culture. Frederick the Great thought himself a French litterateur and spelled his name like a Frenchman. But when popular elections were introduced, and

still more when primary schools became universal, the question of language assumed a far greater importance. Then the matter of race was brought to the forefront. The Czechs in Austria, for example, must insist that their children shall be taught in Czech, and that their language shall not be excluded from public affairs, or their people will inevitably be Germanized. The sentiment has, no doubt, in some cases been exaggerated until men of letters have raised a dialect into a language, and local patriotism has inspired a small branch of a great race with a feeling of distinct nationality. Yet the sentiment is real, and if it is not given political expression, and the people who hold it are not allowed the means of economic development, it is certain to remain a source of agitation and a probable cause of war. A prudent man does not keep in his house combustible objects where they are liable to be set on fire. We are not fighting this war to prepare materials for another, or to leave in the world explosive elements, if it is possible to avoid doing so. A great war may start from the discontent of a small people; and if the condition of the large European countries should remain unchanged after peace is concluded, it night well be, for example, that a future revolt of the Czechs or the Croats would. from sympathy or policy provoke the interference of some great power, as the ultimatum to Serbia provoked the intervention of Russia in July, 1914. Europe might be set ablaze by race questions in Austria-Hungary, as she has been by troubles in the Balkans; and such a source of war ought to be foreseen and prevented.

The President's statements about territorial changes have, therefore, the same object as his declarations about a

league of nations. Neither of them has the slightest punitive intent. Both are designed to prevent future wars, by removing causes of strife, by allowing free play to national development on the part of peoples great and small, and by restraining war until every other means of settlement has been exhausted.

Three years ago it was necessary to argue that the United States could no longer maintain a position of complete isolation, that she must assume the duties and responsibilities which her growth and the increasing rapidity of transportation across the ocean had cast upon her: and the burden of proof was upon him who asserted that our traditional policy had been outgrown. But we have not been able to preserve our isolation in this war, and it has become our obvious interest and duty to see that another preventable war does not break out, into which we shall again be drawn. To do this we must insist upon terms of peace that will remove as many of the causes of war as possible; and we must form with other countries having the same object in view, a league of nations which will secure the submission of international controversies to a tribunal or a body of conciliators, and which will provide a deliberative body for the formulation of international law and the public discussion of international problems. We must be prepared to join with the other great nations of the earth in compelling, by force if necessary, a resort to these peaceful methods for the settlement of disputes, before a recourse to violence. The object in stating our terms is not an immediate, but a permanent, peace, and while we can maintain a force in the field we can demand nothing less.

HAMILTON WRIGHT MABIE*

OUR SHARE

Editorial Article in The Outlook, June 16, 1915

It has been said that when the sun went down on the 31st of July last it set for the last time on the world that was familiar: on the first day of August it rose on a new world. The changes wrought by war are already incalculable, and they have only begun. Whatever forms they may take —political, social, industrial—they are certain to be fundamental, perhaps rev-The readjustments, when olutionary. they come, will not be mere diplomatic compromises; they will be vital, radical, and far-reaching. Society will not count its losses, gird up its loins, and go on again in the old way. It is passing through one of the deepest, perhaps the deepest, experience in its history, and it will come out of that experience not only greatly impoverished but changed in spirit. The iron is entering into its soul.

Such experiences never leave nations as they find them; nor do they leave individuals as they find them; some deepgoing change always registers such vast catastrophic events in history. So far the field of military operations has been on the far side of one or other of the friendly oceans which separate us from Europe and Asia, but the tragic experience is part of the life of every thoughtful man and woman in America. We do not hear the thunder of cannon, but the flash of the guns below the horizon reflected in the sky above us makes us aware that a great tempest is sweeping over the earth, and that possessions that belong to the whole world are in peril, if not already destroyed. If this stupendous experience does not touch us, it is because we are mentally insensitive or spiritually dead. There are those who would take refuge in the cabaret if the bells were tolling continuously for the dead in a

plague-smitten city; but the vast majority of men and women live with their fellows and share their fortunes. Whether we consciously share them or not, those fortunes are our fortunes; we may shut our eyes, but we cannot shut our souls to the pain, sorrow, and tremendous disturbances which are agitating the world as a storm that sweeps from continent to continent, breaks up the fountains of the deep and sends the universal ocean foaming and thundering half around the globe.

Those Americans are to be pitied whose chief anxiety is that we may be kept out of the struggle and find in it a golden opportunity to push forward the prosperity of the Nation. That we may be spared the duty of entering the field of war with arms in our hands is the prayer of the whole Nation, but that we should be spared participation in the sorrow and loss of our fellow-nations in order that we may profit by their misfortunes would be the prayer of a base and blind selfishness. The intense preoccupation of our neighbors beyond the sea may give a great impulse to American industry and enterprise, but we can safely accept prosperity from the misfortunes of others only when our hearts are clean of every desire to shape our National policy to an end so selfish and so hateful to the spirit of democracy.

To be able to keep out of the war without sacrificing the higher interests of humanity is the eager desire of many anxious people, but to escape the sorrow, pain, and renovating power of a great human experience would be to miss one of the greatest lessons ever set for men to learn. Whether we will or not, we are sharing the fortunes of this worldshaking conflict, and it will not leave us as it found us; at the end we shall be a nobler or a meaner Nation. We are being tested as truly as if our armies were in the field. Every man is being tested as truly as if his individual fortunes were involved in the issue. Shall we think primarily of our own safety and comfort,

or shall we think first and always of the interests of humanity? Shall we cling to prosperity and the ease and luxury that come with it as the ends of life, or shall we learn from the appalling destruction of material values that these are as dust in the scales when the soul of a nation or of an individual is being weighed?

FREDERICK MACMONNIES

THE WORLD CRISIS

It would not have occurred to any one strolling in Piccadilly or on a Paris boulevard in 1913, wrapped in the sense of security afforded by well-ordered streets, that a year later the main preoccupation of three-quarters of the inhabitants of the globe would be to prevent a horde of savages from destroying the world, mor-

ally and physically.

To the mind accustomed to modernity, it all seemed so settled. The few living savages had been attended to by missionaries and were supplied with phonographs and the blessings of civilization. Sitting Bull was dead. Tamerlane, the Huns, the destruction of Rome, Zulus, scalpings, disembowelings, poisonings and piracies were mere details of a glorious and bloody past. A few recalcitrant specimens of the savage could perhaps be dislodged on the Zambesi or possibly in Cochin China.

Who could suspect that under the grey tunic topped by the pompous gilded helmet was a bloodthirsty pitiless Hun, more dangerous than his half-clad ances-

tors, for he was equipped with science and armed with modern miracles invented by civilization for her own beneficent purposes. These his mediæval soul with savage cunning has turned to barbaric usage. Filled with false philosophy and fatuous egotism, he has organized to turn back the dial of progress five hundred years.

We have waked up late to our danger, and for our tardy rising we must make amends or do the bidding of a conqueror. Graft, ambition, greed, sloth, words must be put aside, if we would save the world for anything, let alone for democracy.

But win we must, and when once more we feel the security of order and justice, then every bright life extinguished, every spark of unseen heroism, every brave achievement, each precious relic of a devout past relentlessly shot to pieces will be a sacrifice not made in vain, for that vast funeral pyre of hopes, loves and ambitions will be a beacon to light forever the highroad of progress toward permanent Peace and Liberty.

BRANDER MATTHEWS

BENEFITS OF THE WAR

ARTICLE IN Munsey's Magazine for February, 1918

There is a French proverb which declares that every man has the defects of his qualities and the qualities of his defects. That is to say, if he has a gentle spirit, he is quite possibly of a yielding nature; and if he is reputed to be obstinate, he is not likely to be infirm of

purpose.

A similar maxim might have been minted in regard to events. They are rarely either wholly good or wholly evil —or, at least, if they are good, they may have remote and unexpected consequences which are not altogether satisfactory; and if they are evil, they may none the less bring about unforeseen results which ultimately prove to be advantageous.

In the present world war it is difficult for us to discover anything but hideous horrors, rapine and ruin, mutilation, death, and that moral suffering which is even worse than death. Over against all the diabolical misdeeds which have brought these malignant terrors is the sublime spectacle of human heroism, of duty done nobly and simply, of selfishness conquered, and of self-sacrifice made the law of life. It is an appalling price that humanity has had to pay for this encouraging disclosure of its finer and sterner possibilities; and yet the disclosure itself is beyond price. Perhaps in the future it may prove to be worth all it has cost.

This uncovering of the soul of man in all its elevation and all its power is the first and the most obvious of the beneficent by-products of the world war. It is unquestionably the most important, but it does not stand alone. It is only the first and foremost of a host of things brought to light as direct or indirect consequences of this protracted battle between democratic civilization and autocratic barbarism.

Some of these things are obvious enough; and some may be obscure, needing to be elucidated in detail. Some of them are physical, some are moral, and some are mental. Some of them soar aloft in the world of ideas and of ideals. and some of them linger below on the level of the merely material and economic necessities. And they are so many and so manifold and so diverse that they cannot be catalogued, even if they could all be perceived at the present time.

What it is possible to do now is to single out a few of the beneficent results of this war which have most significance for us here in America, separated by a thousand leagues of water from the devastation and the desolation of the actual battle-field.

First of all, this sudden outbreak of the conflict between the two Kaisers and the self-governing peoples allied against Kaiserism, the continuation of the combat year after year with the resulting adherence of nation after nation to the one side or to the other, until it is now far easier to count the few peoples who insist upon remaining neutral than it is to call the roll of those who have joined themselves together resolved to make an end of the menace of militarism—all this has made plain as never before the extraordinary interdependence of every nation upon almost every other nation.

The races which are in the possession of fertile soil for agriculture need the foreign markets where their corn can be sold. The nations best equipped for manufacturing need peaceful freedom to bring in this corn as food for their toilers. They also need it to import the raw materials without which their factories must stand idle.

Switzerland, for example, is at peace with the whole world, and is resolute to defend its neutrality to the end; but Switzerland is entirely surrounded by nations at war, and therefore the Swiss find it difficult to get the food and the fuel they require, and almost impossible to export the few wares that they are still able to manufacture. Through no fault of its own, Switzerland has been made to suffer almost as severely as if it had been one of the sharers in the fighting.

Germany, until it chose to begin its struggle for supremacy, was glad to supply other nations with potash, which is an essential in modern scientific agriculture. On the other hand, Germany was glad to import the nitrates which are also an essential in modern scientific agriculture, and which were imperatively demanded by her relatively infertile soil. Her defeat may be brought about finally, not by the destruction or surrender of her armies, but by her failure to feed her millions of soldiers because of her inability to get the nitrates without which the intensive culture of her fields is impossible. Because her merchant marine has been swept from the seas, Germany may be deprived, not only of the tea and the coffee her ships used to bring from distant lands, but even of the potatoes she was accustomed to raise abundantly on her own farms.

Long before we entered into the war ourselves, we were made to appreciate how dependent we were upon other nations, in spite of our immensely varied territory, our diversified population, and our inventive ingenuity. We could import nitrates, but we were deprived of potash. We had been wont to vaunt ourselves as a self-sufficing nation, able to produce within our own borders all that we might need; but within a month after the outbreak of hostilities we discovered the disadvantages of having allowed Germany to manufacture many of our chemicals for us-chemicals needed for medicinal purposes, for dyeing, and for the making of explosives. It was well that we should be awakened by this unwelcome disclosure, for it has made us eager to establish industries which will render us as independent of the foreigner as we had fondly believed ourselves to be.

Nor are these the only factories which the war has forced us to erect. We have had to build countless plants for the making of munitions and explosives, small arms and artillery. The European nations with whom we are now in alliance were better prepared for war than we should have been if we had been brought into the conflict at the beginning; but no one had foreseen the decisive importance of an indisputable superiority of shells and shrapnel, bombs and handgrenades. As the Allies could not manufacture these things for themselves fast enough, they came to us; and the expansion of our munition-making industry was so rapid and so elaborate that when at last the United States did join the forces fighting to make the world safe for democracy, we were in a position to equip our new armies speedily and satisfactorily.

Not only have we now adequate means for preparing ourselves for defense, but we have seen the danger of not having at all times the factories, the machines, and the organizations needed for self-protection. We are not likely hereafter to leave ourselves defenseless against the treacherous attack of an unscrupulous foe.

We must hereafter keep ourselves fit for service, since we now know that we can find no security in the treaties which seemed to protect the peace of the world. If the foe is treacherous and unscrupulous, he will not be restrained by "scraps of paper." He will not be governed by a decent respect for the opinions of mankind. He will break every convention of civilization which may fetter his purpose.

Indeed, the conduct of Prussia has revealed to us that the veneer of civilization is thinner and more brittle than we had believed. We have seen it crack, and we have beheld beneath it the inhuman characteristics which we hoped the centuries had bred out of civilized man—the many long centuries which

stretch back to our probably arboreal ancestor, akin to the gorilla in the savagery of his lusts.

It may be only a material benefit that we are now better prepared to defend ourselves than ever before; but it is a moral benefit that we have had our eyes opened to the necessity of self-defense against a nation which boasts of its civilization while it is reverting to practises abhorrent even to barbarians.

It is a moral benefit, also, that we have been compelled to consider anew the future relation of the United States to the rest of the world. Our superb isolation, possible in the past, will be impossible in the future. Our interests are bound up with those of the rest of the world. We cannot hereafter shrink away from the discussion of international questions, or shirk out of the duties imposed on us by our position in the brotherhood of nations.

We may keep out of the entangling alliances that Washington warned us against, but we cannot get out of bearing our share of the burden. We shall be forced to hold fellowship with the other peoples to take part in their deliberations, and to aid in the execution of their and our decisions.

And the war has revealed these other peoples to us in new aspects, compelling us to reconsider our former judgments. What we now believe the Germans to be, and the French, and the British, is not at all what we believed them to be five years ago. The picture of a typical German or Frenchman or Britisher which we had in our mind has been modified in many ways.

The portraits we had then were often hazy in outline, because of our ignorance and our want of interest. The portraits we have now are sharply defined as we have had our attention focused. Our knowledge has been multiplied and corrected as our interest has been quickened.

It is instructive for us to compare our opinion of the Germans as it is now and as it was before they started the war. Most of us held the Germans to be a gentle

folk, sentimental, slow-moving, hard-working, beer-drinking, lacking in initiative. We acknowledged willingly their leadership in the musical arts, but we had not had impressed upon us the names of German painters, German sculptors, or German architects. We knew that a few of the more significant discoveries in science were to be credited to them, and also a few, but only a few, of the numberless inventions of the past century. Their contribution to scientific advance seemed to us the result of plodding industry rather than of brilliant inspiration.

We were without intimate acquaintance with later German literature, perhaps because the writers who were popular in Germany between Heine and Hauptmann did not exert the large appeal which would carry their works beyond the borders of their own language. We had not had occasion to familiarize ourselves with the books in which the doctrine of Pan-Germanism was arrogantly proclaimed; and we were far from suspecting that generation after generation the Germans had been taught, in school and in university, to believe that they were a race apart, so superior to all others that it was not only their right but their duty to impose their ideas, their ideals, and their organization upon all other races.

Then suddenly their rulers dropped the mask, and the scales fell from our eyes. The nation which had invited our admiration for its Gemüthlichkeit instantly aroused our abhorrence for its Schrecklichkeit. Its leaders shocked the moral sense of the world both by words and by deeds: and they were innocently surprised that what seemed natural and necessary to them should arouse indignant protest and hostile contempt. Strange is it that a nation with a superabundance of professors of psychology should suffer from a penury of knowledge of human nature! Strange is it, also, that the leaders of this nation are intellectual without being intelligent!

Perhaps we knew a little more about France than about Germany, and yet we

were as much in error as regards the one country as the other. We had more translations from the French than from the German: and as most of these were novels of Parisian life, fast and fashionable, we derived from them the false impression that the French were frivolous and immoral. We failed to understand their frankness in regard to their own defects, their detestation of hypocrisy, their more natural simplicity. In our comic papers and in our comic plays a Frenchman was likely to be a figure of fun; and there were not wanting Americans who seemed to suppose that France was inhabited mainly by milliners and by cooks.

Nor did we get any more accurate vision of French character from our newspaper discussion of French politics than from our own reading of French novels. We recalled the Panama swindle, the Dreyfus affair, and the Caillaux scandal; and not a few Americans inclined to the opinion that the virtue had gone out of the French, and that France was steadily deteriorating from lack of courage and of strength.

Then millions of armed invaders swept almost up to the gates of Paris, and the French exhibited at once the courage and the strength we had been ready to deny them. In that hour of imminent peril the immortal soul of France stood naked before the world in all its sublime nobility. Outnumbered and almost overwhelmed, the French displayed their traditional gallantry, and also a serious steadfastness, a grim determination, which enabled them to retreat day after day and yet to be ready to advance at once and to attack with unbroken energy when the order came to face the other way.

And the temper of the French was as significant as their sturdiness. They did not whine and they did not boast. The braggart was as infrequent as the coward. They did not plead for applause, and they asked for no sympathy. They had no time to think of the opinion of other countries; they had to defend their own.

Of course, they were glad to get help when it came. They welcomed the British troops as they have since welcomed the American advance-guard; but in the defense of their own soil they were ready to bear the brunt of the battle, as the fighting about Verdun testified.

The British we ought to have known better than we knew either the Germans or the French, if only because of our possession of the same language and of our inheritance of the same literature. They were our kin across the sea—a little more than kin and often less than kind. They had been our foes in two wars, as every American schoolboy knew; and in the second of these wars they had burned the Capitol at Washington. They had often annoyed us by the exhibition of insular arrogance; and only of late had they shown any desire or any ability to understand us. Our attitude to them was not hostile, of course; it was not even unfriendly; but it could hardly be called friendly.

We could not but mark symptoms of relaxing energy in the British Isles. In almost every department of life we beheld what seemed to be a lazy unwillingless to make the resolute effort required if Great Britain was to keep abreast of the march of events. We wondered if the complacency born of former supremacy in discovery and invention, in manufacture, commerce, and finance, might not be bringing about an enfeebling of the fiber of the British. Instead of girding up their loins and setting their house in order, they were willing to waste their time in the bitter and futile debates of petty partizan politics.

The invasion of Belgium awakened the British from their lethargy; and they made it obvious at once that they were neither weak nor lazy when they had to fight for their lives. At the call of the bugle the national will stiffened, and every one of the doubtful symptoms of indifference and incapacity disappeared. It seemed as if John Bull had sweated off his fat and stood erect, lean and

sinewy, as young as if he had been his own grandson. The navy was ready; and army after army was made ready. Every activity of the nation was reorganized, speeded up, and coördinated harmoniously. Loan after loan was oversubscribed, and crushing taxation was borne without a murmur.

More significant than any other sign of strength was the fact that Great Britain made no demand upon her colonies—made, indeed, no appeal to them for help in the hour of need. More significant still is the fact that the oversea dominions sprang to arms at once and voluntarily did their utmost to succor and to support the mother country. Everybody knew that the bond which tied these distant dominions to the island kingdom was loose; but nobody knew that it was unbreakable. The British Empire suddenly became a fact and not a figure of speech.

Its ties have now been sealed by blood. It has today a unity and a solidarity more cohesive than any had dared to hope. And this is because it is not truly an empire, ruled by an emperor wielding undisputed authority; it is a commonwealth of free and self-governing states, with a central administration which exercises no coercion and seeks no service upon compulsion. It came into being haphazard, as the inevitable result of a series of happy accidents; and in the future it will have a consciousness of itself, due to the proud memory of sacrifices in common.

Perhaps no one of the by-products of the war is more immediately important than the regeneration and reinvigoration of the United Kingdom, and than the unification of the scattered territories which constitute the British commonwealth. Yet it may prove that there is another consequence of our taking up arms to fight in alliance with France and England and Italy which will bulk still more largely in history.

We Americans had the tradition of friendship with the French, but we had a tradition of enmity with the English.

The battles of the Revolution and of the War of 1812 occupy much space in our school histories. We remembered only too well the seven years' struggle with the British; but we did not remind ourselves that the King of England we were really fighting was a German who could scarcely speak English, and who was able to hire Hessians from his fellow German rulers. We did not give weight enough to what we knew-that the best men in England were on our side against their German king. We never allowed ourselves to forget that we had had two wars with Great Britain, and that we had been on the brink of a third war more than once in the dark years between Bull Run and Gettysburg.

But this third war had been averted. and we had lived in peace with England for more than a hundred years, with an unguarded frontier of three thousand miles between us and British territory. The English king is not now a German; and the institutions of England have been liberalized decade after decade until now the control of the people over the government in Great Britain is as indisputable as it is in the United States. The inhabitants of the American Union and of the British Empire possess the same language, the same literature, the same law. They are possessed by the same ideals of conduct. They are inspired by the same hopes for the future. As Mr. Balfour said last year in response to an address by the American ambassador at a meeting in London on the Fourth of July:

These hopes and these ideals we have not learned from each other. We have them in common from a common history and from a common ancestry. We have not learned freedom from you nor you from us. We both sprang from the same root, and we both cultivate the same great aims. . . . Will not our descendants, when they come to look back upon this unique episode in the history of the world, say that among the incalcuable circumstances which it produced, the most beneficent and the most permanent is that we are brought together and united for one common purpose in one common understanding—the two great branches of the English-speaking race?

Just as the war forced us in America to revise our opinions of the British, the French, and the Germans, so our own entry into it revealed us to ourselves. It proved that we had not degenerated since 1776 and 1861. It showed that the stock was as sturdy as ever, not lacking "iron in the blood to edge resolve with." It was at once made manifest that superabundant prosperity and long-protracted peace had not combined to breed sloth and corruption.

Maeterlinck had expressed a belief, not uncommon before this conflict began, that "courage, moral and physical endurance, if not forgetfulness of self, renunciation of all comfort, the faculty of sacrifice, the power to face death, belong exclusively to the most primitive, the least happy, the least intelligent of peoples, those who are least capable of reasoning, of taking danger into account." On the very first day of the war his fellow Belgians proved the falsity of Maeterlinck's opinion; and it was promptly contradicted by the conduct of the French and of the British.

The men capable of reasoning and of taking danger into account were found to have a higher courage than that which we find in the most primitive and the least intelligent of peoples. They have physical courage stiffened by moral courage. Their imagination may give them a keener sense of the perils which lie before them, but it does not inhibit them from fronting these perils at the call of duty. War does not create the manly and martial virtues; it merely reveals them and affords immediate occasion for their exercise.

We are naturally inclined to credit the men of 1776 and the men of 1861 with triumphant heroism, but they were not all of heroic temper. The Revolution was won by the Continentals; and on more than one occasion the militia behaved as badly as they did in the War

of 1812. In the Civil War, too, there were thousands of coffee-coolers and bounty-jumpers.

The spirit of the American people is at least as good today as it was in those distant yesterdays; and in one respect it seems to be better—it is less emotional and more sternly moral. Our men are not volunteering with hurrahing hysteria. They have no glamour of glory, no deceptive vision of themselves on horseback waving swords and leading headlong charges. After three years of war it is stripped and bare of all its romantic allurements. It is recognized to be what the British soldier called it—"damn dull, damn dirty, and damn dangerous." Even the hot and adventurous ardor of youth cannot blind men to its perils.

It is with eyes open to what is before them that more than a million men have entered our military services since the United States broke with Germany. Most of them were moved not by the zest of adventure, not by the ardor of youth, not by the stimulus of enthusiasm, but by a resolute sense of duty. They knew that a hard job had to be done, and they felt that it was up to them so see it through. There was no sudden heat in their action, but rather a cold determination, characteristic of men capable of reasoning and of taking danger into account. And perhaps in this respect the temper of the men of 1917 is even finer than the spirit of the men of 1861, who could not know so well what was before them.

Even if this may seem a little fanciful, there is no doubt as to the superiority of 1917 over 1861 in another field—in the making of the whole nation ready for war, in the conserving of its supplies, in the utilization of its energies, and in the coördination of its endeavors.

Never before in the history of the United States has there been a volunteering of the captains of industry, of the men who make things and who do things, of "big business" on the one side and of the labor-unions on the other. Never before have the inventors been mobilized.

as they have been in the Naval Consulting Board, on which they serve without pay and meet all their own expenses. Never before has there ever come into existence a Council of National Defense, made up of men of the highest repute, ready to abandon their own private tasks to work for the public good, giving the nation the benefit of their skill, their experience, and their resourcefulness, without thought of any other reward than their satisfaction in their ability to be of use in the hour of need.

The Council of National Defense and its many subsidiaries, the Committee on Transportation—which has unified all the railroads—the Aircraft Production Board, the General Munitions Board, the General Medical Board, and the Commercial Economy Board, have repeatedly called for the aid of busy men; and these men have instantly abandoned their own business to give their whole time to the service of the nation. Competitors have

been willing to coöperate for the public

No doubt there have been exceptions to this patriotic proffering of personal service; there have been not a few selfish and greedy profiteers; but when at last the war is at an end, and when the time comes for its myriad activities to be seen in perspective, its historians will need to devote an ample share of their records to the setting forth of the deeds of men who did not fight, but who made it possible for the exported army to do the fighting, and who organized the civilian population to avoid waste, to undergo discipline, and to bear its share of the burden. And it is one of the undeniable benefits of the war that we have had disclosed to us the presence in the body politic of citizens of this high type. We might well have hoped that such men existed, even if they were only a few; and now we know that they exist and that they are many.

HORATIO PARKER

A NOTE ON GERMAN MUSIC AND GERMAN IDEAS

Many years of life in Germany have given me opportunity to form opinions at first hand, and frequent traveling between Germany and England a chance to compare the two nations. Not all Germans have horns, hoofs and tails, nor have all the English sunny wings and symmetrical halos, but both races are well represented

by prominent personalities.

My earliest impressions of the Kaiser have been constantly maintained and strengthened by successive reactions to his words and acts. He seems to typify the general æsthetic changes for the worse which we have seen in his race. I believe his great popularity at home rested largely upon the fact that he embodied personally the weaknesses of his nation, in fact all those qualities which Anglo-Saxons most frequently deplore among Germans. The episode of the tenant of Cadinen is most characteristic. He has an infallible, instinctive preference for the spectacular and commonplace in art and music—Roland of Berlin, the Sang an Aegir—the Siegesallee. The reticence of English personalities in this regard is gratifying by comparison.

Some German characteristics are admirable, their social system is in many ways excellent for them and, dissociated from military ideals and practices, much of it would be good for us all, but there is no room in it for neighboring people. The Germans are bad neighbors and they

expect the same of others.

There is however no escape for musicians from their music. There is no more valid substitute for Bach than for work. Although we do not always find in German music the consistent clarity and transparence which so endear French music to us, other qualities equally indispensable are there. The art grew to maturity, to dignity and to worth among Germans

although of late years it shows a development of aims and practices similar to what one finds in their other activities. The deliberately announced and practised renunciation of "absolute music," the lurid, literal, muddy extravagance of recent products suggests, to quote President Nichols' fine phrase, "the ideal of efficiency rather than the efficiency of the ideal."

They are passionate devotees of their beliefs or convictions and their objects of devotion have gradually become lower. Instead of the ethereal heights of Bach we find concrete, detailed specifications of human affairs, often weaknesses or uglinesses. Austerity of thought has given

way to luxuriance.

The work of Richard Strauss gives us the bulk of modern German music. Max Reger ought to be considered, but I search vainly for a third name. No composer was ever technically better equipped than Strauss, yet we find in the Alpine Symphony, his latest large work, a succession of trivial details, a beautiful waterfall, charming musically but rather childish æsthetically, real sheep-bells, twelve hunters with horns in the coat room, et cetera, The veil of mist at the beginning of the work is genial and impressive, a really new idea in music, but the sunrise has been done quite as well by Mendelssohn, and the whole work is altogether unconvincing as to its greatness. It is only fair to say that this is not his best work.

Prejudice of the public and of officials in this country against modern German music is perhaps justifiable, but against the classics it is rather hysterical and quite harmful, for they can neither be spared

nor replaced.

More than other arts music is in a transition state for it is the youngest of them. What effect upon it the war will have can-

not be foretold, but we can hope for better results than have shown themselves as yet. It is as useless to deny the beauty and greatness of classical masterpieces by Germans as to deny the same qualities

in their mountains, but it is safe to expect that extravagances and weaknesses, traceable rather to their ideals than their workmanship, will disappear, leaving the music of the world purer and stronger.

JAMES FORD RHODES

GERMANY'S SHAME

Germany will be beaten, as she is warring against the ideas of the civilized world, and such a conflict can have but one end. Her ruthless submarine warfare is "highway robbery and murder." She carries on war by terror. "The most pathetic victim of this terrible wrong," wrote van Loon, "will be the hale and hearty German of fifty years hence, a lonely figure, shunned by all because of

the barbarities of his fathers—a lasting sacrifice to the injured decency of the human race." He cannot similarly reflect, as the Southerner does when his mind reverts to the Lost Cause, of Sidney Johnston sending on the battlefield his surgeon to care for wounded Union soldiers and of Robert E. Lee enjoining during his invasion into Pennsylvania a scrupulous respect for private property.

THEODORE ROOSEVELT

EXTRACTS FROM THE SPEECH AT PORTLAND, MAINE, MARCH 28, 1918

This country is now involved in the greatest war of all time. In common with the rest of the world it is passing through one of those tremendous crises which lie centuries apart in world history. Under such conditions the question of partizanship sinks into utter insignificance compared with the great question of patriotism, compared with the duty of all of us to act with stern and whole-hearted loyalty to this mighty republic, and to serve the interests of the republic and the ideals which make the republic the hope of the future of mankind. . . . I make precisely such an appeal as I should have made fifty-five years ago, in the days of the Civil War. We stand for the nation now as Lincoln stood for the nation then. We stand against Germany now as he stood against slavery then. In those days the men who demanded peace or kept demanding conferences to talk about peace were the foes of the Union and of liberty. Today they are the foes of liberty and civilization. There is but one way to get a righteous and lasting peace and that is to beat Germany to her knees.

We are pledged to the hilt as a nation to put this war through without flinching until we win the peace of overwhelming victory. We owe this to our own honor and to our future well-being. We owe it to the liberty-loving peoples of mankind. We are pledged to secure for each well-behaved nation the right to control its own destinies and to live undominated and unharmed by others so long as it does not harm others. . . .

We are in this war because of special and intolerable grievance against Germany; because in addition to many other misdeeds she for two years followed a

course of deliberate murder of our unarmed and unoffending citizens, men. women and children; because her continuous and contemptuous maltreatment of our country rendered it imperative for us to go to war in order to ensure our future safety against such maltreatment by any foreign nation. Our first duty is to beat down Germany in order to save ourselves and our belongings, in order to save our women and our children and our homes. We fight for the future of our own dear land, but we are also in the war because in common with all civilized mankind we have been outraged by Germany's callous and cynical brutalities against well-behaved weaker nations. This is a war on behalf of treaties as against scraps of paper; for the freedom of the sea against world enslavement (for Germany has been the real foe of freedom of the seas); it is a war on behalf of small well-behaved nations against the domineering and infinitely cruel arrogance of the brutal and scientific German militarism; a war for helpless women and children against murderers; a war for civilization against barbarism, honor against infamy, right against wrong; a war against the powers of darkness, of death and of hell. As for our own special grievance it is far more serious than any grievance for which ever before we had to fight a foreign foe. Germany has wronged us far more seriously than Great Britain wronged us during the years that led up to our Declaration of Independence. Germany has waged war with utter faithlessness and with inhuman cruelty. The black infamy of her conduct toward Belgium has no parallel in civilized history since the close of the dreadful wars of religion in the seventeenth century. . . . We cannot with honor

accept any inconclusive peace. Our aim is to beat Germany and the allies of Germany and we cannot abandon a single one of our allies, as long as that ally is true to the common cause.

The events of the past three and a half years have brought home to us in startling fashion the truth that in this country the man who is not wholly American and nothing but American is a traitor to America. There can be no such thing as a fifty-fifty allegiance. There are no better Americans in this land than the Americans of German blood who are Americans and nothing else. It is a shame and a disgrace not to treat these men precisely as all other Americans are treated. They are fit to serve in our armies in any position, from the major-general down; they are fit to hold any position in civil life, from President down. But the men of German blood who have tried to be both Germans and Americans are not Americans at all, but traitors to America and tools and servants of Germany against America. Organizations like the German-American Alliance have served Germany against America. Hereafter we must see that the melting-pot really does melt. There should be but one language in this country—the English language. We require of all immigrants who come hither to become citizens that they shall specifically forswear allegiance to the land from which they came as well as swear allegiance to this land. Hereafter we must see to it that this oath is observed in spirit as well as in letter; and that the men born here, of whatever blood, and whether their ancestors have lived in this land for generations or came here from some foreign land, are brought up as Americans and as nothing else, speaking as their own tongue the speech of Washington and Lincoln; and knowing loyalty to but one flag, the flag that floats over our armies now, the flag that was carried by our fathers when in their days the storm of war blew over the land, the flag that was borne by their fathers and fathers' fathers up the red heights of danger to the summits of glory and honor. . . .

The men under Pershing reflect honor on this republic precisely because they have those qualities of courage, hardihood, resourcefulness and energy which were possessed by the men who followed Sheridan and Stonewall Jackson, by the men who followed Mad Anthony Wayne and Light Horse Harry Lee. So it is with the great and complex machinery of our industrial and social life. The simple governmental processes which sufficed in the days of Washington and even in the days of Lincoln are as utterly inadequate today in peace as the flintlock of Bunker Hill and the smooth-bore muskets of Bull Run would be in war. We cannot afford to tolerate flintlock methods of warfare in time of war, or flintlock methods of government for meeting the problems of industry in time of peace. We need new weapons. But we need the old spirit back of the new weapons. We need to show the same combination of idealism and of hard-headed common sense, of indignation against wrong and sober caution against being misled into foolish action against wrong, that our forefathers have shown in both the great national crises of the past. We need to show generosity of heart and also soundness of head. We need courage; we need common sense—for without courage and common sense we shall not work out our salvation. But even more we need to show in our relations with one another here within our own boundaries and in our relations with the rest of the nations of mankind, that quality for the lack of which no other qualities atone, that quality—itself the sum of many qualities -lacking which no nation can ever attain to true greatness: the quality of character —character which neither does wrong nor suffers wrong; character which will rather do right to its own hurt than profit by evil done others.

Let us judge each man on his worth as a man; for the line of cleavage between good men and bad men runs through every class. There are some bad men in every rank of life. Yet I believe that in every rank of life the good men far outnumber the bad. Trouble generally comes from failure to understand one another, and therefore failure to sympathize with one another's needs and feelings and purposes. Let us try to look at all the puzzling questions that arise with our brother's eyes as well as with our own. Lincoln laid down the great needs for us to meet. This is the people's government—our government, friends, yours and mine. It must be a government of the people; for everybody must be governed, must be con-

trolled, and if there is not self-control there will in the end be alien control; if we do not govern ourselves somebody else will surely govern us. It must be government by the people; by all of us; not merely by some of us. It must be government for the people; again for all the people, not merely some of us; not for a mob, nor for a plutocracy, but for all decent, well-behaved men and women. Woe to those who would sunder us, brother from brother, along the lines either of envy or of arrogance!

HIS LAST PUBLIC MESSAGE

Mr. Roosevelt's death occurred on the 6th of January, 1919. On the 2nd he wrote the letter which follows to the American Defense Society in response to an invitation. On the night of the 5th it was read in New York at a public meeting under the auspices of the Society.

I cannot be with you and so all I can do is wish you godspeed.

There must be no sagging back in the fight for Americanism, merely because the war is over. There are plenty of persons who have already made the assertion that they believe the American people have a short memory and that they intend to revive all the foreign associations which most directly interfere with the complete Americanization of our people.

Our principle in this matter should be absolutely simple. In the first place we should insist that if the immigrant who comes here in good faith becomes an American and assimilates himself to us, he shall be treated on an exact equality with every one else, for it is an outrage to discriminate against any such man because of creed or birthplace or origin.

But this is predicated upon the man's

becoming in fact an American and nothing but an American. If he tries to keep segregated with men of his own origin and separated from the rest of America, then he isn't doing his part as an American.

There can be no divided allegiance here. Any man who says he is an American, but something else also, isn't an American at all. We have room for but one flag the American flag, and this excludes the red flag, which symbolizes all wars against liberty and civilization, just as much as it excludes any foreign flag of a nation to which we are hostile.

We have room for but one language here and that is the English language, for we intend to see that the crucible turns our people out as Americans, of American nationality, and not as dwellers in a polyglot boarding house; and we have room for but one soul loyalty, and that is loyalty to the American people.

ELIHU ROOT

I

THE ISSUES OF THE WAR

Extract from an Address Before the National Security League, Chicago, September 14, 1917

This is a war of defense. It is perfectly described in the words of the Constitution which established this nation: "To provide for the common defense" and "To secure the blessings of liberty to ourselves

and our posterity."

The national defense demands not merely force, but intelligence. It requires foresight, consideration of the policies and purposes of other nations, understanding of the inevitable or probable consequence of the acts of other nations, judgment as to the time when successful defense may be made, and when it will be too late, and prompt action before it is too late.

By entering this war in April, the United States availed itself of the very last opportunity to defend itself against subjection to German power before it was too late to defend itself successfully.

For many years we have pursued our peaceful course of internal development protected in a variety of ways. We were protected by the law of nations to which all civilized governments have professed their allegiance. So long as we committed no injustice ourselves we could not be attacked without a violation of that law. We were protected by a series of treaties under which all the principal nations of the earth agreed to respect our rights and to maintain friendship with us. We were protected by an extensive system of arbitration created by or consequent upon the peace conferences at The Hague, and under which all controversies arising under the law and under treaties were to be settled peaceably by arbitration and not by force. We were protected by the broad expanse of ocean separating us from all great military powers, and by the bold assertion of the Monroe Doctrine that if any of those powers undertook to overpass the ocean and establish itself upon these western continents that would be regarded as dangerous to the peace and safety of the United States, and would call upon her to act in her defense. We were protected by the fact that the policy and fleet of Great Britain were well known to support the Monroe Doctrine. We were protected by the delicate balance of power in Europe, which made it seem not worth while for any power to engage in a conflict here at the risk of suffering from its rivals there.

All these protections were swept away by the war which began in Europe in 1914. The war was begun by the concerted action of Germany and Austria—the invasion of Serbia on the east by Austria and the invasion of Luxemburg and Belgium on the west by Germany. Both invasions were in violation of the law of nations, and in violation of the faith of treaties.

Everybody knew that Russia was bound in good faith to come to the relief of Serbia, that France was bound by treaty to come to the aid of Russia, that England was bound by treaty to come to the aid of Belgium, so that the invasion of these two small states was the beginning of a general European war.

These acts, which have drenched the world with blood, were defended and justified in the bold avowal of the German government that the interests of the German state were superior to the obligations of law and the faith of treaties; that no law or treaty was binding upon Germany which it was for the interest of Germany to violate.

All pretense of obedience to the law of nations and of respect for solemn promises was thrown off; and, in lieu of that system of lawful and moral restraint upon power which Christian civilization has been building up for a century was reinstated the cynical philosophy of Frederick the Great, the greatest of the Hohenzollerns, who declares:

"Statesmanship can be reduced to three principles: First, to maintain your power, and, according to circumstances, to extend it. Second, to form an alliance only for your own advantage. Third, to command fear and respect, even in the most disastrous times.

"Do not be ashamed of making interested alliances from which yourself can derive the whole advantage. Do not make the foolish mistake of not breaking them when you be-

lieve your interests require it.

"Above all, uphold the following maxim: To despoil your neighbors is to deprive them

of the means of injuring you.

"When he is about to conclude a treaty with some foreign power, if a sovereign remembers he is a Christian, he is lost."

From 1914 until the present, in a war waged by Germany with a revolting barbarity unequaled since the conquests of Genghis Khan, Germany has violated every rule agreed upon by civilized nations in modern times to mitigate the barbarities of war or to protect the rights of non-combatants and neutrals. She had no grievance against Belgium except that Belgium stood upon her admitted rights and refused to break the faith of her treaties by consenting that the neutrality of her territory should be violated to give Germany an avenue for the attack upon France.

The German Kaiser has taken possession of the territory of Belgium and subjected her people to the hard yoke of a brutal soldiery. He has extorted vast sums from her peaceful cities. He has burned her towns and battered down her noble churches. He has stripped the Belgian factories of their machinery and deprived them of the raw material of manufacture. He has carried away her workmen by tens of thousands into slav-

ery, and her women into worse than slavery. He has slain peaceful non-combatants by the hundred, undeterred by the helplessness of age, of infancy, or of womanhood. He has done the same in northern France, in Poland, in Serbia, in Roumania. In all of these countries women have been outraged by the thousand, by tens of thousands, and who ever heard of a German soldier being punished for rape, or robbery, or murder?

These revolting outrages upon humanity and law are not the casual incidents of war, but are the results of a settled policy of frightfulness answering to the maxim of Frederick the Great to "command"

respect through fear."

Why were these things done by Germany? The answer rests upon the accumulated evidence of German acts and German words so conclusive that no pretense can cover it, no sophistry can disguise it. The answer is that this war was begun and these crimes against humanity were done because Germany was pursuing the hereditary policy of the Hohenzollerns and following the instinct of the arrogant military caste which rules Prussia, to grasp the overlordship of the civilized world and establish an empire in which she should play the rôle of ancient Rome. They were done because Prussian militarism still pursues the policy of power through conquest, of aggrandizement through force and fear, which in little more than two centuries has brought the puny mark of Brandenburg with its million and a half of people to the control of a vast empire—the greatest armed force of the modern world.

It now appears beyond the possibility of doubt that this war was made by Germany pursuing a long and settled purpose. For many years she had been preparing to do exactly what she has done, with a thoroughness, a perfection of plans, and a vastness of provision in men, munitions and supplies never before equaled or approached in human history. She brought the war on when she chose, because she chose, in the belief that she could conquer the earth, nation by nation.

All nations are egotistical, all peoples think most highly of their own qualities, and regard other peoples as inferior; but the egotism of the ruling class of Prussia is beyond all example and it is active and aggressive. They believe that Germany is entitled to rule the world by virtue of her superiority in all these qualities which they include under the term "Kultur," and by reason of her power to compel submission by the sword.

That belief does not evaporate in theory. It is translated into action, and this war is the action which results. This belief of national superiority and the right to assert it everywhere is a tradition from the great Frederick. It has been instilled into the minds of the German people through all the universities and schools. It has been preached from her pulpits and taught by her philosophers and historians. It has been maintained by her government and it will never cease to furnish the motive for the people of Prussia so long as German power enables the military autocracy of Prussia to act upon it with success.

Plainly if the power of the German government is to continue, America can no longer look for protection to the law of nations or the faith of treaties or the instincts of humanity or the restraints of modern civilization.

Plainly, also, if we had stayed out of the war and Germany had won there would no longer have been a balance of power in Europe or a British fleet to support the Monroe Doctrine and protect America. Does any one indulge in the foolish assumption that Germany would not then have extended her lust for power by conquest to the American continent? Let him consider what it is for which the nations of Europe have been chiefly contending for centuries past.

It has been for colonies. It has been to bring the unoccupied or weakly held spaces of the earth under their flags and their political control, in order to increase their trade and their power.

Spain, Holland, Portugal, England, France, have all had their turn, and have

covered the earth with their possessions. For thirty years Germany, the last comer, has been pressing forward with feverish activity the acquisition of stations for her power on every coast and every sea, restive and resentful because she has been obliged to take what others have left.

Europe, Asia and Africa have been taken up. The Americas alone remain. Here in the vast and undefended spaces of the new world, fraught with potential wealth incalculable, Germany could "find her place in the sun," to use her emperor's phrase; Germany could find her "liberty of national evolution," to use his phrase again. Every traditional policy, every instinct of predatory Prussia, would urge her into this new field of aggrandizement.

What would prevent? The Monroe Doctrine? Yes. But what is the Monroe Doctrine as against a nation which respects only force, unless it can be maintained by force? We already know how the German government feels about the Monroe Doctrine.

Bismarck declared it to be a piece of colossal impudence; and, when President Roosevelt interfered to assert the Doctrine for the protection of Venezuela, the present Kaiser declared that if he had then had a larger navy he would have taken America by the scruff of the neck.

If we had stayed out of the war, and Germany had won, we should have had to defend the Monroe Doctrine by force or abandon it; and if we abandoned it there would have been a German naval base in the Caribbean commanding the Panama Canal, depriving us of that strategic line which unites our eastern and western coasts, and depriving us of the protection the expanse of ocean once gave; and an America unable or unwilling to protect herself against the establishment of a German naval base in the Caribbean would lie at the mercy of Germany, and subject to Germany's orders. America's independence would be gone unless she was ready to fight for it, and her security would thenceforth be not a security of freedom, but only a security purchased by submission.

But if America had staved out of the war and Germany had won, could we have defended the Monroe Doctrine? Could we have maintained our independence? For an answer to that question consider what we have been doing since the 2d of April last, when war was declared.

Congress has been in continuous session passing with unprecedented rapidity laws containing grants of power and of money unexampled in our history. The executive establishment has been straining every nerve to prepare for war. The ablest and strongest leaders of industrial activity have been called from all parts of the country to aid the government. The people of the country have generously responded with noble loyalty and enthusiasm to the call for the surrender of money and of customary rights, and the supply of men to the service of the country.

Nearly half a year has passed, and still we are not ready to fight. I am not blaming the government. It was inevitable. Preparation for modern war cannot be made briefly or speedily. It requires time-long periods of time; and the more peaceful and unprepared for war a democracy is, the longer is the time

required.

It would have required just as long for America to prepare for war if we had stayed out of this war and Germany had won and we had undertaken then to defend the Monroe Doctrine or to defend our coasts when we had lost the protection of the Monroe Doctrine. Month after month would have passed with no adequate army ready to fight, just as these recent months have passed.

But what would Germany have been doing in the meantime? How long would it have been before our attempts at preparation would have been stopped by German arms? A country that is forced to defend itself against the aggression of a military autocracy always prepared for war must herself be prepared for war beforehand or she never will have the opportunity to prepare.

The history, the character, the avowed principles of action, the manifest and undisguised purposes of the German autocracy made it clear and certain that if America stayed out of the great war, and Germany won, America would forthwith be required to defend herself and would be unable to defend herself against the same lust for conquest, the same will to dominate the world, which has made

Europe a bloody shambles.

When Germany did actually apply her principles of action to us; when by the invasion of Belgium she violated the solemn covenant she had made with us to observe the law of neutrality established for the protection of peaceful states; when she had arrogantly demanded that American commerce should surrender its lawful right of passage upon the high seas under penalty of destruction; when she had sunk American ships and sent to their death hundreds of American citizens, peaceful men, women, and children; when the Gulflight and the Falaba and the Persia and the Arabic and the Sussex and the Lusitania had been torpedoed without warning, in contempt of law and of humanity; when the German embassy at Washington had been found to be the headquarters of a vast conspiracy of corruption within our country, inciting sedition and concealing infernal machines in the cargoes of our ships and blowing up our factories with the workmen laboring in them, and when the government of Germany had been discovered attempting to incite Mexico and Japan to form a league with her to attack us and to bring about a dismemberment of our territory, then the question presented to the American people was not what shall be done regarding each of these specific aggressions taken by itself, but what shall be done by America to defend her commerce, her territory, her citizens, her independence, her liberty, her life as a nation against the continuance of assaults already begun by that mighty and conscienceless power which has swept aside every restraint and every principle of Christian civilization and is seeking to force upon a subjugated world the dark and cruel rule of a barbarous past?

The question was how shall peaceful and unprepared and liberty loving America save herself from subjection to the military power of Germany? There was but one possible answer. There was but one chance for rescue and that was to act at once while the other democracies of the world were still maintaining their liberty against the oppressor, to prepare at once while the armies and the navies of England and France and Italy and Russia and Roumania were holding down Germany so that she could not attack us while our preparation was but half accomplished, to strike while there were allies loving freedom like ourselves to strike with us, to do our share to prevent the German Kaiser from acquiring that domination over the world which would have left us without friends to aid us, without preparation, and without the possibility of successful defense.

The instinct of the American democracy which led it to act when it did arose from a long delayed and reluctant consciousness still vague and half expressed, that this is no ordinary war which the world is waging. It is no contest for petty policies and profits. It is a mighty and all-embracing struggle between two conflicting principles of human right and human duty. It is a conflict between the divine right of kings to govern mankind through armies and nobles, and the right of the peoples of the earth who toil and endure and aspire to govern themselves by law in the freedom of individual manhood. It is the climax of the supreme struggle between autocracy and democracy. No nation can stand aside and be free from its effects. The two systems cannot endure together in the same world. If autocracy triumphs, military power lustful of dominion, supreme in strength, intolerant of human rights, holding itself superior to law, to morals, to faith, to compassion, will crush out the free democracies of the world. If autocracy is defeated and nations are compelled to recognize the rule of law and of morals, then and then only will democracy be safe.

To this great conflict for human rights and human liberty America has committed herself. There can be no backward step. There must be either humiliating and degrading submission or terrible defeat or glorious victory. It was no human will that brought us to this pass. It was not the President. It was not Congress. It was not the press. It was not any political party. It was not any section or part of our people. It was that in the providence of God the mighty forces that determine the destinies of mankind beyond the control of human purpose have brought to us the time, the occasion, the necessity, that this peaceful people so long enjoying the blessings of liberty and justice for which their fathers fought and sacrificed shall again gird themselves for conflict, and with all the forces of manhood nurtured and strengthened by liberty offer again the sacrifice of possessions and of life itself, that this nation may still be free, that the mission of American democracy shall not have failed, that the world shall be free.

П

OUR INTEREST IN THE VIOLATION OF BELGIUM

EXTRACT FROM ADDRESS BEFORE THE NEW YORK REPUBLICAN CONVENTION, FEBRUARY 15, 1916

The American democracy stands for something more than beef and cotton and grain and manufactures; stands for something that cannot be measured by rates of exchange, and does not rise or fall with the balance of trade. The American people achieved liberty and schooled themselves to the service of justice before they acquired wealth, and they value their country's liberty and

iustice above all their pride of possessions. Beneath their comfortable optimism and apparent indifference they have a conception of their great republic as brave and strong and noble to hand down to their children the blessings of freedom and just and equal laws. They have embodied their principles of government in fixed rules of right conduct which they iealously preserve, and, with the instinct of individual freedom, they stand for a government of laws and not of men. They deem that the moral laws which formulate the duties of men towards each other are binding upon nations equally with individuals. Informed by their own experience, confirmed by their observation of international life, they have come to see that the independence of nations, the liberty of their peoples, justice and humanity, cannot be maintained upon the good nature, the kindly feeling, of the strong towards the weak: that real independence, real liberty, cannot rest upon sufferance; that peace and liberty can be preserved only by the authority and observance of rules of national conduct founded upon the principles of justice and humanity; only by the establishment of law among nations, responsive to the enlightened public opinion of mankind. To them liberty means not liberty for themselves alone, but for all who are oppressed. Justice means not justice for themselves alone, but a shield for all who are weak against the aggression of the strong. When their deeper natures are stirred they have a spiritual vision in which the spread and perfection of free self-government shall rescue the humble who toil and endure, from the hideous wrongs inflicted upon them by ambition and lust for power, and they cherish in their heart of hearts an ideal of their country loyal to the mission of liberty for the lifting up of the oppressed and bringing in the rule of righteousness and peace.

To this people, the invasion of Belgium brought a shock of amazement and horror. The people of Belgium were peaceable, industrious, law-abiding, self-

governing and free. They had no quarrel with any one on earth. They were attacked by overwhelming military power; their country was devastated by fire and sword: they were slain by tens of thousands; their independence was destroyed and their liberty was subjected to the rule of an invader, for no other cause than that they defended their admitted rights. There was no question of fact; there was no question of law; there was not a plausible pretense of any other cause. The admitted rights of Belgium stood in the way of a mightier nation's purpose: and Belgium was crushed. When the true nature of these events was realized, the people of the United States did not hesitate in their feeling or in their judgment. Deepest sympathy with downtrodden Belgium and stern condemnation of the invader were virtually universal. Wherever there was respect for law, it revolted against the wrong done to Belgium. Wherever there was true passion for liberty, it blazed out for Belgium. Wherever there was humanity, it mourned for Belgium. As the realization of the truth spread, it carried a vague feeling that not merely sentiment but loyalty to the eternal principles of right was involved in the attitude of the American people. And it was so, for if the nations were to be indifferent to this first great concrete case for a century of military power trampling under foot at will the independence, the liberty and the life of a peaceful and unoffending people in repudiation of the faith of treaties and the law of nations and of morality and of humanity-if the public opinion of the world was to remain silent upon that, neutral upon that, then all talk about peace and justice and international law and the rights of man, the progress of humanity and the spread of liberty is idle patter-mere weak sentimentality; then opinion is powerless and brute force rules and will rule the world. If no difference is recognized between right and wrong, then there are no moral standards. There come times in the lives of nations as of men when to treat wrong as if it were right is treason to the right.

The American people were entitled not merely to feel but to speak concerning the wrong done to Belgium. It was not like interference in the internal affairs of Mexico or any other nation, for this was an international wrong. The law protecting Belgium which was violated was our law and the law of every other civilized country. For generations we had been urging on and helping in its development and establishment. We had spent our efforts and our money to that end. In legislative resolution and executive declaration and diplomatic correspondence and special treaties and international conferences and conventions we had played our part in conjunction with other civilized countries in making that law. We had bound ourselves by it; we had regulated our conduct by it; and we were entitled to have other nations observe it. That law was the protection of our peace and security. It was our safeguard against the necessity of maintaining great armaments and wasting our substance in continual readiness for war. Our interest in having it maintained as the law of nations was a substantial, valuable, permanent interest, just as real as your interest and mine in having maintained and enforced the laws against assault and robbery and arson which protect our personal safety and property. Moreover, that law was written into a solemn and formal convention, signed and ratified by Germany and Belgium and France and the United States in which those other countries agreed with us that the law should be observed. When Belgium was invaded that agreement was binding not only morally but strictly and technically, because there was then no nation a party to the war which was not also a party to the convention. The invasion of Belgium was a breach of contract with us for the maintenance of a law of nations which was the protection of our peace, and the interest which sustained the contract justified an objection to its There was no question here of interfering in the quarrels of Europe. We had a right to be neutral and we were neutral as to the quarrel between Germany and France, but when as an incident to the prosecution of that quarrel Germany broke the law which we were entitled to have preserved, and which she had agreed with us to preserve, we were entitled to be heard in the assertion of our own national right. With the right to speak came responsibility, and with responsibility came duty-duty of government towards all the peaceful men and women in America not to acquiesce in the destruction of the law which protected them, for if the world assents to this great and signal violation of the law of nations, then the law of nations no longer exists and we have no protection save in subserviency or in force. And with the right to speak there came to this, the greatest of neutral nations, the greatest of free democracies, another duty to the cause of liberty and justice for which America stands; duty to the ideals of America's nobler nature; duty to the honor of her past and the hopes of her future; for this law was a bulwark of peace and justice to the world; it was a barrier to the spread of war; it was a safeguard to the independence and liberty of all small, weak states. It marks the progress of civilization. If the world consents to its destruction, the world turns backwards towards savagery, and America's assent would be America's abandonment of the mission of democracy.

WILLIAM M. SLOANE

EXTRACTS FROM A HISTORY OF PEACE

Public Lectures Delivered in Several Universities, 1917-1918

Ι

But as the war progressed it proved a more desperate struggle than had been deemed possible, and elements of brutal ruthlessness which might have been foreseen, but were not, began to distress not only the belligerents, but substantially the entire civilized world. It has proved to be not merely a struggle for the seizure of power in the less civilized parts of the earth, but the grim array of two types of civilization, our own and that of Germany, for their very existence. Into this titanic struggle we have thrown ourselves whole-heartedly for the maintenance of self-respect in part, but largely from a sense of the most imperative duty to preserve the institutions and traditions not merely dear to us, as they are, but essential to the only life we are able to live—for self-preservation as well as for self-respect. Dimly and vaguely conscious of this as we finally are we begin, as other great powers are doing, to ask ourselves for what we are appealing to that last awful tribunal of bloodshed: not what we want in the large, which seems clear enough, but what we must fix in detail. Some are saying that we war for nationality, some for democracy, and many for the liberation of enslaved peoples from the bondage of autocracy: more clearly stated, for nationality everywhere such as we possess at home, for democratic government everywhere such as we maintain in America, for liberty under law such as Americans demand and enjoy. Those who have read history superficially talk, as if it were a matter of absolute right, not of expediency and right, about restoring the stolen Schleswig-Holstein to Denmark, the stolen Alsace-Lorraine to France, the stolen Savoy to Italy; Poland and Finland to independence, Persia to autonomy, the Slavs of Austria-Hungary to equal rights with Germans and Magyars under the Hapsburgs, the Shantung peninsula to China, Ireland to home rule, and all the dependencies of the United States to self-government. Of course these are only samples: there are eighteen peoples and nations within the former confines of Russia; there are certainly two Chinas, perhaps three; within the Balkan peninsula are five different claimants to self-directing nationality.

To those who have deeply studied history these are not the words of soberness and sense. Since the world began there have been aggregations of individuals united by blood or territory but mainly by common interest, the resbublica: throughout the ages some have shown capacity for self-government, some have not. Society in the large sense had its origins not in physical strength; there never were gorilla communities reliant on their own brute strength for protection against marauders, while simultaneously practicing the arts of peace in the tillage of their fields. There was no uplift toward civilization in the hunter stage, and no smooth transition from that to the nomadic and further to the settled occupations of fields, villages and towns. In every case known to research there were wars and convulsions from which guile, that is, mind, emerged triumphant over brute force. It was the union of this with physical weakness which produced the strength essential to security: there was of course constant warfare, but fortification, tactics and strategy, however primitive, overwhelmed sheer brute onset; organization conquered numbers, nerve power, which is will-power, began the never-ceasing push of animalism back

into the limbo of impotence. Then history began; ideals were formed; the statesman outran the general, even, in all that makes for progress. Why civilization moved westward to Europe and crossed the Atlantic is understood and can be explained, but not in a few words. The fact is sufficient and the vestiges of its march are an open book to the traveler. What was initially true remained true; so completely true that around the globe there were and are degrees of culture among persons and peoples, that the inequality of adaptation to high forms of living is glaring, that the social institutions of the few are absolutely impossible to the many, that politics must fit a nation like a garment and that misfits cause unrest with recourse to violence. Past and present are words totally destitute of meaning in the grand politics of our planet. The past is in the present, it is here and now as regards institutions, laws and forms of government.

We cannot burn this fact deep enough into our souls. It is a crime against humanity to think of other peoples in terms of ourselves and our folkways; in terms of our ideals and efforts to realize them. There is no reprobation sufficient for that trend toward intervention of a narrow self-sufficiency which conceives of the savage, the barbarian, the man of the tribe, the city-state; and of the modern nation in its varied forms as either desiring or needing the complexities of free democracy. How far even we ourselves are fit to work the most perplexing and expensive system of government ever devised is as yet undetermined. But for the free chance, the unhampered opportunity to realize our ideals, we do and will sweat money and blood; we lay, and, please God, we ever will lay our lives and fortunes on the altar of political liberty. Hitherto we have made our enormous sacrifices for ourselves and those within our gates; henceforth, we make the same freewill offering for the great world without, in so far as it desires our gifts and can by their acceptance strengthen its own purposes and fructify the blossoms of its own aspiration. We shall indeed be foolish if in the coming peace there is any effort, successful or otherwise, to impose on any or all the stratified humanity of the world our dim, vague, yet precious and vital notions of nationality, constitutional government, or of democracy, that iridescent arch of promise in our heaven.

Such a preamble to peace negotiation would probably chill many ardent reformers and be stigmatized as reactionary. But the plea is hypocritical and Pharisaic because the merest wayfarer can read the clear truth: peace stability depends on national institutions being a good fit, and no institutions from a secondhand shop will fit any single nation when the war is over. Japan wants a limited autocracy-strange oriental contradiction in terms-and has it. What Russia or the many Russias desire they must secure; either anarchy or monarchy with or without checks and balances. France must remain a centralized republic or oligarchy, as it is, or else turn federal republic, as has been proposed. And so on throughout the list; with stable governments there can be peace, without them none. There are careful thinkers holding the conviction that when Bismarck set up the Thiers government and gave it the prestige of ending the war of 1870, he knew the device could barely outlast a generation. If we want an armistice, let us by all means set up governments which correspond to our own notions; if we want peace, let the respective peoples set up their own in order to have within their borders the only peace which can insure peace without.

H

This is a novelty in the relation of nations to each other because in the passing and antecedent ages the contracting parties under international law have without exception had governments imposed on them by the hard hand of history or custom, or else by the hostile temper of each nation regarding every other. The only country working a system made by a

constitutional or constituent assembly is our own; and to this single fact we owe the rock-ribbed durability of the constitutions under which we live, state and federal. How shameful such an outcome! many will exclaim. Perhaps. It remains a fact that "shame in the mantle of profit or advantage to its citizens has ever been pronounced wisdom." There is no inherent absolute right in sentimentality or emotionalism; neither is there any in the pragmatism based on ruthless, selfish practicality. But in negotiating a peace with a people content in its particular form of government there is no emotionalism whatever and no pragmatism, there is just an effort to secure what the world has set out to get. Antecedent to the conclusion of the next world-charter the peoples must—not by plebiscite, a futile deceptive tricky device, but in representa-

tive assemblies-select and instruct their negotiators, responsible delegates of the popular will, constitutional bodies with power to maintain or to discard the men and groups who have made and conducted the war. Mere appointees of a party machine or a ruling caste cannot negotiate anything stable and bring in the reign of new principles in international relations. If theoretical independence is to be replaced by actual interdependence the fact must be proclaimed; if not, there can be no enduring peace. Mephistopheles declares: "I am a part of the force which. ever desiring evil, yet always creates the good." Possibly there is something basic in good resulting from evil, as it does; but impatient democracy calls for a good beginning that there may be surely a good end.

EXTRACT FROM A HISTORY OF DEMOCRACY

Public Lectures Delivered before Several Universities, 1917-1918

"I must have liberty withal, as large a charter as the wind," said the melancholy Jaques, "To blow on whom I please." This is the democracy of peace, but that of war is quite another matter. Beneath, above and around the democracy of war is liberty to choose superiors, to serve and to sacrifice; the liberty of stern duty, freedom from selfishness. Radical democracy in war spurns subordination and promotes coördination; conservative democracy exacts subordination and obedience to authority, once constituted. It supports the administration; the other hampers it. One is quick and determined; the other noisy and impulsive, or else sullen and silent. Radicals cry peace when there is no peace and invite attack by unreadiness; conservatives prevent war by preparedness for it in time of peace. The latter concentrate responsibility in elected officials for long terms; the former swap horses while crossing the stream. To these, any man suffices for any emergency at any instant; to those,

confidence in experience, character and previous training is axiomatic.

Competency and efficiency are on one side: on the other, unshaken faith in all human nature and trust in spontaneity, as the lively hope of victory. Spontaneity has gone far, will go far again; but ultimate victory comes when holocausts of human victims have been offered at its shrine, and after the one most gifted man having been made responsible, has welded his self-willed democrats into obedient ironsides. Cromwell did this; Napoleon did it; neither proved able either to make a lasting peace or to triumph as a peaceful administrator. Yet emergency requires the man and if he come forward as did Lincoln and Grant the country is saved nationally, institutionally and morally. The close of our Civil War was the conclusive proof of democratic efficiency in war as well as in peace. The conqueror firmly commanded a peace and dismissed himself with a veteran soldiery to peaceful pursuits; while a democratic people,

blended of radicals and conservatives, promptly, over-hastily, perhaps, but not ungenerously, began the work of reconciliation and reconstruction, happily concluded within the brief space of a single generation.

In war the greatest thing is not heroism, nor scientific murder, nor machinery, nor even discipline and tactics: it always was and remains strategy, which is the art of winning victory with the least possible destruction either of life or of property. Examined from this point of view, monarchy and aristocracy have on the whole had the best of it in warfare. Washington was a consummate strategist and in a society like that of eighteenth century America could prove it. So could Lee in the Civil War, emerging as he did from a similar society and acting through its organs. Probably McClellan was the prominent strategist and army-builder of the northern side, but his fondness for compromise, his stern militarism and his pathetic concern for the lives and wellbeing of his soldiers were so resented by impatient democracy as to relegate him to temporary obscurity. The wars of radical democracy during the first French republic, in our own later struggles, and in South Africa, were bloody and destructive of material resources; yes, even ruthless and unprincipled and atrocious. Despair begets madness and scouts agreements made in time of peace to ameliorate warlike brutality. There is a strategy of peace as well as of war: there would have been no Civil War in America had we possessed an army proportionate to the then existing navy in size, in discipline, and in loyalty. It was a thoroughly democratic navy, far more democratic than the army, because its personnel was far removed in the performance of duty from political strife and social pretensions. It saw the country from without as well as from within, and the sailors of every rank from every section were, with rare exceptions, passionately loyal to the Union. Our navy was and remains a superb example of democratic efficiency for purposes of defensive war.

Provided we avoid the loose thinking that accompanies uncertain language, and reduce the concept of democracy to the definite limits expressed by a state of mind, we shall see the world of to-day as it Emperor, king, president, consul or chief magistrate; he is a monarch absolute, says the people, while and when he does our will. Even the papacy, in the opinion of the most learned doctors of the church throughout the ages, expresses the will of God because founded on the will of the people: vox populi, vox dei. At bottom all secular and political thought is, though it should not be, deistic rather than theistic, and this god in the form of popular will which sets up states and systems, even ecclesiastical rule, is a mere adumbration of the God who created men as political beings, even in their embryonic societies founded on guile, perpetuated in brains, and, by long-suffering, developed into nations. All government apparently rests on the deistic concept, even democratic government in its narrowest and concretest sense of rule by public opinion through powers adapted to make democracy efficient alike in its peaceful evolution, and in its defense against mob rule or foreign attack. Two things are essential to efficiency, efficient citizens and an efficient system. Of neither is there an absolute standard.

In the long vistas of democratic evolution, popular opinion has employed every known form of social order and organization, monarchy and tyranny; aristocracy and oligarchy, politeia and democracy. Trial has been made of despotism, of conspiracy, of ochlocracy: each and all devices to put base men into power, each and all they have been discarded, often after discouraging, heartrending struggle and sacrifice, but they have been discarded. Survivals of course there are: of privilege, personal and class; of unequal representation and legislation, of judicial perversion and misprision of justice. But for all that, the diplomacy of democracy, the moral and material well-being under democracy, the swift, stern retort of war by democracy, all alike

stand, if not as examples, at least as encouragements to believe that in nothing is democracy feebler and that in most things it is healthier than other systems of society and politics. The divine right of the people is only another form of the divine right of kings as understood in our day. The president has just as much divine right in his representative character, and of the same kind, as a hereditary monarch. since everywhere and among all classes of civilized man the right to overturn a throne is the first article of faith. Expediency is of course another matter. What is expedient in the United States of America we ourselves admit in practice is inexpedient and impossible in the United States of Mexico. The American doctrine of recognition was for a time based on the de facto principle: under the changed conditions of the Civil War and of international relations on this continent, it has reverted to the de jure principle in many startling instances. Consistency in public law and foreign policy is far to seek. When Napoleon violated the neutrality of the little Duchy of Anhalt there were shouts of execration from all the monarchies; when the same monarchies adopted the Metternich system and violated the neutrality of the Sicilies and of Spain there was almost universal applause. Aristocracies and democracies have been exactly as inconsistent one as the other. The appeal to self-preservation, the declaration that the state is in danger seems to justify any breach of faith. and to turn treaties into waste paper.

Many of you will remember that when Panurge proposed a "problematick" theme: to wit whether he should marry or not marry, the faithful Trouillogan at first replied, yea or nay, both together; then on second thought he opined not the one nor the other. Which answers the mystified Panurge characterized as repugnant and contradictory, exclaiming that he understands them not. Gargantua recalled the philosopher who said he owned his wife, although she did not own him. Rondibilis considered the answers like the "neuter in physick," neither sick

nor healthful; or like the mean in philosophy, the abnegation of both extremes. Hippothades quoted the apostle: Those that are married, let them be as if they were not married: and those that have wives let them be as if they had no wives at all. I thus interpret, quoth Pantagruel with finality the having and not having of a wife. To have a wife is to use her as nature hath ordained for the aid, society and solace of man, and propagating of his race: To have no wife is not to be uxorious, play the coward and be lazy about her and not for her sake to disdain the lustre of that affection which man owes to God; or yet to leave for her those offices and duties which he owes unto his country, unto his friends and kindred: or for her to abandon and forsake his precious studies and business of account: to wait still on her will, her beck, and her vapors. If we be pleased in this sense to consider the "having" and "not having" a wife we shall indeed find no repugancy or contradiction in the terms at all.

Our western world is wedded to democracy. There can be no question of "to marry or not to marry." Of "yea and nay, both together," and on second thought of "not the one nor the other," there is a large and grave question, and the best answer for us is that of Pantagruel. We are not to be uxorious and play the coward, not for democracy's sake to scorn God and common sense, not to neglect the offices and duties we owe to country, friends and kindred, our precious studies and business of account. Democracy exists for the aid and solace of Man and is to be used as nature hath ordained. You can no more circumscribe the democratic state of mind than you can the feminine. Held to strict accountability for the performance of its duty and its task, that state of mind has proved both adaptable and efficient, and if we who compose and manage the system are neither uxorious, cowardly, nor lazy, the system will prove like a good husband or a good wife the means of perpetuating and adorning the order of nature in politics and society.

WILLIAM ROSCOE THAYER

THE SHIPWRECK OF KULTUR

From "GERMANY VS. CIVILIZATION"

Wherever Germany extends her sway, she ruins Culture.

NIETZSCHE, Ecce Homo, p. 38.

Culture and the State are antagonists: a "Culture-State" is merely a modern idea. The one lives upon the other, the one flourishes at the expense of the other. . . . In the history of European Culture the rise of the [German] Empire signifies, above all, a displacement of the centre of gravity. Everywhere people are already aware of this: in things that really matter—and these after all constitute Culture—the Germans are no longer worth considering.

The Twilight of the Idols, p. 54.

Every great crime against Culture for the last four centuries lies upon their [the German] conscience.

Ecce Homo, p. 124.

Man started among the beasts in whose struggle for existence there is the unending play and counterplay between brute force and cunning. Man became Man by sloughing off the qualities which chain the Beast forever to the Beasts' level. Measuring by geological ages we see him emerge with incredible slowness from Beast-hood into Man-hood; and so up through Savagery and Barbarism, till he stands erect on the lowest step of Civilization; and then he mounts, still with groping hesitation, with frequent pauses, and with actual backslidings, the ladder of Ideals. Gradually there dawn in him instincts, motives, which neither the Beast, the Savage, nor the Barbarian ever knows. These are the stuff through which he discovers that he has a soul, the august and awful inmate of his inmost self.

Thenceforward Man fares on his journey through life, a strange blend of animal and of spirit—the animal in him always on the alert to regain entire mastery, and the

spirit, though often baffled and betrayed, ready to renew its divine mission. This antagonism runs through all human affairs: and when the earliest moralists looked beneath the surface of life and examined the fortunes and deeds of men, they discerned that this is a moral world in which the forces of good and the forces of evil-God and Devil-battle forever for control. Subsequent scrutiny has always reached the conclusion that the only permanent good is spiritual. Pride of intellect, beauty of form and face, the conquests of science over the material world, the triumphs of war-lords after great battles won and imperial territories annexed—these are not the true measure of Civilization. True Civilization is of the spirit, whose treasure the world can neither give nor take away. How irrelevant, how external and fleeting in the presence of Emerson is the uncounted lucre of Cecil Rhodes or of Rockefeller! With what scorn would Washington have repelled the suggestion that he should exchange places with Frederick the Great! With what irony would Lincoln have dismissed a proffered exchange with William II! To Washington and Lincoln the possibility of being degraded to the level of Frederick and of William would have been abhorrent.

So rapid has been Man's subjugation of Nature, and so astounding the inventions by which he has turned her laws into servants of his own will, that it has come to be the fashion to mistake these things for progress. We even hear them blithely lauded as essentials of Civilization. But Man, and not his tools, makes Civilization, and its character will be either animal or spiritual according to his nature. Ability to shoot up in an express elevator to the top of a fifty-story New York sky-

scraper, or to motor a hundred miles in an hour, or to telephone across the continent, or to send messages by wireless telegraph, does not constitute Civilization. It took Shakespeare two days to ride on horseback from Stratford to London; has poetry out-soared Shakespeare in these days when one can be whirled from Stratford to London in two hours?

Inventions and ideas also bless or curse according to the spirit of their user. Hardly had printing been discovered, to bring incalculable benefit to mankind, before the Devil saw his profit in it, and he has kept the presses of the world supplied with copy ever since. The modern probing into Nature has already produced a state of mind in scientific investigators which awakens anxiety as to the source from which their knowledge springs. Many religions have had a foreboding that there dwells something at the heart of the world which should not be unveiled. some primordial terror which, like the Gorgon, blasts those who look upon it. To hide this from the common gaze, mysteries were devised which it was sacrilege to attempt to penetrate, and Faith, not Reason, was declared the door to the truth that saved.

Modern Science, inquisitive and resolute, undaunted and tireless, has drilled its shafts of investigation, and has applied its microscope and its test-tube throughout the domain of Matter: and it has found Matter, and more Matter and nothing but Matter, apparently directed by material laws. The dyer's hand is subdued to what it works in. Assuming that there is a spirit in Man, might not that spirit be slowly stifled, materialized, and finally extinguished by continuous devotion to Matter and material laws? Might it not even come to pass that the worship of these material laws which Science has evoked should undo Man, as Frankenstein was undone by the monster he created? What if the Germans—having drawn aside the veil from the last mystery—have seen that Moloch is the Prime Mover of the world?

We cannot call material laws merciless,

because they proceed from that which feels nothing. So human laws devised by materialists may be logically unfeeling; and the rulers of a people who have accepted the revelation that Moloch is God will naturally develop a system patterned after Moloch's commands. Ponder this well. If the Prussian pagan creed is true, then Moloch is God: his altars are the shambles of battlefields: the sacrifices most acceptable to him are the victims of combat and massacre; the hymns he delights in are the shrieks of ravished women. the pitiful cries of terrified little children, the mingled groans and curses of wounded and dying soldiers. His high priests are those who lead the teeming millions to slaughter-Attila, and Tamerlane, and William II of Hohenzollern. This is the corner-stone of Kultur, this the infernal abyss into which Kultur has already dragged Germany and would drag mankind.

Ponder this well. No plea for a place in the sun can justify the cruelty and the cunning which its attaining involves. The pomp of many armies, all marching obedient to the command of Moloch's Vice-Regent, does not hide the butcher's errand on which they speed. The Religion of Valor is a thin disguise for brutality, in which Man at the touch of the Devil's wand is metamorphosed back into his Beast Original. Patriotism becomes the disguise under which the primal instincts of tiger and wolf riot unleashed. In Kultur's triumph Civilization dies.

Kultur is not designed to benefit any other race except the German. If it conquered, it would revive the feudal relation of lord and vassal, Germany being the lord and all other peoples being her vassals. Kultur, as we have seen at every point in this survey, permits all things to the Germans. Their religion, their sense of honor and of mercy, their respect for common men apply only to themselves. German truth ceases to be truth when it crosses the frontier. Gott, the German deity, is a tribal god, made in the image of the Germans who created him.

Shall we marvel most at the patience with which the Teutonic genius has reticulated such a system, or at the overweening conceit with which each Teuton regards himself with supreme satisfaction and Kultur as the perfect Civilization which must be nailed down and riveted over the rest of the world? And what shall we say of a nation which at this late day supposes that any one political system can be the best for all nations? If you view mankind as it is, divided into hundreds of varieties, each differing from the others in traditions, in geographical environment, and in moral and intellectual capacity, you will surely conclude that to attempt to standardize them would be as fatuous as to wrap the earth in a uniform climate. Such fatuity is born in the brains of would-be worldconquerors.

The great and deep and holy things of life do not come by the sword. Worldconquerors by Frightfulness may command lip-service; they may batten on the fruits of their victim's labor: but they cannot command respect or friendship, lovalty or love. Of all the conquering races, the Prussian has thus far been the least fitted to conciliate the vanguished. After one hundred and forty years Polish Prussia, although it has suffered unintermitted persecution, remains Polish in desires and hopes and still requires to be terrified. Forty-five years of Prussian hectoring in Alsace and Lorraine have not diminished by a hair's breadth the French spirit there. In their more recent colonial possessions the Germans have not even pretended to wish to secure the good-will of their subjects, it being a dogma of Kultur that the dark-skinned races are in fact only animals, to be treated as such.

But above political and military systems, above tribal customs and standards conditioned by climate, are a few hallowed principles which sum up the ideals of civilized men, ideals which even the least civilized have acknowledged, and all have endeavored, according to their varying capacity, to serve. Justice is one of

these principles; Freedom is another; Pity, another.

The State worshiped by the Germans as an abstraction "above Society" is indeed just as personal as was its medieval prototype. But in the Middle Ages, Church and State went together; and the Church, which was the organ of religion, exercised, in theory at least, authority over the State in those matters into which religion or morals entered. But mark well that in the system devised by Kultur, the State is omnipotent. Kultur recognizes neither morals nor religion apart from political considerations. The conscience of the Germans and their public and private acts are in the keeping of this godless abstraction. No wonder that poor old Haeckel shouts out his octogenarian rejoicing that the war has proved that God and immortality are absurd delusions, and that Kultur is the highest achievement of Man.

I quote from a private letter, written by an eminent physician with the British expedition in France to a distinguished American physician:—

With all my soul I believe that the ideal of pity is the noblest thing we have, and that its denial, which waves on every German flag, is the denial of all that the greatest men have striven for for centuries. I see in this war the colossal strife between the doctrine which I call good, and der Geist der stets verneint. You see I am almost borrowing the language of the Kaiser. I feel that the two enormous spirits that move this world are showing their weapons almost visibly, and that never was the garment of the living world so thin over the gods that it conceals.

I am not much elated by the thought. I have little opinion of providence as an ally. I am surprised at the weakness that the Kaiser shows for his pocket Deity. What we have to do in my opinion we do ourselves, and our task is none the lighter that we defend the right. But I am hardened and set by the thing I believe. I and my dear boy* talked of it much as I am talking to you, for we were close friends and we felt, both of us, that we were fighting for the life of England—yes, for the safety of France—yes, for the sanctity of treaties—

^{*}The son had recently been killed.

yes, but, behind these secondary and comparatively material issues, for something far deeper, far greater, for something so great and deep that, if our efforts fail, I pray God I may die before I see it.

Kultur, which shuts out Justice and Freedom and Pity, shuts out Chivalry also, which, if it be not fundamental like these three, is the fragrance of the higher Civilization. Saladin, the Arab, had it, in his conflict with the Crusaders. It was the ideal of every worthy knight in Christendom: it is a second nature to every modern gentleman. Grant had it at Appomattox, when he bade the vanguished officers of the Confederacy to keep their side-arms, and spared them the slightest suggestion of humiliation. But Chivalry seems to have found no lodgment in Prussia. I recall no generous act of Frederick the Great, or of Bismarck when he imposed terms on fallen France. The Prussian is not satiated by the overthrow of his enemies; he must see them prostrate in the dust and plant his heavy foot upon their necks.

A nation accessible to Chivalry would neither have ordered the torpedoing of the passenger ship Lusitania filled with noncombatants, nor have gloated over the crime, holding great meetings for exultation and gathering the children of the Fatherland into theatres and churches to sing hallelujahs over the destruction of those twelve hundred innocent souls. turn away from such barbaric rejoicings to the pictures of the sea strewn with the bodies of drowned babies and of drowned mothers clasping their little ones in their arms. Happy those little ones, who could never grow up to have hearts like the Germans, bereft alike of Chivalry and of Pity! Happy, too, those mothers, who displayed in the swift, final test of life that mother-love which neither Kaiser, Krupp, nor Kultur can vanguish.

Where was Chivalry when Von Bissing, the Prussian Governor of Belgium, ordered Edith Cavell's execution? If she had been guilty of the worst crimes imputed to her, she might at least have been put to death with decency. Instead of that, Bissing let only a few hours intervene between her condemnation and her being led out at two o'clock in the morning to face the platoon of soldiers. No respite allowed for reviewing the evidence; no person except the prison chaplain permitted to see her: no friend to take her last message; all hurried, clandestine. ruthless, as if Von Bissing feared that he might be deprived of his victim; he, backed by the full power of Germany; she, one woman alone in an impregnable cell, ringed about by a fortress with regiments to defend it. And when they had shot her, Von Bissing's agents, wishing to debase her memory, gave out to the papers that she had quailed and broken down and pleaded for mercy: but the prison chaplain told the truth. Such is Chivalry as practiced by William II's chosen officers.

Thus, wherever we test it, Kultur breaks down. It has created a nation which boasts itself superior to the common laws of humanity; a nation which asserts that Honor and Justice and Truth, that Pity and Chivalry and Self-sacrifice, have no meaning for it in its dealings with the whole world outside. It might as well assert that the law of gravity or the formulas of algebra applicable elsewhere ceased to operate on German soil. Kultur, proclaimed by the Germans as a system which will overspread the earth, is in reality not universal, but local, tribal, narrowing. No modern race except the Germans could have invented it: so only Germans can both use it and glory in its use. It is like the harness of steel and straps which a cripple has to wear: by practice he learns to move about in it with ease; but though he be a giant, he is none the less a cripple, and the steel and straps are none the less a harness.

"But what!" you ask; "has not Kultur produced the highest efficiency ever known to man? Has it not trained sixty millions to such mechanical skill and mental docility that at a signal from Berlin they all turn east and bow in unison, and at another signal they all turn west?

Has not Kultur created an army so perfect that its units and individuals could hardly be more machine-like if they were actually cogs and bolts of iron? Has not Kultur resulted in a system of education which directs every German at every moment of his life from the day he enters the Kindergarten to the day when he becomes a doctor of philosophy? Has not Kultur applied science to industry and to commerce as well as to the most trifling daily needs? Has it not subjected religion and philosophy, poetry, history, and letters, to the microscope of criticism? Has any other system imposed an equally rigid discipline or been rewarded by an equally submissive obedience?"

To all these questions there is but one answer: Kultur has achieved this, and the achievement marks at once the glory and shipwreck of Kultur. The object of every beneficent teaching is to take even human clods and evoke the souls latent in them; Kultur takes Germans and reduces them to the state of soulless machines. Efficiency is of itself no more praiseworthy than is electricity. The vital consideration is, who applies it and for what purpose. If the object be evil, then the harm done is greater in proportion to the greater efficiency. The voltage of a lightning bolt which sets fire to a town might supply power to run a dozen factories. Granted that Kulturmade efficiency ranks first, has it been justified by its works? Are the system which plotted for the Atrocious War, and the efficiency which has conducted it, to be commended as the final crown of Civilization? Would you who read be proud of your scheme of life if it revealed vou as cruel, dishonorable, lving, unchivalrous, and as an egomaniac who did not shrink at murder? Under the touchstone of Kultur collective Germany stands so revealed. Satan, who turns all material inventions to his own uses, and sucks out the souls of men in order that their bodies and their minds may serve him, is the Master of that Efficiency for Hate which Kultur has bred in Germany.

"We don't care how many nations

hate us, so long as they fear us," said recently a leader of German opinion. In such words Kultur epitomizes its message to mankind; in such words posterity will write its epitaph.

Kultur has had many forerunners, differing in specific aim and in scale, but similar in character. The Spanish Inquisition, for instance, was in essence almost the exact counterpart of Kultur. It strove to compel absolute submission to itself as the agency "above Society," not of the Prussian Gott, but of a perversion of the Christian God. The Inquisition threw over Humanity, Justice, Mercy, and set up standards of its own, intended to promote only its own interests. To secure conformity and obedience, it imprisoned, harassed, terrorized, tortured, and destroyed its victims. Like Kultur, the Inquisition maintained a large corps of eavesdroppers and spies. Like Kultur, it taught a nation to accept without demur its declaration that it was engaged in the highest mission known to mankind.

did not, indeed, organize an army to wage

bodily war against its enemies; it simply

used, in case of need, the armed force of

temporal rulers to carry out its commands.

It both aspired to be and was a world-

power, in so far as it was co-extensive with

the Spanish Empire.

Millions of people accepted the teachings of the Inquisition and fell quite naturally into the inhuman state of mind which such teachings induce. Like many a German who would personally shrink from committing cruel acts, the Spaniards and the other races whom the Inquisition held in subjection came to gloat over collective cruelty. How many millions of holiday-makers, men, women, and children, went out from Seville to the Ouemadero and witnessed with rejoicing the autos-da-fe of thirty-five thousand heretics whom the Inquisition burned there in the course of three centuries? The feelings of those Spanish spectators, as they beheld such human sacrifice offered up by the Inquisition to its deity, did not differ from those of the Aztecs who watched the blood sacrifices on their pyramid temples,

or from those of the French Terrorists who attended the daily exercise of the guillotine, or from those of the Germans who shouted their hallelujahs at the slaughter of the innocents in the Lusitania.

Under whatever name Kultur operates, it tends downward. The individual who

thinks himself a Superman is likely to end in a madhouse or on the gallows: the nation, despotic king, or hierarchy, which substitutes its own selfish interests for humanity, shuts itself out from humanity, becomes inhuman, revives and worships standards of the Beast, and heads straight for perdition.

ABBOTT H. THAYER

I did all I was fitted for, toward helping the Allies, by hurrying over to England' early in the war, and seeing that they made good application of my concealing coloration discoveries to their army and navy.

They told me, over there, that the French got their camouflage entirely

from my book. God knows that humanity's cause at this ghastly moment could have the whole of me if it would help.

Fortunately we all know that it is always these immeasurable torture-fires out of which the world goes on getting her pure gold.

HENRY VAN DYKE

Late Ambassador to Holland

THE CRIME OF THE LUSITANIA

EXTRACT FROM AN ADDRESS AT THE AUTHORS CLUB, NOVEMBER 1, 1917.

Now that we have been forced into this war by the Imperial German menaces and attacks, the great duty for all of us is to realize fully what we have at stake, and to spare no effort to win the real victory for our righteous cause.

We are fighting for liberty and the life of our country, just as truly as we did in the Revolution or in the Civil War.

Free speech is precious. But there is one thing much more precious, and that is the preservation of the freedom of the republic. Any inhabitant of this country who puts destructive material into the machinery of the ships which are carrying our brave boys across the ocean to serve under our flag, is a constructive murderer and a traitor. He should face a traitor's trial and a traitor's doom. Shooting would be too good for him. If convicted he should be hanged without delay. The same thing is true of every man who puts destructive material into the minds of our American citizens, urging them to be disloval or recalcitrant, persuading them to evade or to resist the call which our country has made for the service of all its people in the defence of its rights and its honor. These men are in fact trying to obstruct and impede the action of the Ship of State. They are imperilling the unity, the welfare, the success of our country in this great struggle which has been forced upon her by Germany. Let them reckon with their own conscience in the sight of God for their private thoughts and feelings. But if they speak treason, or act treason, or incite others to treason, they also must face a traitor's trial and a traitor's doom. For while they go at large and continue their nefarious work, they imperil the lives of thousands of loval citizens and the safety of the republic.

I have really no speech to make to you to-night, gentlemen, except that which is contained and embodied in this bit of bronze.—a hideous medal struck in Germany to commemorate the unlawful and cruel sinking of the steamship Lusitania. You know the story of that crime. On the 7th of May, 1915, this great passenger vessel, unarmed, and crowded with human beings, going their lawful errands upon the sea, was torpedoed and sunk off the coast of Ireland by a German submarine. More than a thousand human beings lost their lives in consequence of this atrocious misdeed. Among them were one hundred and fourteen innocent and helpless American men, women and children. They were drowned without pity,

"Butchered to make a [German] holiday."

The holiday was celebrated certainly in Prussia, and perhaps in other parts of the German Empire. The little German children made merry over the death of the American children. The soldiers in the reserve camps joined in the jubilation. The streets were full of flags, and the air resounded with cheering and singing. A German pastor in a series of discourses on the Sermon on the Mount, said: "Whoever cannot bring himself to approve from the bottom of his heart the sinking of the Lusitania, him we judge to be no true German." (Deutsche Reden In Schwerer Zeit, No. 24, p. 7.)

To crown all, medals were struck to commemorate this glorious achievement of a German U-boat. This is one of them. On one side it shows a ticket office with Death at the window giving out tickets to the innocent passengers. On the other side it shows the great ship going down stern foremost (as a matter of fact she

sank bow first) and underneath is the inscription, "Big passenger liner *Lusitania*, sunk by German submarine, 5th of May, 1015."

Why this discrepancy in dates? Because the 5th of May, according to the Potsdam time table, was the date appointed for the crime. But the Lusitania was detained for two days in New York, and so the assassination could not be carried out until the 7th. But the medals were already prepared with the earlier date on them, and this date must have been given to the maker of the medal by the German Admiralty. Thus the fact

that the crime was premeditated and committed with malice aforethought and prepense, is immortalized in bronze. It is a beastly, ugly medal, a characteristic work of modern German art. But I keep it as a memento, "lest I forget."

In my honest judgment it is impossible for decent people in the sight of the right-eous God, to talk peace or make peace with the criminals who instigated, plotted and ordered this crime, until they have been brought to repentance.

For such evil-doers there can be no peace and no forgiveness unless they renounce their evil deeds and make reparation.

MARE LIBERUM

FROM "THE RED FLOWER, POEMS WRITTEN IN WAR TIME"

I

You dare to say with perjured lips, "We fight to make the ocean free"?

You, whose black trail of butchered ships
Bestrews the bed of every sea
Where German submarines have wrought
Their horrors! Have you never thought,—
What you call freedom, men call piracy!

П

Unnumbered ghosts that haunt the wave,
Where you have murdered, cry you down;
And seamen whom you would not save
Weave now in weed-grown depths a crown
Of shame for your imperious head,—
A dark memorial of the dead,—
Women and children whom you sent to drown.

Ш

Nay, not till thieves are set to guard
The gold, and corsairs called to keep
O'er peaceful commerce watch and ward,
And wolves to herd the helpless sheep,
Shall men and women look to thee,
Thou ruthless Old Man of the Sea,
To safeguard law and freedom on the deep!

IV

In nobler breeds we put our trust:
The nations in whose sacred lore
The "Ought" stands out above the "Must,"
And honor rules in peace and war.
With these we hold in soul and heart,
With these we choose our lot and part,
Till Liberty is safe on sea and shore.

London Times, February 12, 1917.

THE NAME OF FRANCE

Give us a name to fill the mind
With the shining thoughts that lead mankind,—
The glory of learning, the joy of art,—
A name that tells of a splendid part
In the long, long toil, and the strenuous fight,
Of the human race to win its way
From the ancient darkness into the day
Of freedom, brotherhood, equal right,—
A name like a star, a name of light.

I give you, France!

Give us a name to stir the blood
With a warmer glow and a swifter flood,
At the touch of a courage that conquers fear,—
A name like the call of a trumpet, clear
And silver-sweet and iron-strong,
That brings three million men to their feet,
Ready to march, and steady to meet
The foe who threatens that name with wrong,—
A name that rings like a battle-song.
I give you, France!

Give us a name to move the heart
With the strength that noble griefs impart,—
A name that speaks of the blood out-poured
To save mankind from the sway of the sword,—
A name that calls the world to share
The burden of sacrificial strife,
Where the cause at stake is the world's free life
And the rule of the people everywhere,—
A name like a vow, a name like a prayer.
I give you, France!

September 28, 1916.

BARRETT WENDELL

A CONFLICT OF IDEALS

EXTRACT FROM ADDRESS IN THE ACADEMY LECTURE SERIES, APRIL 17, 1917

Chaos come again, we may well call this world of ours now; and turn back to the despair of Lucretius as the final mood in which bravely to face fact. If a story I was told some years ago be true, though, this was not the mood of at least one distinguished ecclesiastic, about the time when the Concordat came to an end. Lamenting the plight of the French clergy. it was said, this worthy man—himself of saintly character—touched on the general condition of Europe, expressing his belief in the divine sanction of sovereignty, and declaring that only one modern sovereign conducted himself with due obedience thereto—the German Emperor. To be sure, he added, that sovereign is blind to the true faith: but it is not for men to inquire why God chooses His instruments. Hearsay though this story be, it may well give us pause. There is certainly an aspect in which the career of William the Second may be regarded as almost Augustan, as an ideal effort to impose upon the turbulent peoples the rule of peace, sparing those who will submit, extirpating the rebellious. And we may grant that he believes in God: and we must grant, as well, that the two most characteristic German virtues—honest, untiring industry and cheerful acceptance of collective duty-have never been more admirable than they are now. All the same, there is another aspect in which we can hardly admit the career of His Imperial Majesty to be apostolically divine.

Otherwise, we should have to admit ourselves, and the other nations now allied together against him, impiously rebellious to the law of God. Instead, there can be no doubt that we believe ourselves nobly in the right; nor that we are coming to believe the Allied Nations, who have led the way where at last we follow, nobly in the right, as well. Nobly

in the right we could not believe ourselves nor them, unless this tremendous conflict involves something else than a blind clash of material forces.

Yet to deny an ideal, and an ideal of world-order, to the forces so appallingly exerted in the name of the German Emperor, would be unworthy. So far as we can discern, the ideal which inspires them is that of an authority which shall command and control all men, for their own good and the good of the future. This, indeed, was implicitly admitted, a little while ago, by a fantastic notion which occurred to one of those among us who cherishes least love for Germans. It was when their lines in Northern France began to withdraw, and when some thought the purpose of this manœuvre to be concentration for a swift attack on Italy. Can it be, this American asked. that the German Emperor has a purpose of sweeping down on Rome, and there in St. Peter's—where Charlemagne crowned before him one Christmas Day —celebrating next Christmas by placing on his own head the crown not of German Empire but of Roman, which should carry apostolic title to empire of the world? Fantastic though this notion be, it does not seem out of character, and it extremely indicates the imperial ideal against which the Allies, and we too, find ourselves arrayed. This ideal is not contemptible; for contradiction it needs something higher than force and more enduring than denial. It can be met only by another, equally ardent and newly true, ideal of empire.

Such an ideal, I believe, not yet rightly recognized, has animated the undaunted courage of the Allies; such an ideal, I believe, has always animated our American national history, and at this moment animates our national course. The Allies,

—like ourselves and the German Empire, too,—still think in the national terms which have been inevitable since the ideal of the Holy Roman Empire faded, six hundred years ago. All the same, a new ideal of empire truly inspires us, even though as yet we know it only by the vague and vulgar name of democracy.

For the moment, the fact of democracy often looks troublous-justifying the use of the term in the Politics of Aristotle. There he gives the name to the abuse of power by an irresponsible majority who would conduct public affairs not for public good but for their own selfish ends. According to him, democracy is a disease, and probably politically fatal—just as tyranny is in monarchy and oligarchy in aristocracy. Right and left, nowadays, popular governments seem, on the surface, to afford example after example of what he meant-shackling ability, decrying excellence and asserting privilege for the irresponsible. At their worst, however, these democratic excesses are only realities, which need no more quench the ideal they dim than the ideal of imperial authority has been quenched by the rape of Belgium, by the Lusitania massacre, or by the sacrilege of Rheims. Any government, autocratic, aristocratic or popular, may abuse its power; any government must do so at its own ultimate peril. The question before us now concerns not dangers but hopes, not conduct but faith, not the benumbing facts of realities but the inspiring potency of ideals. For an ideal, I believe, is what nerves us all for the conflict where we must bear our part.

In few words, the ideal which inspires the peoples now staking their lives for what they call democracy is belief that government may best and most hopefully persist when based not on submission but on consent. Under the most popular forms of government, the governed must doubtless submit to no small degree of authority; under the most despotic forms, until these forms crash in revolutionary anarchy, the governed must, often despairingly, consent to bear

their burdens. No government worth the name can command respect, or hope to last, if it fail to preserve that public order, and to protect that private property on which together throughout history the true right of individuals has inevitably been based. In substance, take it, we should all agree that no individual can claim more than the right so to conduct life that the constructive virtues of intelligence, industry and self-control may on the whole bring a man prosperity, and the destructive vices of stupidity, idleness and selfindulgence may surely bring a man to grief. Social justice, we may gladly believe, is based on a natural law too rigid for much deflection by the forms which now and again government may chance to take. The real question is under what form it may most hopefully be maintained. The older ideal has believed this to be the form of implacable authority—sometimes national, at least once divinely imperial. The newer ideal believes rather that the most hopeful form is that to which men themselves will gravely, deliberately and, so far as may be, unselfishly consent. In its nobler aspect, the older ideal was of a world governed by God through certain of His selected and commissioned creatures; in its nobler aspect, the newer ideal, for which we are now risen to arms, is of a world governed by God through all His human creatures. To call it democracy is to disguise its grandeur; a better name for it were the Empire of Humanity.

Ideals, we must sadly remind ourselves, have never been realities and never can be. A thousand aspects of human history, too, may well make our new imperial ideal seem more madly unreal than any of those which have preceded it, national, patriotic, Roman or Holy. Yet as we ponder on literature, from the primal wisdom of the Greeks to the sophistications of centuries within the memory of men we can remember, and to the ephemeral vulgarities of our modern press, we can find traces of this imperial ideal always and everywhere. Slowly and won-

deringly we may be brought to admit that it has not only shown sparks of vitality and germs of growth, but that it has tended straight toward the catholicity it is revealing now. What is more, when we turn our pondering from the ideals of literature to the realities of history, we may find in them not the forever unattainable fact of realization, but sign after sign that our ideal of consenting human empire may perhaps be capable of an approach such as has been denied all others.

An example of what I mean may be found in the history of our own country. Beginning its course under the first two Stuart sovereigns of England, it came to establish in all the colonies which fringed the Atlantic seaboard forms of government essentially popular. To a great degree, this was a matter not so much of ideal purpose as of natural growth,-of accident, or of practical convenience. The fact remains that when the lapse of some five generations brought us to the test of the American Revolution, our traditions of government by consent proved so firmly established as not only to achieve our national independence but a little later to check anarchy and to sustain order, property and individual rights by that supreme masterpiece of government by consent, the Constitution of the United States. There have been shadows and perils in our subsequent national history, enough and to spare; shadows and perils encompass us at this moment. What we may still recognize, however, as the characteristic spirit of America lays little, perhaps too little, stress on these realities. It still prefers to find constant inspiration, unbroken warrant for faith and hope, in the ideals of government which have animated our progress from a group of separate and remote colonies to that state of nationally imperial dominion of which we are citizens today.

Meanwhile, no other government in the European world has changed so little since our Constitution was adopted by our forefathers. In 1789 we were the youngest of European nations; in 1917 we are politically and socially the eldest. There is surely an aspect in which we may regard this as something else than accident—as a confirmation, rather, of our belief that we have been privileged to see, a little sooner than others, the course which shall be taken by the world-empire of the future.

For aspiration to world-empire is an ideal so constant, so invariable, that, at least as an ideal, we must admit it inevitable. If it takes on, as at first, the guise of irresponsible national expansion, it must fail as soon as the strength of the nation fails which for the moment embodies it—Egypt or Macedon, Spain or the France of Louis the Fourteenth. it must fail if it takes on the form most nobly expressed by Virgil—of armed authority, responsible to its own conscience for imposing peace on the submissive peoples. So it must fail, too, in its highest authoritative form—that of the Holy Roman Empire—a form so splendidly superhuman that it never came anywhere near realization. So, no doubt, it must finally fail in any form; for, like human life, this planet where for a little while we are alive is mortal. Even so, even on earth, a humanized ideal of empire may long outlive ourselves or any phase of human persistence as yet within our powers of imagination. And if what I have tried to tell you today be not all a dream, the history of these United States of America may already give us hope that the ideal of future world-empire may prove to be an ideal not of empire by authority but of empire by consent. If so, this country of ours—the United States of America-may show itself to have been the harbinger of a worldempire which shall outlast those of the past.

What will come of this war on which we are now entered no man can tell. What may come of it is an attempt to establish by common consent a world-empire in which each state, large or small,—monarchic, aristocratic or popular,—shall have an acknowledged right

to independent existence. In such an empire the common authority of all would protect the independence of each part, enforcing the law of peace, sparing those who submit to it, checking aggression, suppressing rebellion. All this such common authority must do, not in a name foreign to any, but in a name common to every part—for such common authority must be based on the humble

and devoted consent of all. That name has not yet been even proposed, except in vaguely general terms, like a League to Enforce Peace. But we of the United States of America may surely be forgiven if we think of it as a name in which, as in the name of our own country, all separate names may merge—the United States of the World.

BRAND WHITLOCK

LAFAYETTE, APOSTLE OF LIBERTY

Address Given at the Tomb of Lafayette in Picpus Cemetery, July 4, 1917, By the American Minister to Belgium

Mr. Chairman, Monsieur le Ministre, Monsieur le Maréchal, Mr. Amhassador, Ladies and Gentlemen:

At long intervals in the progress of our race, once or twice in a century perhaps, there is born into the world one of those rare and lofty souls whose passion for humanity makes them worthy to be intrusted with the cause of human liberty. They are born with a vision, a courage and a faith that lift them high above their fellows and yet their love and sympathy and pity keep them close to the heart of mankind. By their sacrifices and their toils they work new emancipations and they come somehow to sum up, and to express in their great personalities, their peoples and their times. The story of their lives is the history of the nations —as with Washington and Lincoln, as with him at whose tomb we are assembled today.

It was the distinction of Lafayette, indeed, to sum up the history of two nations in his time. For, as he used to say, he had two countries, France and America, and he seemed to find it difficult to say which he loved the more. With his keen perception he discerned that in essential, spiritual ways the two nations, inspired by the same motives and devoted to the same ideals, were but a part of that larger nation of the mind, where all who love liberty and mankind are citizens by right.

There are few stories more romantic than his. As an ardent youth, not yet twenty years of age, without the consent of his father or his King, he sets forth across the seas on that matchless adventure, the old yet ever new and alluring quest of human liberty.

We see him before that first Congress

in the old Liberty Hall at Philadelphia; then by the side of Washington, who comes so to love him that when he is wounded at Brandywine Washington tells the surgeons to treat him as his son. He has an honored place in the councils of war and he "shudders to think that the voice of a twenty-year-old youth might decide the fate of two worlds." Then the long winter at Valley Forge, where the snows are reddened by bleeding feet, and, with the sword that Congress gave him, he comes back to France for succor and returns with the army corps that went with Rochambeau. Finally, he is at Yorktown, and four years later is once more in America at Mount Vernon, the guest of Washington. He is elected a citizen of the Republic and adopted into the very heart of the nation. Every one refers to him affectionately as "The Marquis," while the Indians call him "Kayewla." All over the land, towns are named for him; there is not a city in America that has not an avenue bearing his name, and, as children in our schools, we are taught to revere him.

We see him then engage in the struggle for liberty in his own land; he is at the assembly of the Notables and drafts the Declaration of the Rights of Man. And ever after, whether at Paris, at Olmutz or at Lagrange, down to the memorable days of July, 1830, it is for liberty that he strives, it is of liberty that he writes and dreams; "la liberté américaine," he used to call it.

To us his correspondence with his friends in America must ever have a peculiar personal interest. He was always writing to them, to Washington, to Jefferson, to Adams, to Monroe, to J. Fenimore Cooper. Jefferson, when

President, after the purchase of Louisiana, offered him the governorship of the new province if he would come back, and Hamilton, the great rival of Jefferson, wrote him that there was only one subject on which the various parties in America could agree and that was in their love for him.

The thought of returning to America continually fascinated him; he was always referring to it. And it must have been a moment big in its implications when in his old age he made that last visit and there, under the stately portico of Monticello, he and Jefferson clasped each other in a long embrace. When he died, and old Andrew Jackson in an order of the day announced that the last Major-General of the armies of the Revolution was no more, the same military honors that had been paid to Washington were rendered to him, guns were fired until the sun went down, flags were at half mast, the army wore mourning for six months, and in the Senate, in the presence of the President, the two houses and the diplomatic corps, John Quincy Adams pronounced an oration in his memory.

We assemble then at his tomb at this solemn moment in the history of the world, on this day that meant so much to him and means so much to us, to pay our tribute to his memory and to render homage to the nation whose various virtues were so nobly exemplified in his character and career. We come to reverence the memory not only of our sons who fell in other wars for liberty, but to salute those who have fallen in this great and, as we would fain believe, this final war for liberty, those noble dead who fell heroically at the Marne, on the Yser at Verdun, on the Somme, giving their lives that freedom might not perish from the earth, those boys, your own and ours, French, English, Belgian, who went forward with smiles upon their beardless lips, and in John Hay's fine figure are triumphant now in the beautiful immortality of youth.

The ground whereon we stand today

is not foreign soil, for when France came to bury her hero, America claimed a privilege of affection and sent her earth from our own land that it might be mingled with the soil of France, as a last resting-place for him who was the son of both. Even were it otherwise, it would not be foreign soil, for the soil of liberty is always home to him who loves liberty.

This day meant much to Lafayette all his life, he never forgot it, and he celebrated it always by writing to one or other of his American friends. Once writing to Jefferson he referred to it as that day of which the expression was worthy of the event. He was addressing the author of the classic Declaration of human liberty, written, to employ one of the fine phrases in its opening passages, in "a decent respect to the opinions of mankind." "We hold these truths to be self-evident: that all men are created equal; that they are endowed by their Creator with certain inalienable rights; that among these are life, liberty, and the pursuit of happiness; that, to secure these rights, governments are instituted among men, deriving their just powers from the consent of the governed."

How these old truths blaze out today with a new and vivid meaning! We were so accustomed to hear them that familiarity had dulled our appreciation; we were so accustomed to live them that their repetition brought only a superior smile to the face of sophistication. And now, even as we stand here, the world is in the agony of a war that is to determine. in Lincoln's words, whether nations conceived in these liberties, and dedicated to these propositions, are to endure. The right to life, the right to liberty, the right to happiness! These three phrases are the synthesis of the ideals of the western world; they resume in themselves all that culture, all that imagination, all that taste, all that honor, all that art and beauty have revealed to the human mind.

Considered in relation to its time and construed with the Constitution and the

Bill of Rights, that sought to apply its ideals to the practical affairs of life and government, the Declaration marked the highest point that the human ideal at that day had attained. It was the logical conclusion of the old struggle for English liberty, bearing a direct relation to the revolution of 1649 and forming one of the great series of charters of human liberty that began with Magna Charta. Its stately and sonorous cadences are not the rigid impossibilities of doctrinaires, nor the vague dreams of idealists and mystics, but the practical statement of the terms on which human beings can live together in political equality with a chance for self-expression and develop-Every one of its concepts recalls the bitter lesson of some tragic experience in human history; those lines were written one after the other with the blood and sweat and tears of generations that had resisted tyrants for the right to live. In highly concentrated thought they represent the conclusions that intelligent mankind had reached during eighteen centuries of struggle upward out of savagery. Well might Lafayette write to his old friend Jefferson that the expression was worthy of the event!

It was by such means, and on the solid bases of such principles, that over the ugly ruins of feudalism there had arisen a new structure of human society. Slowly, with infinite toil and pain, in spite of many blunders and mistakes, Man has reared the edifice of modern civilization. It was imperfect as yet, but it was being built according to certain fundamental conceptions of liberty, of honor, of justice, words whose connotations were common to all intelligent and refined persons. At each step in its progress he paused to consolidate the victory of mind over matter, of reason over force, of the spiritual over the material, of the ideal over the low and base. He had written down the results of these various victories in declarations and constitutions and laws that embodied one by one the triumphs of Italian genius, the visions of Russian prophecy, the clear conceptions of French intelligence, and the solid achievements of English thought. They become the memoranda of the means by which liberty has been kept alive, that the best in man might be given expression, that culture might dwell in the earth, that there might be sweetness and light in life, that Man, the Individual, might stand up in the world and realize the aspirations of the poets and sayiors of the race.

And then suddenly, as though it had stepped out of the Middle Ages, autocracy, reincarnated in a military despotism with a camouflage of culture, made its apparition in the modern world, ready to tear up all the charters of human liberty, to destroy the work of the centuries. It challenged the validity of the principles on which democratic nations rest, and with them the noblest and most exalted conceptions of the human mind. It impugned justice, it sneered at liberty, it scorned compassion, it flouted honor, and in the name of the amazing theory that any deed is right if one has the brute force to commit it, it would take away what Lincoln called the last, best hope of man.

It precipitated anew the old conflict between freedom and slavery, the old battle between the prince of the powers of the air and the prince of the powers of darkness. But thereby it decreed its own destruction, for the world has grown too small for autocracy and democracy to live in it together. The urge of democracy is irresistible; it is the destiny of men to be free; peoples developed in the light of free institutions do not turn backward to the dark. The history of the liberal nations of the earth all tends one way, toward liberty, upward toward the light. Read the story of valiant France, read the story of Belgium, ah, Belgium! Three years ago this summer day it was a smiling land of happy people whose every scene evoked the memory of some joyous canvas of Jordaens or Teniers. To-day it is the land of sorrow, lightened only by the heroism of an indomitable people. They have not only endured all

the cruelties and the woes of war, but they have been subjected to the ignominies of a military occupation; they live in the presence of a great injustice, in the shadow of a mighty wrong. Yet those brave spirits back there behind that tragic veil come of a line of men who, ages since, learned what liberty is, and in their communal form of government have stubbornly, through successive alien dominations, clung to the right to rule themselves. And undaunted and undismayed as she stood her ground at Liège, and along the Yser, so Belgium stands her ground today in every commune and at every hearthstone in the land.

What was it that led Lafayette to go forth to a new land in the midst of war? He had a place at the most brilliant court of his time; he had youth, and wealth and a noble name; he had a bride, and he was in Paris. And yet, when he heard of the struggle across the sea, he said:

"My heart was enrolled and I had no other idea than to join my colors."

My colors! The colors of liberty, whose radiant vision beckoned the loving and the daring in all times. He knew that wherever the flag of freedom was unfurled there was his post. Noblesse oblige! And the noblest, like Lafayette and Washington, are not content with liberty for themselves alone; they must have it for all men on equal terms, for they know that character can be developed only in liberty, where the human soul has the right not only to live but the exceedingly more important right to live a beautiful life.

Today, as we stand here by the tomb of him who in his youth went forth alone to join his colors across the seas, we hear the tread of a million youths of America, sons of his spirit, marching to the ships that bear them hither to join their colors on this new front of Liberty.

They come with the same unselfish motive that led him forth, not for conquest but for freedom, to help, as our President said, to make the world safe for democracy. They come as the brothers of their English blood, with the grim determination of their race, vowing that autocracy shall not tear up Magna Charta and the Bill of Rights, the Declaration of Independence and the Declaration of the Rights of Man. They come in the name of those great principles of which Lincoln, for us, is the incarnation, resolved that the dead on all the battlefields of liberty shall not have died in vain, that each nation under God shall have a new birth of freedom, and that government of the people, by the people, for the people shall not perish from the earth. They come singing the "Battle Hymn of the Republic," to the blowing of the bugles that shall never sound retreat. They come bearing the hopes and the resolutions and the faith of a whole free people, a mighty continent aroused, whose genius salutes the sister republic in the strophes of Walt Whitman, the poet and prophet of democracy:

O Star! O ship of France, beat back and baffled long!
Bear up, O smitten orb! O ship, continue on!

WOODROW WILSON

ON THE THRESHOLD OF WAR

Address of the President, April 2, 1917

Gentlemen of the Congress:

I have called the Congress into extraordinary session because there are serious, very serious, choices of policy to be made, and made immediately, which it was neither right nor constitutionally permissible that I should assume the respon-

sibility of making.

On the third of February last I officially laid before you the extraordinary announcement of the Imperial German Government that, on and after the first day of February, it was its purpose to put aside all restraints of law or of humanity and use its submarines to sink every vessel that sought to approach either the ports of Great Britain and Ireland or the western coasts of Europe or any of the ports controlled by the enemies of Germany within the Mediterranean. had seemed to be the object of the German submarine warfare earlier in the war, but since April of last year the Imperial Government had somewhat restrained the commanders of its undersea craft, in conformity with its promise then given to us that passenger boats should not be sunk and that due warning would be given to all other vessels which its submarines might seek to destroy, when no resistance was offered or escape attempted, and care taken that their crews were given at least a fair chance to save their lives in their open boats. The precautions taken were meagre and haphazard enough, as was proved in distressing instance after instance in the progress of the cruel and unmanly business, but a certain degree of restraint was observed. The new policy has swept every restriction aside. Vessels of every kind, whatever their flag, their character, their cargo, their destination, their errand, have been ruth-

lessly sent to the bottom without warning and without thought of help or mercy for those on board, the vessels of friendly neutrals along with those of belligerents. Even hospital ships and ships carrying relief to the sorely bereaved and stricken people of Belgium, though the latter were provided with safe conduct through the proscribed areas by the German Government itself and were distinguished by unmistakable marks of identity, have been sunk with the same reckless lack of com-

passion or of principle.

I was for a little while unable to believe that such things would in fact be done by any government that had hitherto subscribed to the humane practices of civilized nations. International law had its origin in the attempt to set up some law which would be respected and observed upon the seas, where no nation had right of dominion and where lay the free highways of the world. By painful stage after stage has that law been built up, with meagre enough results, indeed, after all was accomplished that could be accomplished, but always with a clear view, at least, of what the heart and conscience of mankind demanded. This minimum of right the German Government has swept aside under the plea of retaliation and necessity and because it had no weapons which it could use at sea except these which it is impossible to employ as it is employing them without throwing to the winds all scruples of humanity or of respect for the understandings that were supposed to underlie the intercourse of the world. I am not now thinking of the loss of property involved, immense and serious as that is, but only of the wanton and wholesale destruction of the lives of non-combatants, men, women, and

children, engaged in pursuits which have always, even in the darkest periods of modern history, been deemed innocent and legitimate. Property can be paid for; the lives of peaceful and innocent people cannot be. The present German submarine warfare against commerce is a warfare against mankind.

It is a war against all nations. American ships have been sunk, American lives taken, in ways which it has stirred us very deeply to learn of, but the ships and people of other neutral and friendly nations have been sunk and overwhelmed in the waters in the same way. There has been no discrimination. The challenge is to all mankind. Each nation must decide for itself how it will meet it. The choice we make for ourselves must be made with a moderation of counsel and a temperateness of judgment befitting our character and our motives as a nation. We must put excited feeling away. Our motive will not be revenge or the victorious assertion of the physical might of the nation, but only the vindication of right, of human right, of which we are only a single champion.

When I addressed the Congress on the twenty-sixth of February last I thought that it would suffice to assert our neutral rights with arms, our right to use the seas against unlawful interference, our right to keep our people safe against unlawful violence. But armed neutrality. it now appears, is impracticable. Because submarines are in effect outlaws when used as the German submarines have been used against merchant shipping, it is impossible to defend ships against their attacks as the law of nations has assumed that merchantmen would defend themselves against privateers or cruisers, visible craft giving chase upon the open It is common prudence in such circumstances, grim necessity indeed, to endeavor to destroy them before they have shown their own intention. They must be dealt with upon sight, if dealt with at all. The German Government denies the right of neutrals to use arms at all within the areas of the sea which it has proscribed, even in the defense of rights which no modern publicist has ever before questioned their right to defend. The intimation is conveyed that the armed guards which we have placed on our merchant ships will be treated as beyond the pale of law and subject to be dealt with as pirates would be. Armed neutrality is ineffectual enough at best; in such circumstances and in the face of such pretensions it is worse than ineffectual: it is likely only to produce what it was meant to prevent; it is practically certain to draw us into the war without either the rights or the effectiveness of belligerents. There is one choice we cannot make, we are incapable of making: we will not choose the path of submission and suffer the most sacred rights of our nation and our people to be ignored or violated. The wrongs against which we now array ourselves are no common wrongs; they cut to the very roots of human life.

With a profound sense of the solemn and even tragical character of the step 1 am taking and of the grave responsibilities which it involves, but in unhesitating obedience to what I deem my constitutional duty, I advise that the Congress declare the recent course of the Imperial German Government to be in fact nothing less than war against the government and people of the United States; that it formally accept the status of belligerent which has thus been thrust upon it; and that it take immediate steps not only to put the country in a more thorough state of defense but also to exert all its power and employ all its resources to bring the Government of the German Empire to terms and end the war.

What this will involve is clear. It will involve the utmost practicable cooperation in counsel and action with the governments now at war with Germany, and, as incident to that, the extension to those governments of the most liberal financial credits, in order that our resources may so far as possible be added to theirs. It will involve the organization and mobilization of all the material resources of the country to supply the

materials of war and serve the incidental needs of the nation in the most abundant and yet the most economical and efficient way possible. It will involve the immediate full equipment of the navy in all respects, but particularly in supplying it with the best means of dealing with the enemy's submarines. It will involve the immediate addition to the armed forces of the United States already provided for by law in case of war at least five hundred thousand men, who should, in my opinion, be chosen upon the principle of universal liability to service, and also the authorization of subsequent additional increments of equal force so soon as they may be needed and can be handled in training. It will involve also, of course, the granting of adequate credits to the Government, sustained, I hope, so far as they can equitably be sustained by the present generation, by well conceived taxation.

I say sustained so far as may be equitable by taxation because it seems to me that it would be most unwise to base the credits which will now be necessary entirely on money borrowed. It is our duty, I most respectfully urge, to protect our people so far as we may against the very serious hardships and evils which would be likely to arise out of the inflation which would be produced by vast loans.

In carrying out the measures by which these things are to be accomplished we should keep constantly in mind the wisdom of interfering as little as possible in our own preparation and in the equipment of our own military forces with the duty,—for it will be a very practical duty,—of supplying the nations already at war with Germany with the materials which they can obtain only from us or by our assistance. They are in the field and we should help them in every way to be effective there.

I shall take the liberty of suggesting, through the several executive departments of the Government, for the consideration of your committees, measures for the accomplishment of the several objects I have mentioned. I hope that it will be your pleasure to deal with them

as having been framed after very careful thought by the branch of the Government upon which the responsibility of conducting the war and safeguarding the nation will most directly fall.

While we do these things, these deeply momentous things, let us be very clear, and make very clear to all the world what our motives and our objects are. My own thought has not been driven from its habitual and normal course by the unhappy events of the last two months, and I do not believe that the thought of the nation has been altered or clouded by them. I have exactly the same things in mind now that I had in mind when I addressed the Senate on the twenty-second of January last; the same that I had in mind when I addressed the Congress on the third of February and on the twentysixth of February. Our object now, as then, is to vindicate the principles of peace and justice in the life of the world as against selfish and autocratic power and to set up amongst the really free and self-governed peoples of the world such a concert of purpose and of action as will henceforth ensure the observance of those principles. Neutrality is no longer feasible or desirable where the peace of the world is involved and the freedom of its peoples, and the menace to that peace and freedom lies in the existence of autocratic governments backed by organized force which is controlled wholly by their will, not by the will of their people. We have seen the last of neutrality in such circumstances. We are at the beginning of an age in which it will be insisted that the same standards of conduct and of responsibility for wrong done shall be observed among nations and their governments that are observed among the individual citizens of civilized states.

We have no quarrel with the German people. We have no feeling towards them but one of sympathy and friendship. It was not upon their impulse that their government acted in entering this war. It was not with their previous knowledge or approval. It was a war determined upon as wars used to be determined upon

in the old, unhappy days when peoples were nowhere consulted by their rulers and wars were provoked and waged in the interest of dynasties or of little groups of ambitious men who were accustomed to use their fellow men as pawns and tools. Self-governed nations do not fill their neighbor states with spies or set the course of intrigue to bring about some critical posture of affairs which will give them an opportunity to strike and make conquest. Such designs can be successfully worked out only under cover and where no one has the right to ask questions. Cunningly contrived plans of deception or aggression, carried, it may be, from generation to generation, can be worked out and kept from the light only within the privacy of courts or behind the carefully guarded confidences of a narrow and privileged class. They are happily impossible where public opinion commands and insists upon full information concerning all the nation's affairs.

A steadfast concert for peace can never be maintained except by a partnership of democratic nations. No autocratic government could be trusted to keep faith within it or observe its covenants. It must be a league of honor, a partnership of opinion. Intrigue would eat its vitals away; the plottings of inner circles who could plan what they would and render account to no one would be a corruption seated at its very heart. Only free peoples can hold their purpose and their honor steady to a common end and prefer the interests of mankind to any narrow interest of their own.

Does not every American feel that assurance has been added to our hope for the future peace of the world by the wonderful and heartening things that have been happening within the last few weeks in Russia? Russia was known by those who knew it best to have been always in fact democratic at heart, in all the vital habits of her thought, in all the intimate relationships of her people that spoke their natural instinct, their habitual attitude towards life. The autocracy that crowned the summit of her

political structure, long as it had stood and terrible as was the reality of its power, was not in fact Russian in origin, character, or purpose; and now it has been shaken off and the great, generous Russian people have been added in all their naive majesty and might to the forces that are fighting for freedom in the world, for justice, and for peace. Here is a fit partner for a League of Honor.

One of the things that has served to convince us that the Prussian autocracy was not and could never be our friend is that from the very outset of the present war it has filled our unsuspecting communities and even our offices of government with spies and set criminal intrigues everywhere afoot against our national unity of counsel, our peace within and without, our industries and our commerce. Indeed it is now evident that its spies were here even before the war began; and it is unhappily not a matter of conjecture but a fact proved in our courts of justice that the intrigues which have more than once come perilously near to disturbing the peace and dislocating the industries of the country have been carried on at the instigation, with the support, and even under the personal direction of official agents of the Imperial Government accredited to the Government of the United States. Even in checking these things and trying to extirpate them we have sought to put the most generous interpretation possible upon them because we knew that their source lay, not in any hostile feeling or purpose of the German people towards us (who were, no doubt, as ignorant of them as we ourselves were), but only in the selfish designs of a Government that did what it pleased and told its people nothing. But they have played their part in serving to convince us at last that that Government entertains no real friendship for us and means to act against our peace and security at its convenience. That it means to stir up enemies against us at our very doors the intercepted note to the German Minister at Mexico City is eloquent evidence.

We are accepting this challenge of hostile purpose because we know that in such a government, following such methods, we can never have a friend; and that in the presence of its organized power, always lying in wait to accomplish we know not what purpose, there can be no assured security for the democratic governments of the world. We are now about to accept gage of battle with this natural foe to liberty and shall, if necessary, spend the whole force of the nation to check and nullify its pretensions and its power. We are glad, now that we see the facts with no veil of false pretence about them, to fight thus for the ultimate peace of the world and for the liberation of its peoples, the German peoples included: for the rights of nations great and small and the privilege of men everywhere to choose their way of life and of obedience. The world must be made safe for democracy. Its peace must be planted upon the tested foundations of political liberty. We have no selfish ends to serve. We desire no conquest, no domin-We seek no indemnities for ourselves, no material compensation for the sacrifices we shall freely make. We are but one of the champions of the rights of mankind. We shall be satisfied when those rights have been made as secure as the faith and the freedom of nations can make them.

Just because we fight without rancor and without selfish object, seeking nothing for ourselves but what we shall wish to share with all free peoples, we shall, I feel confident, conduct our operations as belligerents without passion and ourselves observe with proud punctilio the principles of right and of fair play we profess to be fighting for.

I have said nothing of the governments allied with the Imperial Government of Germany because they have not made war upon us or challenged us to defend our right and our honor. Austro-Hungarian Government has, indeed, avowed its unqualified endorsement and acceptance of the reckless and lawless submarine warfare adopted now without disguise by the Imperial German Government, and it has therefore not been possible for this Government to receive Count Tarnowski, the Ambassador recently accredited to this Government by the Imperial and Royal Government of Austria-Hungary; but that Government has not actually engaged in warfare against citizens of the United States on the seas, and I take the liberty, for the present at least, of postponing a discussion of our relations with the authorities at Vienna. We enter this war only where we are clearly forced into it because there are no other means of defending our rights.

It will be all the easier for us to conduct ourselves as belligerents in a high spirit of right and fairness because we act without animus, not in enmity towards a people or with the desire to bring any injury or disadvantage upon them, but only in armed opposition to an irresponsible government which has thrown aside all considerations of humanity and of right and is running amuck. We are, let me say again, the sincere friends of the German people, and shall desire nothing so much as the early reestablishment of intimate relations of mutual advantage between us,-however hard it may be for them, for the time being, to believe that this is spoken from our hearts. We have borne with their present government through all these bitter months because of that friendship,—exercising a patience and forbearance which would otherwise have been impossible. We shall, happily, still have an opportunity to prove that friendship in our daily attitude and actions towards the millions of men and women of German birth and native sympathy who live amongst us and share our life, and we shall be proud to prove it towards all who are in fact loyal to their neighbors and to the Government in the hour of test. They are, most of them, as true and loyal Americans as if they had never known any other fealty or allegiance. They will be prompt to stand with us in rebuking and restraining the few who may be of a different mind and purpose. If there should be disloyalty, it will be dealt with with a firm hand of stern repression; but, if it lifts its head at all, it will lift it only here and there and without countenance except from a lawless

and malignant few.

It is a distressing and oppressive duty, Gentlemen of the Congress, which I have performed in thus addressing you. There are, it may be, many months of fiery trial and sacrifice ahead of us. It is a fearful thing to lead this great peaceful people into war, into the most terrible and disastrous of all wars, civilization itself seeming to be in the balance. But the right is more precious than peace, and we shall fight for the things which we have always

carried nearest our hearts,-for democracy, for the right of those who submit to authority to have a voice in their own governments, for the rights and liberties of small nations, for a universal dominion of right by such a concert of free peoples as shall bring peace and safety to all nations and make the world itself at last free. To such a task we can dedicate our lives and our fortunes, everything that we are and everything that we have, with the pride of those who know that the day has come when America is privileged to spend her blood and her might for the principles that gave her birth and happiness and the peace which she has treasured. God helping her, she can do no other.

H

OUR PURPOSE IN THE WAR

Extract from Address of President Wilson to a Joint Session of the Two Houses of Congress, December 4, 1917

If I have overlooked anything that ought to be done for the more effective conduct of the war, your own counsels will supply the omission. What I am perfectly clear about is that in the present session of the Congress our whole attention and energy should be concentrated on the vigorous, rapid, and successful prosecution of the great task of winning the war.

We can do this with all the greater zeal and enthusiasm because we know that for us this is a war of high principle, debased by no selfish ambition of conquest or spoliation; because we know, and all the world knows, that we have been forced into it to save the very institutions we live under from corruption and destruction. The purposes of the Central Powers strike straight at the very heart of everything we believe in; their methods of warfare outrage every principle of humanity and of knightly honor; their intrigue has corrupted the very thought and spirit of many of our people; their

sinister and secret diplomacy has sought to take our very territory away from us and disrupt the Union of the States. Our safety would be at an end, our honor forever sullied and brought into contempt were we to permit their triumph. They are striking at the very existence of democracy and liberty.

It is because it is for us a war of high, disinterested purpose, in which all the free peoples of the world are banded together for the vindication of right, a war for the preservation of our nation and of all that it has held dear of principle and of purpose, that we feel ourselves doubly constrained to propose for its outcome only that which is righteous and of irreproachable intention, for our foes as well as for our friends. The cause being just and holy, the settlement must be of like motive and quality. For this we can fight, but for nothing less noble or less worthy of our traditions. For this cause we entered the war and for this cause will we battle until the last gun is fired.

I have spoken plainly because this seems to me the time when it is most necessary to speak plainly, in order that all the world may know that even in the heat and ardor of the struggle and when our whole thought is of carrying the war through to its end we have not forgotten any ideal or principle for which the name of America has been held in honor among

the nations and for which it has been our glory to contend in the great generations that went before us. A supreme moment of history has come. The eyes of the people have been opened and they see. The hand of God is laid upon the nations. He will show them favor, I devoutly believe, only if they rise to the clear heights of His own justice and mercy.

Ш

THE PROGRAM OF THE WORLD'S PEACE

EXTRACT FROM ADDRESS OF JANUARY 8, 1918

We entered this war because violations of right had occurred which touched us to the quick and made the life of our own people impossible unless they were corrected and the world secured once for all against their recurrence. What we demand in this war, therefore, is nothing peculiar to ourselves. It is that the world be made fit and safe to live in; and particularly that it be made safe for every peace-loving nation which, like our own, wishes to live its own life, determine its own institutions, be assured of justice and fair dealing by the other peoples of the world as against force and selfish aggression. All the peoples of the world are in effect partners in this interest, and for our own part we see very clearly that unless justice be done to others it will not be done to us. The program of the world's peace, therefore, is our program; and that program, the only possible program, as we see it, is this:

I. Open covenants of peace, openly arrived at, after which there shall be no private international understandings of any kind, but diplomacy shall proceed always frankly and in the public view.

II. Absolute freedom of navigation upon the seas, outside territorial waters, alike in peace and in war, except as the seas may be closed in whole or in part by international action for the enforcement of international covenants.

III. The removal, so far as possible, of

all economic barriers and the establishment of an equality of trade conditions among all the nations consenting to the peace and associating themselves for its maintenance.

IV. Adequate guarantees given and taken that national armaments will be reduced to the lowest point consistent with domestic safety.

V. A free, open-minded, and absolutely impartial adjustment of all colonial claims, based upon a strict observance of the principle that in determining all such questions of sovereignty the interests of the populations concerned must have equal weight with the equitable claims of the government whose title is to be determined.

VI. The evacuation of all Russian territory and such a settlement of all questions affecting Russia as will secure the best and freest co-operation of the other nations of the world in obtaining for her an unhampered and unembarrassed opportunity for the independent determination of her own political development and national policy and assure her of a sincere welcoming into the society of free nations under institutions of her own choosing; and, more than a welcome, assistance also of every kind that she may need and may herself desire. The treatment accorded Russia by her sister nations in the months to come will be the acid test of their good will, of their comprehension of her needs as distinguished from their own interests, and of their intelligent and unselfish sympathy.

VII. Belgium, the whole world will agree, must be evacuated and restored, without any attempt to limit the sovereignty which she enjoys in common with all other free nations. No other single act will serve as this will serve to restore confidence among the nations in the laws which they have themselves set and determined for the government of their relations with one another. Without this healing act the whole structure and validity of international law is forever impaired.

VIII. All French territory should be freed and the invaded portions restored, and the wrong done to France by Prussia in 1871 in the matter of Alsace-Lorraine, which has unsettled the peace of the world for nearly fifty years, should be righted, in order that peace may once more be made secure in the interest of all.

IX. A readjustment of the frontiers of Italy should be effected along clearly recognizable lines of nationality.

X. The peoples of Austria-Hungary, whose place among the nations we wish to see safeguarded and assured, should be accorded the freest opportunity of autonomous development.

XI. Rumania, Serbia, and Montenegro should be evacuated; occupied territories restored; Serbia accorded free and secure access to the sea; and the relations of the several Balkan states to one another determined by friendly counsel along historically established lines of allegiance and nationality; and international guarantees of the political and economic independence and territorial integrity of the several Balkan states should be entered into.

XII. The Turkish portions of the present Ottoman Empire should be assured a secure sovereignty, but the other nationalities which are now under Turkish rule should be assured an undoubted security of life and an absolutely unmolested opportunity of autonomous development, and the Dardenelles should

be permanently opened as a free passage to the ships and commerce of all nations under international guarantees.

XIII. An independent Polish state should be erected which should include the territories inhabited by indisputably Polish populations, which should be assured a free and secure access to the sea. and whose political and economic independence and territorial integrity should be guaranteed by international covenant.

XIV. A general association of nations must be formed under specific covenants for the purpose of affording mutual guarantees of political independence and territorial integrity to great and small states alike.

In regard to these essential rectifications of wrong and assertions of right we feel ourselves to be intimate partners of all the governments and peoples associated together against the Imperialists. We cannot be separated in interest or divided in purpose. We stand together until the end.

For such arrangements and covenants we are willing to fight and to continue to fight until they are achieved; but only because we wish the right to prevail and desire a just and stable peace such as can be secured only by removing the chief provocations to war, which this program does remove. We have no jealousy of German greatness, and there is nothing in this program that impairs it. We grudge her no achievement or distinction of learning or of pacific enterprise such as have made her record very bright and very enviable. We do not wish to injure her or to block in any way her legitimate influence or power. We do not wish to fight her either with arms or with hostile arrangements of trade if she is willing to associate herself with us and the other peace-loving nations of the world in covenants of justice and law and fair dealing. We wish her only to accept a place of equality among the peoples of the world,—the new world in which we now live.—instead of a place of mastery.

Neither do we presume to suggest to

her any alteration or modification of her institutions. But it is necessary, we must frankly say, and necessary as a preliminary to any intelligent dealings with her on our part, that we should know whom her spokesmen speak for when they speak to us, whether for the Reichstag majority or for the military party and the men whose creed is imperial domination.

We have spoken now, surely, in terms too concrete to admit of any further doubt or question. An evident principle runs through the whole program I have outlined. It is the principle of justice to all peoples and nationalities, and their right

to live on equal terms of liberty and safety with one another, whether they be strong or weak. Unless this principle be made its foundation, no part of the structure of international justice can stand. The people of the United States could act upon no other principle; and to the vindication of this principle they are ready to devote their lives, their honor, and everything that they possess. The moral climax of this the culminating and final war for human liberty has come, and they are ready to put their own strength, their own highest purpose, their own integrity and devotion to the test.

IV

AFTER A YEAR OF WAR

President Wilson's Speech in Baltimore, April 6, 1918

Fellow Citizens:

This is the anniversary of our acceptance of Germany's challenge to fight for our right to live and be free, and for the sacred rights of freemen everywhere. The nation is awake. There is no need to call to it. We know what the war must cost, our utmost sacrifice, the lives of our fittest men, and, if need be, all that we possess. . . .

I call you to witness, my fellow countrymen, that at no stage of this terrible business have I judged the purposes of Germany intemperately. I should be ashamed in the presence of affairs so grave so fraught with the destinies of mankind throughout all the world, to speak with truculence, to use the weak language of hatred or vindictive purpose. We must judge as we would be judged. I have sought to learn the objects Germany has in this war from the mouths of her own spokesmen, and to deal as frankly with them as I wished them to deal with me. I have laid bare our own ideals, our own purposes, without reserve or doubtful phrase, and have asked them to say as plainly what it is that they seek.

We have ourselves proposed no injus-

tice, no aggression. We are ready, whenever the final reckoning is made, to be just to the German people, deal fairly with the German power, as with all others. There can be no difference between peoples in the final judgment, if it is indeed to be a righteous judgment. To propose anything but justice, even-handed and dispassionate justice, to Germany at any time, whatever the outcome of the war, would be to renounce and dishonor our own cause, for we ask nothing that we are not willing to accord.

It has been with this thought that I have sought to learn from those who spoke for Germany whether it was justice or dominion and the execution of their own will upon the other nations of the world that the German leaders were seeking. They have answered—answered in unmistakable terms. They have avowed that it was not justice, but dominion and the unhindered execution of their own will. The avowal has not come from Germany's statesmen. It has come from her military leaders, who are her real rulers.

Their purpose is, undoubtedly, to make all the Slavic peoples, all the free and ambitious nations of the Baltic Peninsula, all the lands that Turkey has dominated and misruled, subject to their will and ambition, and build upon that dominion an empire of force upon which they fancy that they can then erect an empire of gain and commercial supremacy—an empire as hostile to the Americas as to the Europe which it will overawe—an empire which will ultimately master Persia, India, and the peoples of the Far East.

In such a program our ideals, the ideals of justice and humanity and liberty, the principle of the free self-determination of nations, upon which all the modern world insists, can play no part. They are rejected for the ideals of power, for the principle that the strong must rule the weak, that trade must follow the flag, whether those to whom it is taken welcome it or not, that the peoples of the world are to be made subject to the patronage and overlordship of those who have the power to enforce it.

That program once carried out, America and all who care or dare to stand with her must arm and prepare themselves to contest the mastery of the world—a mastery in which the rights of common men, the rights of women and of all who are weak, must for the time being be trodden underfoot and disregarded and the old, age-long struggle for freedom and right begin again at its beginning. Every thing that America has lived for and loved and grown great to vindicate and bring to a glorious realization will have fallen in utter ruin and the gates of mercy will have once more pitilessly shut upon mankind!

The thing is preposterous and impossible; and yet is not that what the whole course and action of the German armies has meant wherever they have moved? I do not wish, even in this moment of

utter disillusionment, to judge harshly or unrighteously. I judge only what the German arms have accomplished with unpitying thoroughness throughout every fair region they have touched.

What, then, are we to do? For myself, I am ready, ready still, ready even now, to discuss a fair and just and honest peace at any time that it is sincerely purposed—a peace in which the strong and the weak shall fare alike. But the answer, when I proposed such a peace, came from the German commanders in Russia and I cannot mistake the meaning of the answer.

I accept the challenge. I know that you accept it. All the world will know that you accept it. It will appear in the utter sacrifice and self-forgetfulness with which we shall give all that we love and all that we have to redeem the world and make it fit for freemen like ourselves to live in. This now is the meaning of all that we do. Let everything that we say, my fellow-countrymen, everything that we henceforth plan and accomplish, ring true to this response till the majesty and might of our concerted power shall fill the thought and utterly defeat the force of those who flout and misprize what we honor and hold dear.

Germany has once more said that force, and force alone, shall decide whether justice and peace shall reign in the affairs of men, whether right as America conceives it or dominion as she conceives it shall determine the destinies of mankind. There is, therefore, but one response possible from us: Force, force to the utmost, force without stint or limit, the righteous and triumphant force which shall make right the law of the world and cast every selfish dominion down in the dust.

V

THE PRESIDENT'S SPEECH AT MOUNT VERNON, JULY 4, 1918

Gentlemen of the Diplomatic Corps and My Fellow-Citizens:

I am happy to draw apart with you to this quiet place of old counsel in order to speak a little of the meaning of this day of our nation's independence. The place seems very still and remote. It is as serene and untouched by the hurry of the world as it was in those great days long ago when General Washington was here and held leisurely conference with the men who were to be associated with him in the creation of a nation. From these gentle slopes they looked out upon the world and saw it whole, saw it with the light of the future upon it, saw it with modern eyes that turned away from a past which men of liberated spirits could no longer endure. It is for that reason that we cannot feel, even here, in the immediate presence of this sacred tomb, that this is a place of death. It was a place of achievement. A great promise that was meant for all mankind was here given plan and reality. The associations by which we are here surrounded are the inspiriting associations of that noble death which is only a glorious consummation. From this green hillside we also ought to be able to see with comprehending eyes the world that lies about us and should conceive anew the purpose that must set men free.

It is significant—significant of their own character and purpose and of the influences they were setting afoot-that Washington and his associates, like the Barons at Runnymede, spoke and acted, not for a class, but for a people. It has been left for us to see to it that it shall be understood that they spoke and acted, not for a single people only, but for all mankind. They were thinking not of themselves and of the material interests which centered in the little groups of landholders and merchants and men of affairs with whom they were accustomed to act, in Virginia and the colonies to the north and south of her, but of a people which wished

to be done with classes and special interest and the authority of men whom they had not themselves chosen to rule over them. They entertained no private purpose, desired no peculiar privilege. They were consciously planning that men of every class should be free and America a place to which men out of every nation might resort who wished to share with them the rights and privileges of free men. And we take our cue from them-do we not? We intend what they intended. We here in America believe our participation in this present war to be only the fruitage of what they planted. Our case differs from theirs only in this, that it is our inestimable privilege to concert with men out of every nation who shall make not only the liberties of America secure but the liberties of every other people as well. We are happy in the thought that we are permitted to do what they would have done had they been in our place. There must now be settled, once for all, what was settled for America in the great age upon whose inspiration we draw today. This is surely a fitting place from which calmly to look out upon our task, that we may fortify our spirits for its accomplishment. And this is the appropriate place from which to avow, alike to the friends who look on and to the friends with whom we have the happiness to be associated in action, the faith and purpose with which we act.

This, then, is our conception of the great struggle in which we are engaged. The plot is written plain upon every scene and every act of the supreme tragedy. On the one hand stand the peoples of the world—not only the peoples actually engaged, but many others, also, who suffer under mastery but cannot act; peoples of many races and in every part of the world—the people of stricken Russia still, among the rest, though they are for the moment unorganized and helpless. Opposed to them, masters of many

armies, stand an isolated, friendless group of Governments, who speak no common purpose, but only selfish ambitions of their own, by which none can profit but themselves, and whose peoples are fuel in their hands; Governments which fear their people, and yet are for the time their sovereign lords, making every choice for them and disposing of their lives and fortunes as they will, as well as of the lives and fortunes of every people who fall under their power-Governments clothed with the strange trappings and the primitive authority of an age that is altogether alien and hostile to our own. The Past and the Present are in deadly grapple, and the peoples of the world are being done to death between them.

There can be but one issue. The settlement must be final. There can be no compromise. No halfway decision would be tolerable. No halfway decision is conceivable. These are the ends for which the associated peoples of the world are fighting and which must be conceded them before there can be peace:

I.—The destruction of every arbitrary power anywhere that can separately, secretly, and of its single choice disturb the peace of the world; or, if it cannot be presently destroyed, at the least its re-

duction to virtual impotence.

II.—The settlement of every question, whether of territory, of sovereignty, of economic arrangement, or of political relationship, upon the basis of the free acceptance of that settlement by the people immediately concerned, and not upon the basis of the material interest or advantage of any other nation or people which may desire a different settlement for the sake of its own exterior influence or mastery.

III.—The consent of all nations to be governed in their conduct toward each other by the same principles of honor and of respect for the common law of civilized society that govern the individual citizens of all modern States in their relations with one another; to the end that all

promises and covenants may be sacredly observed, no private plots or conspiracies hatched, no selfish injuries wrought with impunity, and a mutual trust established upon the handsome foundation of a mutual respect for right.

IV.—The establishment of an organization of peace which shall make it certain that the combined power of free nations will check every invasion of right and serve to make peace and justice the more secure by affording a definite tribunal of opinion to which all must submit and by which every international readjustment that cannot be amicably agreed upon by the peoples directly concerned shall be sanctioned.

These great objects can be put into a single sentence. What we seek is the reign of law, based upon the consent of the governed and sustained by the or-

ganized opinion of mankind.

These great ends cannot be achieved by debating and seeking to reconcile and accommodate what statesmen may wish with their projects for balances of power and of national opportunity. They can be realized only by the determination of what the thinking peoples of the world desire, with their longing hope for justice and for social freedom and opportunity.

I can fancy that the air of this place carries the accents of such principles with a peculiar kindness. Here were started forces which the great nation against which they were primarily directed at first regarded as a revolt against its rightful authority, but which it has long since seen to have been a step in the liberation of its own people as well as of the people of the United States; and 1 stand here now to speak—speak proudly and with confident hope—of the spread of this revolt, this liberation, to the great stage of the world itself! The blinded rulers of Prussia have roused forces they knew little offorces which, once roused, can never be crushed to earth again; for they have at their heart an inspiration and a purpose which are deathless and of the very stuff of triumph!

OWEN WISTER

From "The Pentecost of Calamity"*

And what of ourselves in this well-nigh world-wide cloudburst?

Every man has walked at night through gloom where objects were dim and hard to see, when suddenly a flash of lightning has struck the landscape livid. Trees close by, fences far off, houses, fields, animals and the faces of people-all things stand transfixed by a piercing distinctness. So now, in this thunderstorm of war, each nation and every man and woman is searchingly revealed by the perpetual lightnings. Whatever this American nation is, whatever aspect, noble or ignoble, our Democracy shows in the glare of this cataclysm, is even already engraved on the page of History, will be the portrait of the United States.

We have yet to find our greater selves. We have also yet to realize that Europe, since the Spanish War, has counted us in the concert of great nations far more than we have counted ourselves. . . .

To speak of the Old World and the New World is to speak in a dead language. The world is one. All humanity is in the same boat. The passengers multiply, but the boat remains the same size. And people who rock the boat must be stopped by force. America can no more separate itself from the destiny of Europe than it can escape the natural laws of the universe.

Because we declared political independence, does any one still harbor the delusion that we are independent of the acts and fortunes of monarchs? let him consider only these four events: In 1492 a Spanish Queen financed a sailor named Columbus—and Europe reached out and laid a hand on this hemisphere. In 1685 a French King revoked an edict and thousands of Huguenots enriched our stock. In 1803 a French consul, to spite Britain, sold us some land—it was pretty much everything west of the Mississippi. One might well have supposed we were independent of the heir of Austria. In 1914 they killed him, and Europe fell to pieces—and that fall is shaking our ship of state from stem to stern. There may be some citizens down in the hold who do not know it—among a hundred million people you cannot expect to have no imbeciles.

Thus, from Palos, in 1492, to Sarajevo, in 1914, the hand of Europe has drawn us ever and ever closer.

Yes, indeed; we are all in the same boat. Europe has never forgotten some words spoken here once: "That government of the people, by the people, for the people, shall not perish from the earth." She waited to hear us repeat that in some form when The Hague conventions we signed were torn to scraps of paper. Perhaps nothing save calamity will teach us what Europe is thankful to have learned again—that some things are worse than war, and that you can pay too high a price for peace; but that you cannot pay too high a price for the finding and keeping of your own soul.

^{*}This volume has been published in English, Russian, German, Dutch, French and Italian.

GEORGE EDWARD WOODBERRY

EDITH CAVELL

The world hath its own dead; great motions start In human breasts, and make for them a place In that hushed sanctuary of the race Where every day men come, kneel and depart. Of them, O English nurse, henceforth thou art, A name to pray on, and to all a face Of household consecration: such His grace Whose universal dwelling is the heart!

Oh, gentle hands that soothed the soldier's brow And knew no service save of Christ, the Lord! Thy country now is all humanity! How like a flower thy womanhood doth show In the harsh scything of the German sword, And beautifies the world that saw it die!

Scribner's Magazine, 1916.

A SONG OF SUNRISE

On the morning of the Russian Revolution

To those who drink the golden mist Whereon the world's horizons rest, Who teach the peoples to resist The terrors of the human breast!— By burning stake and prison-camp They lead the march of man divine, Above whose head the sacred lamp Of liberty doth blaze and shine: O'er blood and tears and nameless woe They hail far off the dawning light; Through faith in them the nations go, Smit by the sun in deepest night:— Honor to them from East to West Be on the shouting earth today! Holy their memory! Sweet their rest! Who fill the skies with freedom's day.

N. Y. Tribune, March 20, 1917.

ON THE ITALIAN FRONT

"I will die cheering, if I needs must die;
So shall my last breath write upon my lips
Viva Italia! when my spirit slips
Down the great darkness from the mountain sky;
And those who shall behold me where I lie
Shall murmur, 'Look you! how his spirit dips
From glory into glory! the eclipse
Of death is vanquished! Lo, his victor-cry!'

"Live, thou, upon my lips, Italia mine,—
The sacred death-cry of my frozen clay!
Let thy dear light from my dead body shine
And to the passer-by thy message say:
'Ecco! though Heaven has made my skies divine,
Thy sons' love sanctifies my soil for aye!'"

Boston Herald, March 25, 1917.

Note.—The editors of this collection are proud to include in it the two poems which follow, written during the Civil War by members of the Academy. Mr. Hay's touching lyric and Mrs. Howe's immortal hymn were constant and profound sources of patriotic inspiration to soldiers and civilians in the recent struggle.

JOHN HAY*

WHEN THE BOYS COME HOME

There's a happy time coming when the boys come home;
There's a glorious day coming when the boys come home;
We will end the dreadful story
Of the battle dark and gory
In a sunburst of glory,
When the boys come home.

The day will seem brighter when the boys come home,
And our hearts will be lighter when the boys come home;
Wives and sweethearts will press them
In their arms and caress them,
And pray God to bless them,
When the boys come home.

The thin ranks will be proudest when the boys come home,
And our cheer will ring the loudest when the boys come home;
The full ranks will be shattered,
And the bright arms will be battered,
And the battle-standards tattered,
When the boys come home.

Their bayonets may be rusty when the boys come home, And their uniforms be dusty when the boys come home; But all shall see the traces
Of the battle's royal graces
In the brown and bearded faces,
When the boys come home.

Our love shall go to meet them when the boys come home,
To bless them and to greet them when the boys come home;
And the fame of their endeavor
Time and change shall not dissever
From the nation's heart for ever,
When the boys come home.

*Mr. Hay died July 1, 1905.

JULIA WARD HOWE*

BATTLE HYMN OF THE REPUBLIC

Mine eyes have seen the glory of the coming of the Lord; He is trampling out the vintage where the grapes of wrath are stored; He hath loosed the fateful lightning of His terrible swift sword; His truth is marching on.

I have seen Him in the watch-fires of a hundred circling camps; They have builded Him an altar in the evening dews and damps; I can see His righteous sentence by the dim and flaring lamps: His day is marching on.

I have read a fiery gospel, writ in burnished rows of steel:
"As ye deal with My contemners, so with you My grace shall deal;
Let the Hero, born of woman, crush the serpent with His heel,
Since God is marching on."

He hath sounded forth the trumpet that shall never call retreat; He is sifting out the hearts of men before His judgment-seat; Oh, be swift, my soul, to answer Him! be jubilant, my feet!

Our God is marching on.

In the beauty of the lilies Christ was born across the sea, With a glory in His bosom that transfigures you and me; As He died to make men holy, let us die to make men free, While God is marching on.

* Mrs. Howe, a member of the Academy, died October 17, 1910.









